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Investor relations

Our aim is to communicate with the financial community on a regular
and ongoing basis to support our stakeholders in their investment
decision process. While the Investor Relations programme is driven
by statutory reporting requirements, it also contains a strong
element of additional communication in the form of meetings
and presentations.

Key activities
In addition to standard regulatory reporting, a key theme in our
communications with the financial market in 2006 was the review of
our business. We announced the beginning of the review process in
August and in December we came back to the market with news on
the outcome. We also announced the disposal of two businesses
over the year: the Magazines and Exhibitions division and the hotgroup
traditional recruitment consultancy.

In 2006, the Company made the following announcements:

14 Dec Pre-Close Trading Update and Outcome of the Business
Review

11 Aug Sale of hotgroup recruitment consultancy division
3 Aug Interim Results
1 Aug Appointment of Laura Wade-Gery as non-executive

director
14 Jul Agreement over sale of Magazines and Exhibitions division
29 Jun Pre-Close Trading Update
4 May AGM Statement
28 Apr Appointment of Sir Ian Gibson as Chairman
2 Mar 2005 Preliminary Results
23 Jan Sir Victor Blank retires as Chairman.

In 2006 the focus of our Investor Relations efforts continued to be on
institutional investors and analysts. This year we maintained a
proactive targeting programme, reaching out to new investors in the
UK, Continental Europe and the US. In addition to these marketing
efforts, we continued to respond to ad hoc queries and meeting
requests from analysts and investors.

We held meetings with just over 100 institutional investors during
the year, nearly half of whom where non-holders. The largest
concentration of meetings was among UK investors, followed by the
US and Continental Europe.

Management continued to maintain regular dialogue with the ten
largest shareholders through meetings at least twice a year.

Key dates in 2007
1 Mar 2006 Preliminary Results
2 May Ex-dividend date
4 May Record date
10 May AGM
8 Jun Payment of Final Dividend
28 Jun Pre-Close Trading Update
2 Aug Interim Results
3 Oct Ex-dividend date
5 Oct Record date
30 Oct Payment of Interim Dividend
13 Dec Pre-Close Trading Update.

Dividend policy
Our dividend policy is to increase dividend progressively while
maintaining a dividend cover (underlying earnings per share/dividend
per share) of at least 2x if earnings are increasing.

Online share dealing
Trinity Mirror provides an internet-based service called Shareview
through Lloyds TSB Registrars. The service allows current shareholders
to sign up for e-communication and receive shareholder mailings
electronically, buy and sell shares online using Shareview Dealing and
send their voting instruction electronically if they have already registered
for Shareview or have received a voting form with an electronic reference.

For more information on the service, please see
www.trinitymirror.com/ir/services/dealing/

Key contacts
Sly Bailey, Chief Executive
Vijay Vaghela, Group Finance Director
Paul Vickers, Secretary and Group Legal Director
Nick Fullagar, Director of Corporate Communications
Alexandra Sufit, Investor Relations Manager
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Corporate responsibility

Business review

Corporate governance

Accounts and notes

Chairman and Chief Executive
Our strategy is to build a multi-platform
media business

Corporate responsibility
We continue to improve health and
safety, energy efficiency and have
launched a staff volunteering programme

Business review
We are rationalising our portfolio, while
streamlining and modernising the Group
to take full advantage of opportunities

Corporate governance
We are committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance,
with embedded internal control and
risk-management



2

Growth opportunity

Our goal is to build a growing multi-platform media business,
by developing and sustaining strong positions across print
and digital, with products and services which meet the needs
of our customers, both readers and advertisers.
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We will achieve this via launch and acquisition, and by
layering and segmenting our portfolio both geographically
and by advertiser or content segment, thereby deepening
our penetration and reach across our markets.

322 websites
13.6%(1) of the UK adult
population use a Trinity Mirror
website

324 newspapers and
supplements
40%(2) of the UK adult population
read a Trinity Mirror newspaper

Regional readership profile (%)(3)

National readership profile (%)(4)

Overall readership profile (%)(5)

A,B,C
C2
DE

54
20
26

A,B,C
C2
DE

40
28
32

15-24
25-34
35-44
45-54
55-64
65+

14.8
15.6
18.8
16.1
14.6
20.1

(1)Comscore, January 2007 (2)(5)Jicreg/UFO/Telmar, January 2007 (3)Jicreg/Telmar, January 2007 (4)NRS October 2005-September 2006



4

Chairman and Chief Executive statement / Business review / Corporate responsibility / Board of Directors and
Executive Committee / Corporate governance / Remuneration report / Directors’ report / Group independent auditors’
report / Accounts and notes / Unaudited other information / Holding company accounts and notes / Investor relations

Chairman and Chief Executive statement

Within the following Chairman and Chief Executive Statement,
all figures are presented on an adjusted basis (excluding disposed
businesses (Magazines and Exhibitions division and traditional
recruitment consultancy business), non-recurring items (including
a £250 million impairment of Regional newspaper titles), reduction
in the charge for share-based payments relating to 2004 and 2005,
the amortisation of intangible assets and the impact
of IAS 39) unless otherwise stated. A reconciliation between the
adjusted and the statutory numbers is provided in note (i) on page
86.

Overview
Throughout 2006 Trinity Mirror faced a difficult advertising
marketplace due to the volatile retail sales environment, the effect of
rising unemployment and the impact of rising interest rates on
consumer confidence. However, the end of the fourth quarter
showed some encouraging improvement in the advertising markets,
although it is still too early to call the turn in the cycle.

In the face of these conditions our performance was creditable.
Whilst Group revenues fell by £51.5 million to £1,032.1 million, the
impact on profit was partially mitigated through tight cost
management which contributed to operating profits falling by only
£37.4 million to £207.0 million. The benefit of a £9.9 million
IAS 19 finance credit limited the fall in profit before tax which fell
by £29.7 million to £185.4 million.

We exceeded our target of £15 million net cost savings announced
in December 2005 and delivered £20 million. As a result operating
costs, excluding acquisitions, fell by £23.3 million in the year despite
significant inflationary pressures.

Our strategy, to build a multi-platform media business, remained
on course throughout 2006. We continued to further segment
and layer our portfolio by geography and target segments, across
both print and online, deepening our penetration in our core markets.
This activity saw us launch both companion websites to many of our
print titles, micro-sites serving local communities and sites serving
key advertising markets in recruitment, property and motors. In
addition we launched six new newspapers and continued to acquire
digital assets.

We publish 324 newspapers
and supplements, as well
as 322 websites
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We continued to generate strong cash flows with net debt falling during the year from £492.5
million to £440.9 million. This figure takes into account the payment of £63.7 million for
dividends and £72.8 million net capital expenditure which has been partially offset by the
proceeds from the disposal of the Magazines and Exhibitions division and the traditional
recruitment consultancy business acquired with the hotgroup plc.

The Board remains confident in the strong cash flow and the long-term growth potential of
our business and therefore proposes to maintain the final dividend at 15.5 pence per share
even though earnings have fallen during the year.

Throughout 2006, our staff, across all areas of our business, have demonstrated their talent,
tenacity and enthusiasm in rising to the challenges we have faced. On behalf of the Board,
we would like to thank them for their commitment and hard work over the course of the year.

We also undertook a thorough review of our businesses and concluded that to take the
Group forward we should rationalise our portfolio and concentrate on those assets in Wales,
the North East, the North West, Scotland and our national newspaper titles. At the same
time we will streamline and modernise the Group through the implementation of a new
technology-led operating model which will further drive efficiencies and performance. These
changes are expected to deliver revenue benefits and we have already identified a further £20
million of annualised cost savings by 2008. Our approach is one of continuous improvement
to ensure we are best positioned to take advantage of all changes in market conditions.

Our Regional businesses in the Midlands and London and the South East do not offer the
same opportunities for the Group and are likely to be more attractive to other owners. The
Board, therefore, concluded that it should seek to dispose of these businesses. In addition
it concluded that the Racing Post, which operates as a standalone business within the
Group, should also be divested. The disposals do not affect any part of the Group’s
manufacturing network.

The disposals will focus the Group on a streamlined portfolio of high-quality media assets,
offering growth in revenues, margins and earnings. Strong cash flow generation will support
this growth through continued investment and selected acquisitions and will provide
continuing rewards to shareholders.

We intend to optimise our capital structure following the disposals and we are intending
to return the cash proceeds, net of related taxes and payments into the pension funds,
to shareholders.

Looking further ahead we are confident that the reorganisation we have started following the
business review, the strength of our portfolio and our growing success at building and
acquiring digital assets will all contribute to growth once the current cyclical advertising
downturn comes to an end.
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Publishing activities
Our portfolio of businesses delivered a creditable performance in a
depressed advertising market through our continued focus on
improving revenues and driving efficiencies to partially mitigate the
impact on profits.

Our Regionals division, in line with our strategy, continued to drive
forward with launching new titles and websites and in doing so
deepening our penetration of core markets. Coupled with this we
have been maximising revenues through the rejuvenation of our
brands and through optimising our pricing and packaging of
advertising across our portfolio of products and platforms. These
activities have partially offset the impact of the advertising market. In
addition, our ‘little and often’ cover pricing policy has enabled us to
continue to increase circulation revenues despite volume declines.

Our National titles achieved a strong profit performance despite a
difficult advertising market and an extremely competitive circulation
environment characterised by substantial increases in promotional
activity and price-cutting by all our competitor daily newspapers.
While circulation volumes remain under pressure as a result of this
activity, management continues to believe that excessive marketing
expenditure does not drive longer-term value and its focus is to
ensure sustainable returns on all investment in our titles.

We appointed a new Managing Director for the UK Nationals at the
beginning of 2006 and further strengthened the team with the
appointment of a new Advertising Director.

In Scotland the marketplace saw heavy cover price-cutting activity
by all national tabloids and in particular the Sun newspaper which
cut its price to 10 pence. In order to preserve the Daily Record’s
market leadership, we promoted and rewarded reader loyalty
through the use of discount vouchers for a limited period. Whilst this
activity has impacted profits it has provided a firmer platform for the
business with which to grow future profitability. In August we
launched Record PM, in Glasgow and Edinburgh, as a paid-for
evening edition of the Daily Record, to increase reach and response
for our advertisers. To optimise our market penetration we moved the
title to a free distribution model and extended its distribution to
Aberdeen and Dundee in January 2007.

The Sports division delivered a robust performance in 2006 despite
the impact of a new nationally distributed daily betting title
(The Sportsman) which launched in March 2006. The division rose
to the competitive challenge by introducing further improvements
to both the editorial content of the Racing Post and the availability
of the paper within the news trade. These enhancements were
supported by a strong marketing campaign. Just six months after
launch The Sportsman ceased publication.

New initiatives
We continue to focus on driving growth from new initiatives,
deepening our presence in our core markets and geographies, both
in print and online. During the year we have launched 245 websites,
six new newspaper titles – including Metros in Cardiff and Liverpool
– and six BuySell editions covering the North West and North Wales.
2007 will see the Group continue this launch pipeline.

To strengthen our online presence in property we acquired
Email4Property in May 2006. This business is now fully integrated
within the operations of Smartnewhomes and achieved revenues
of £0.7 million in the period since acquisition.

The development of our digital assets continues with significant
momentum. Whilst the hotgroup’s development was temporarily
slowed by management changes made during the first half,
the remainder of our acquired digital businesses are exceeding
expectations. We have appointed a senior manager with
responsibility for seeking out new opportunities and accelerating
the development of our acquired online recruitment businesses.
Our aim is to substantially increase digital revenues as a proportion
of total revenues.

We are progressing with the implementation of our new technology-
led operating model thereby modernising and streamlining
our processes.

This programme will enable us to drive revenues by better serving
our advertisers and readers through:

• Online booking of adverts across print and digital platforms
• Advert creation functionality that will enable customers to create
their own adverts online

• Consolidation of call centres to drive ‘best in class’ customer service
• A new multi-platform editorial system
• Transformation of our newspaper sales operations for both paid-
for and free titles.

In addition to transforming the way we do business the new
operating model is expected to drive significant efficiencies, further
cost savings, and incremental revenues.
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Disposals
During June and July 2006 we disposed of our non-core Magazines and Exhibitions division
through a number of transactions generating gross disposal proceeds of £42.6 million.
In August 2006 we also disposed of our traditional recruitment consultancy business
which was acquired as part of the hotgroup plc in 2005, for a consideration of £11.2 million.

We have commenced the disposal of our Regional businesses in the Midlands and London
and the South East, and the Sports division. We have strong interest from both trade buyers
and private equity and expect to complete these transactions during the second and third
quarters of 2007.

Capital expenditure
Our programme of investment in colour presses is progressing to plan with the Nationals
Oldham site repressing programme completed on schedule in July 2006. The repressing
of our other Nationals print sites in Scotland and Watford is scheduled to complete in early
2007 and 2008 respectively.

2006 also saw the completion of a complex network upgrade and rationalisation project
which moved all our operations onto a single integrated group network operating on new
technology. The business will benefit significantly through the enablement of new initiatives
dependent on the provision of world-class, resilient, networking technology.

Board changes
On 4 May 2006, at the Group’s Annual General Meeting, Sir Victor Blank retired from the
Board. On the same date, Sir Ian Gibson was appointed as Chairman to the Board. Sir Victor
made a significant contribution over a number of years during which he oversaw the creation
of the UK’s largest newspaper group when Mirror Group merged with Trinity in 1999. The
Board would like to thank him for his enthusiasm and dedication and for the support he gave
the management team to help develop our business.

Laura Wade-Gery joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 4 August 2006.

Outlook
We witnessed an encouraging finish to 2006. Although the current environment remains
challenging and volatile we continue to expect advertising market conditions to stabilise
during the year with the rate of decline slowing. The combination of this stabilisation
and continued focus on cost reduction underpins the Board’s confidence in the future, with
2007 performance in line with expectations.

Sir Ian Gibson, CBE, Chairman

Sly Bailey, Chief Executive

In 2006
we launched:
245 websites
6 newspaper titles
6 new BuySell
editions
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Financial highlights

Within the following Business Review, all figures are presented on an adjusted basis
(excluding disposed businesses (Magazines and Exhibitions division and traditional
recruitment consultancy business), non-recurring items (including a £250 million
impairment of Regional newspaper titles), reduction in the charge for share-based
payments relating to 2004 and 2005, the amortisation of intangible assets and the
impact of IAS 39) unless otherwise stated. A reconciliation between the adjusted and
the statutory numbers is provided in note (i) on page 86.

Adjusted results Statutory results

2006 2005
52 weeks 52 weeks

2006 2005 £m £m
52 weeks 52 weeks % Continuing Continuing %

£m £m Change operations operations Change

Revenue 1,032.1 1,083.6 (4.8)% 1,053.0 1,089.3 (3.3)%

Operating profit/(loss) 207.0 244.4 (15.3)% (46.6) 238.3 (119.6)%

Profit/(loss) before tax 185.4 215.1 (13.8)% (73.1) 202.4 (136.1)%

Earnings/(loss) per share 43.6p 51.3p (15.0)% (18.3)p 48.7p (137.6)%

Dividend per share 21.9p 21.9p
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Business overview

Trinity Mirror publishes more than 200 Regional newspapers, five
National titles and four Sports newspapers and operates more than
300 online brands. The Group is organised into three divisions:
Regionals, Nationals and Sports. Full details of the businesses and
operations of each division are included in the respective sections
of the Business Review.

Strategy
Our strategy is to build a growing multimedia platform business, by
developing and sustaining strong positions across print and digital,
with products and services which meet the needs of our customers,
both readers and advertisers.

We will achieve this via launch and acquisition, and by layering and
segmenting our portfolio both geographically and by advertiser or
content segment, thereby deepening our penetration and reach
across our markets.

During the course of 2006 we continued to develop our businesses
through the launch of 245 new websites, six newspaper titles and six
free classified advertising editions of BuySell.

In May we acquired Email4Property for £4.5 million which further
strengthened our online property portfolio.

We also continued to rationalise our portfolio of businesses.
Our Magazines and Exhibitions division was designated non-core
due to its differing products and marketplace relative to our core
portfolio of newspaper and online assets. Having improved the
performance of the division over the past few years it was
appropriate to realise value at this stage. During June and July we
disposed of the division through a number of transactions generating
disposal proceeds of £42.6 million.

In August we also disposed of the traditional recruitment consultancy
business of the hotgroup plc for a consideration of £11.2 million. This
business was acquired as part of the acquisition of the hotgroup plc
in 2005 and was viewed as non-core as the hotgroup plc was
acquired for its national recruitment websites.

During the course of the year we also undertook a review of our
businesses, operating models and structure. The objectives were
firstly to determine the best way of maximising value from the Group’s
existing asset base and secondly to ensure the Group was properly
positioned to capture the opportunities available to it in a rapidly
changing media environment. The conclusions of our Review,
announced on 14 December 2006, were as follows:

• To focus on National newspaper titles and key Regional titles
in Scotland, the North of England and Wales and UK digital assets

• Sports division, including the Racing Post, and regional titles in the
Midlands, London and the South East to be disposed of

• Adoption of new technology-led operating model across the
Group to accelerate growth and reduce costs

• Changes will deliver additional annualised cost savings of £20 million
by 2008

• The Board intends to at least maintain the current level of annual
dividend per share

• The Board intends to return to shareholders surplus capital arising
from the disposals, net of related tax charges and such pension
payments as are necessary.

Marketplace
Throughout 2006, the Group experienced a continuation of the
downturn in advertising revenues which took hold at the beginning of
2005, impacting all our businesses. The advertising markets have
remained difficult in 2006 due to a lack of consumer confidence,
driven by rising interest rates and increasing unemployment. Coupled
with this, the lack of any material growth in corporate profitability
continues to place downward pressure on marketing budgets.

Whilst we continued to experience declines in advertising revenues
throughout the year, the rate of decline saw a marginal improvement
in the second half of the year.

Circulation volumes across national and regional newspapers remain
challenging and reflect the fragmentation of media markets and
changing consumer habits. Against that background, the mass
circulation and readership of our titles continue to generate significant
circulation revenues and provide a targeted and appealing audience
for advertisers. We have minimised the impact of circulation volume
declines through our policy of ‘little and often’ cover price increases.

The national newspaper market is characterised by significant
marketing activity, including cover price discounting. Whilst we
remain convinced that these levels of marketing expenditure do not
create long-term value nor any returns on investment, it does,
in the short term, distort the underlying circulation volume
performance of a number of national newspapers.

The digital advertising market saw growth in excess of 20% year on
year. The Group’s strong brands developed both through launch and
acquisition are well positioned to take advantage of the growth
opportunities this market presents.

Review of operations
Advertising market conditions did not prevent management from
optimising performance through the embedded culture of continuous
improvement. The commitment of our management and staff has
enabled the outcome for 2006 to exceed expectations.

Group revenues fell by £51.5 million (4.8%) from £1,083.6 million to
£1,032.1 million and excluding acquisitions fell by £63.4 million
(5.9%) from £1,080.1 million to £1,016.7 million. On a statutory basis,
Group revenues fell by £36.3 million (3.3%) from £1,089.3 million to
£1,053.0 million.
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Revenue by type

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted operations operations

£m £m £m £m

Advertising 555.5 597.7 555.5 597.7

Circulation 390.4 392.0 390.4 392.0

Other 86.2 93.9 107.1 99.6

Total 1,032.1 1,083.6 1,053.0 1,089.3

Revenue by division

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted operations operations

£m £m £m £m

Regionals 510.2 533.9 531.1 539.6

Nationals 472.4 499.1 472.4 499.1

Sports 49.5 50.6 49.5 50.6

Total 1,032.1 1,083.6 1,053.0 1,089.3

Group operating profit fell by £37.4 million (15.3%) from £244.4 million
to £207.0 million and excluding acquisitions fell by £40.1 million
(16.5%) from £243.3 million to £203.2 million. On a statutory basis
Group operating profit fell by £284.9 million (119.6%) from £238.3
million to a loss of £46.6 million. The statutory operating loss reflects
the non-cash charges of £250.0 million for the impairment of the
carrying value of intangibles and £10.6 million amortisation offset by
£2.0 million of other non-recurring items.

Operating profit by division

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted operations operations

£m £m £m £m

Regionals 126.4 150.9 128.7 150.7

Nationals 80.2 91.2 80.9 91.2

Sports 15.2 17.4 15.8 17.4

Central costs (16.1) (15.9) (14.7) (15.9)

Associates 1.3 0.8 1.3 0.8

Subtotal pre
non-recurring
and amortisation 207.0 244.4 212.0 244.2

Impairment (250.0) –
Other non-recurring 2.0 (2.6)
Amortisation (10.6) (3.3)
Operating (loss)/profit (46.6) 238.3

Total operating costs, excluding acquisitions, have fallen by £23.3
million (2.8%) from £836.8 million to £813.5 million, after absorbing a
7% increase in the price of newsprint and inflationary increases in
labour and other costs. As the results demonstrate, we exceeded
our target of cost savings of £15 million, announced in December
2005, by £5 million, delivering net cost savings of £20 million.
In addition, we have managed our costs very tightly and have
therefore achieved further incremental cost savings to mitigate the
challenging revenue environment.

Significant progress has been made during the year in delivering a
creditable performance, whilst conducting a thorough review of the
business to ensure that we have a firm platform from which to take
advantage of all growth opportunities available in the future. Key
areas of progress, which are further explained below, are as follows:

• On schedule and on budget with the Nationals repressing
programme. The Nationals Oldham site repressing was completed
on schedule in July 2006 and the repressing of our other Nationals
print sites in Scotland and Watford is scheduled to complete in
early 2007 and 2008 respectively

• Delivery of net cost savings of £20 million
• Driving performance of both organic and acquired digital
businesses

• Continued investment in systems and infrastructure to establish a
strong foundation for driving performance through innovation and
further efficiencies. 2006 also saw the completion of a complex
IT network upgrade and rationalisation project which moved all our
network sites onto a single integrated group network operating on
new technology. The business will benefit significantly through the
enablement of new initiatives developed on an infrastructure of
world-class, resilient, networking technology

• Whilst improving the performance of the core businesses through
investment and increased efficiencies, we continue to drive
growth through the launch of new products and services
and through acquisition. The majority of our launch activity
is being funded through cost savings, ensuring minimal impact
on underlying performance

• We launched 245 new websites in 2006 and six new newspaper
titles.
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Regionals division

Our Regionals division comprises a mix of print and online assets
covering a wide geographic area across the UK.

The division publishes over 200 local and regional newspaper titles,
including 13 daily and 201 weekly paid-for titles, which are
complemented by a range of free newspapers, supplements and
magazines across Scotland, the North East and North West, Wales,
Midlands and London and the South East. Our market-leading
regional titles are supplemented in their markets of Cardiff, Liverpool,
Newcastle, Scotland and Birmingham by free morning Metro titles
which extend our reach to a younger, urban audience that is highly
appealing to advertisers.

Our leading local and regional newspaper titles are complemented by
a strong and growing digital presence. This extends the audience
reach of our brands and capitalises on their strengths to drive
advertising revenues. These include:

• More than 300 companion newspaper websites, ultra-local sites
and category-specific sites

• A stake in the National website fish4
• hotgroup online, the UK’s largest network of specialist job sites
• GAAPweb, the leading website for financial jobs
• Secsinthecity, a leading website for secretarial and admin jobs
• Smartnewhomes, a leading national website for new homes
• Email4Property, a leading national website for estate agents.

In 2006 we continued to drive our growth pipeline by launching new
products and services to extend our reach and better serve our
customers, both readers and advertisers. In line with our strategy, we
continued to focus on growth from new initiatives, deepening our
presence in our core markets and geographies, both in print
and online.

The Regionals division launched five newspaper titles, including
Metros in Cardiff and Liverpool, bringing the total number of Metros
to five; as well as six free classified advertising editions of BuySell
covering the North West and North Wales. These are examples of our
market layering strategy which extends our reach for advertisers.

During the year, we continued to accelerate the growth of the
Regional division’s organic digital portfolio, which now consists of
over 300 websites. The division now has local jobs, homes and
motors sites in each of the geographies it serves, complementing our
national sites position through fish4. With these websites, our
Regional businesses can now offer advertisers a winning
combination of the leading regional or local newspaper, the leading
local website, and a strong national site through fish4.

In addition to organic development we have continued to build our
portfolio of well differentiated, market-leading recruitment sites in key
segments via acquisition. Our hotgroup online business is the UK’s
largest national network of specialist job sites, and in January 2007
we strengthened its market position with the launch of a further 15
new sites targeted at key recruitment segments. GAAPweb extends
our reach into the high-growth financial sector, while Secsinthecity,
London’s leading secretarial recruitment site, is being extended into
a number of new metropolitan markets.

Email4Property was acquired in May 2006 to strengthen our online
presence in the property category. Email4Property provides a unique
offering to estate agents by driving traffic to their websites, thereby
promoting their business. This business is now fully integrated within
the operations of Smartnewhomes and together can drive faster
growth in this category.

As well as launching and acquiring new products and services, the
Regionals division continued to drive its core business forward
through numerous initiatives aimed at improving advertising and
circulation performance.

Projects driving improvements in advertising revenues included:

• The launch of a web-based interface that allows private advertisers
to book advertising 24 hours a day, which has delivered
encouraging initial revenue results and improved levels of service

• The completion of several successful trials in product and pricing
to support revenues in core advertising categories and further
deepen penetration of local advertising customers

• A continued focus on advertising category management
and developing integrated sales packages across print and
online platforms

• The completion of a successful pilot of the new advertising
booking system. The system is fundamental to maximising
new tailored customer packages and enhancing cross-selling,
whilst improving account management and service for clients.
An aggressive plan to roll out this system across the businesses in
Wales, the North East and North West and Scotland is in place and
is expected to complete in 2008.

As part of our focus to improve customer service we were the first
regional publisher to offer customers an electronic vouchering and
verification system, and we now have 2,547 users live on this system,
with 113 agencies signed up. In addition to improving customer
service the system has enabled further cost reductions.

Going forward, to further improve customer service and reduce cost,
we will streamline our advert production and creation processes by
investing in technologically advanced web-based systems.

In 2006 the Regionals division also reaped the benefits of its
investment in BEAMER: Brand Equity and Media Effectiveness
Research, conducted during 2005. This ground-breaking advertiser
research demonstrated the strength of regional press as a medium
for delivering response and its advantage, through the strength of its
brands, in developing digital assets. BEAMER was also short-listed
for a prestigious Market Research Society award.

This year, we also invested in research into price elasticity
and ‘value for money’ perceptions around a number of key titles.
The outputs of this research informed our approach to cover prices
in the second half of 2006 and planning for 2007.
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The research also supported our ‘little and often’ approach to cover
price increases.

Over the year the drive towards multimedia publishing also gained
pace within the Regionals division’s editorial function. Changes that
took place in 2006 included:

• The ‘Reinventing the Newsroom’ initiative, aimed at turning
traditional print newsrooms into multimedia publishing hubs,
moved forward and new systems were implemented in the
North West

• ‘Citizen content’ was harnessed, publishing thousands of forum
postings, user-generated video clips, blogs, podcasts, still pictures
and audio files, driving interactivity and so helping to increase our
online audience

• Introducing an online breaking news service to drive web traffic
• The major in-paper classified platforms across the UK were re-
branded to reflect their online counterparts, ensuring cohesive
brand clarity across print and digital media.

As the integration of print and online activity accelerated, so did the
level of cross-promotion between our newspapers and their
websites. Print titles continued to be a powerful driver of audience to
our websites, and increased online promotion has also benefited
our newspapers.

Looking ahead, the focus for the Regionals division will be on driving
improvements in performance and publishing quality while driving
through technology-enabled efficiencies. The new operating model
will continue to evolve with a major programme of change already
underway across advertising and pre-press, editorial and newspaper
sales, focused on modernising and streamlining the business. In
addition we shall continue to build on our track record of innovation
to develop the business through a combination of launch and
targeted acquisitions.

Financial performance
The revenue and operating profit of the Group’s Regionals division,
including acquisitions, are as follows:

Revenue and operating profit

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations* operations* Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Turnover

– Regional core 468.4 509.5 (8.1)% 489.3 515.2 (5.0)%

– Metros 17.3 13.3 30.1% 17.3 13.3 30.1%

– Digital media activities 24.5 11.1 120.7% 24.5 11.1 120.7%

Total revenue 510.2 533.9 (4.4)% 531.1 539.6 (1.6)%

Operating profit

– Regional core 115.8 145.8 (20.6)% 118.2 145.9 (19.0)%

– Metros 2.7 1.9 42.1% 2.7 1.9 42.1%

– Digital media activities 7.9 3.2 146.9% 7.8 2.9 169.0%

Total operating profit pre amortisation of intangibles 126.4 150.9 (16.2)% 128.7 150.7 (14.6)%

Total operating profit post amortisation of intangibles 120.7 148.0 (18.4)% 118.1 147.4 (19.9)%

Margin pre amortisation of intangibles 24.8% 28.3% (3.5)% 24.2% 27.9% (3.7)%

*Statutory continuing operations is before non recurring items.
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Revenue fell by £23.7 million (4.4%) and operating profit fell by
£24.5 million (16.2%). Excluding acquisitions, revenue for the
Regionals division fell by £35.6 million (6.7%) from £530.4 million to
£494.8 million and operating profit decreased by £27.2 million
(18.2%) from £149.8 million to £122.6 million.

Whilst operating profit excluding acquisitions decreased for the core
Regional newspaper titles, this has been partially offset by the
continuing improvements for Metros and digital media activities. The
division’s five Metros achieved a £0.8 million (42.1%) improvement in

operating profit to £2.7 million including the Cardiff and Liverpool
Metros launched in March 2006. The division’s organic digital
media activities, excluding acquisitions completed in 2005 and 2006,
continued to deliver further improvements with revenues increasing
by 19.7% and operating profits increasing by 95.2%.

The acquisitions of hotgroup online, GAAPweb, Smartnewhomes and
Secsinthecity, completed in 2005, and Email4Property completed in
May 2006, achieved revenues and operating profits before amortisation
of intangible assets of £15.4 million and £3.8 million respectively.

Revenue by type

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations operations Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Advertising 383.9 407.2 (5.7)% 383.9 407.2 (5.7)%

Circulation 83.5 82.8 0.8% 83.5 82.8 0.8%

Other 42.8 43.9 (2.5)% 63.7 49.6 28.4%

Total revenue 510.2 533.9 (4.4)% 531.1 539.6 (1.6)%

Advertising revenue for the Regionals division fell by 5.7% from
£407.2 million to £383.9 million.

Excluding acquisitions, advertising revenue for the Regionals division
fell by 8.7% from £403.7 million to £368.5 million.

By category, Display was down by 5.8%, Recruitment was down by
8.9%, Motors was down by 11.6% and other classified categories
were down by 7.5%, while Property increased by 6.2%.

Excluding acquisitions, by category, Display was down by 5.8%,
Recruitment was down by 17.3%, Motors was down by 11.6% and
other classified categories were down by 7.5%, while Property
increased by 1.4%.

Advertising revenue by category

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations operations Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Display 119.2 126.5 (5.8)% 119.2 126.5 (5.8)%

Recruitment 101.9 111.9 (8.9)% 101.9 111.9 (8.9)%

Property 63.3 59.6 6.2% 63.3 59.6 6.2%

Motors 31.9 36.1 (11.6)% 31.9 36.1 (11.6)%

Other 67.6 73.1 (7.5)% 67.6 73.1 (7.5)%

Total 383.9 407.2 (5.7)% 383.9 407.2 (5.7)%

Metros achieved strong advertising growth of £4.0 million (30.3%),
driven by an increase in core advertising revenues and the benefit
of an additional two Metro titles launched in March 2006. Excluding
the two new launches, advertising revenues for Metros increased
by 11.4%.

Digital media activities, excluding acquisitions, continued their growth
trajectory with advertising revenue increasing by 22.2%. The four
acquisitions completed in 2005 and the acquisition of Email4Property
completed in 2006 achieved advertising revenues of £15.4 million.
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Largest regional titles

2006 2006 2005 2005
Daily Average Daily Average

circulation(a) readers(b) circulation(a) readers(b)

Morning

Daily Post (Wales) 38,332 121,888 39,595 125,117

Western Mail 39,776 141,339 42,956 150,882

The Journal
(Newcastle) 37,822 119,249 40,945 125,989

Evening

Liverpool Echo 110,804 329,296 120,131 357,790

Birmingham Mail 72,218 217,652 83,111 260,880

Evening Chronicle
(Newcastle) 77,056 235,140 83,425 261,871

Sunday

Sunday Mercury
(Birmingham) 62,009 164,372 66,007 184,887

Sunday Sun
(Newcastle) 70,904 277,931 75,499 297,529

(a)Average ABC July to December 2006 and July to December 2005.
(b)JICREG January 2007 and January 2006.

Circulation revenue increased by £0.7 million (0.8%). The division
continued to drive circulation revenue through the ongoing policy to
increase cover prices on a ‘little and often’ basis.

During the year, the division experienced circulation volume declines
of 7.7% for Evening titles, 6.3% for Morning titles, 4.8% for Weekly
titles and 8.7% for Sunday titles.

Other revenue, excluding acquisitions, fell by £1.1 million (2.5%) from
£43.9 million to £42.8 million, reflecting a fall in leaflets revenues
driven by the difficult advertising marketplace.

The implications of the adverse revenue environment have been
partially mitigated by our targeted cost savings and continued tight
cost management in the face of significant inflationary cost
pressures. Excluding acquisitions, costs have fallen by £8.4 million
from £380.6 million to £372.2 million, contributing to operating profits
falling by only £27.2 million, despite revenue declines of £35.6 million.
The declining revenues have, however, impacted operating margins
which, excluding acquisitions, fell by 3.4% to 24.8%, and including
acquisitions fell by 3.5% to 24.8%.

Whilst margins will remain under pressure due to the continued
weakness in advertising markets, the significant cost savings already
achieved in the business and the planned efficiencies expected
through technology-driven changes to the operating
model will ensure a recovery in margins as soon as the advertising
markets stabilise.
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Nationals division

The Nationals division publishes three UK National titles (the Daily
Mirror, the Sunday Mirror and The People), two Scottish Nationals
(the Daily Record and the Sunday Mail), complemented by a portfolio
of digital assets.

Our National titles operate in an extremely competitive marketplace
which continues to be characterised by regional and national cover
price discounting and high levels of marketing expenditure. In
addition they faced further pressure during 2006 due to the
continued downturn of the advertising market.

Despite this difficult environment our national titles achieved a credible
financial performance. The division remains highly cash-generative.

The Daily Mirror and Daily Record achieved a joint circulation of
2.1 million copies during 2006 with readership in excess of
4.9 million. Our daily newspapers are read by 10% of the adult
population on a daily basis.

Our National Sunday titles, the Sunday Mirror, The People and the
Sunday Mail achieved a joint circulation of 2.8 million during 2006
with readership of 6.8 million. Whilst the Sunday National newspaper
market remains challenging due to changing lifestyles, we reach 14%
of the adult population every Sunday.

UK Nationals
Across the UK national popular newspaper market circulations
continued to decline year on year. Whilst competitors distorted their
underlying sales, through heavy marketing activity and cover price
discounting, our national titles remained at their full cover prices.

Our three UK national titles have a higher proportion of full-rate sales
within their audited ABC circulations than any of their major
competitors. We have not pursued excessive marketing or cover
price discounting, which does not provide a return on investment,
and only serves to achieve a short-term increase in circulation.

During 2006 the Daily Mirror twice increased its Monday to Friday
cover price and also increased its Saturday cover price. The People
also increased its cover price. The Sunday Mirror’s cover price
remained consistent throughout the year having taken advantage of
an increase in 2005.

During the year our editors continued to build on improvements
made in quality and consistency of editorial content. In particular, the
Daily Mirror delivered an exceptionally strong editorial performance,
producing a series of agenda-setting exclusives which included
John Prescott’s affair, Paul McCartney’s divorce and Tony Blair’s
exit strategy. The superb achievement by the editorial team was
recognised when the Daily Mirror was awarded the prestigious title of
‘Newspaper of the Year’ at the ‘What the Papers Say’ awards in
December 2006.

These exclusives together with the high quality of its balanced
content – a mix of news, features, celebrity and sport – firmly
positioned and differentiated the Daily Mirror from its immediate
competitors and underlined its campaigning priorities to its
core audience.

Major improvements were made to the Daily Mirror’s Friday
entertainment supplement The Ticket. Responding to reader
research it was repackaged with improved editorial content and full
colour. This has provided a platform for more focused and relevant
advertising content.

The Sunday Mirror, whilst facing the same challenges, has continued
to perform well. Notably it outperformed the Sunday market leader –
the News of the World – for most of the second half of 2006. The
strength of the Sunday Mirror’s editorial content has continued to
enjoy further success in 2007.

The management team continued to focus on improving circulation
performance of the Mirror titles through the development of new
marketing initiatives. Greater use was made of joint Daily and Sunday
Mirror promotions which encouraged improved interactivity with
readers through greater use of more relevant collectables, and better
targeted direct mail campaigns. More focus was also placed on
improving the availability of the titles at the point of purchase.

Despite very strong marketing opposition, The People significantly
improved its profitability in the fourth quarter of 2006 following the
introduction of a more streamlined operating model.

Major improvements were made to The People at the beginning of
the football season to enhance its editorial and advertising content.
In line with readers’ and advertisers’ requirements the football pullout,
SP, now enjoys more colour and a clearer focus on the Premier
League. All other sport has been returned to its traditional location at
the back of the newspaper.

Our national print titles continued to develop their digital presence,
with improvements made to content and interactivity. The sites
generated strong profit growth during 2006, with unique users up
23% in the last quarter. The total number of page impressions
generated by our National websites reached 235 million, up 16%
on 2005.

The development of our Nationals digital activity has continued into
2007. The Daily Mirror’s website www.mirror.co.uk has undergone a
significant transformation to create a more streamlined and user-
friendly site making greater use of audio and video whilst concentrating
on the three core areas of news, sport and show business.

Improvement and development initiatives for both the Sunday Mirror
and The People websites will be implemented during 2007.
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Scottish Nationals
The Scottish Nationals division incorporates Scotland’s market-leading
national newspapers, the Daily Record and the Sunday Mail. The
division also operates the One Directory and a growing digital portfolio
including a leading online Scottish recruitment site, Scotcareers.

The Scottish national newspaper market is regarded as one of the
world’s most competitive, with widespread cover price discounting
and heavy marketing activity by rival UK titles in the popular market.
In addition our titles faced a deterioration in the overall advertising
market conditions.

Our press investment in Cardonald will benefit our Scottish
newspapers with full colour, increased pagination and greater insert
capability. This will result in stronger, more attractive products for
readers and advertisers, and will also enable a wider range of
commercial opportunities for our titles.

Despite the difficulties faced by the division during the year it
achieved a credible performance. The management team continued
to develop the portfolio by layering and segmenting its market to
grow overall reach and deliver a highly responsive audience for
advertisers, whilst protecting the core titles from the effects of an
aggressive competitive environment through a creative investment
and marketing programme.

During 2006 the difficult advertising environment was made more
challenging by the Daily Record’s main competitor – the Sun –
discounting its cover price to 10 pence. Circulation revenue performance
was impacted due to the incremental marketing investment required
as a response to the competitive cover price activity.

In order to protect its valuable market-leading readership and
maintain its competitive position, reader loyalty was rewarded
through a discount voucher offer. This enabled our customers to buy
the following day’s Daily Record for 15 pence by redeeming a
voucher published in the newspaper. This initiative rewarded reader
loyalty, without cutting headline price. Supported by a highly visible
brand awareness campaign the discount voucher received
significant response which partially mitigated the impact on
circulation volumes.

Despite the prolonged competitive activity our Scottish titles
have retained strong market positions and continue to enjoy the
highest penetration of Scottish households.

Full-price sale and readership are key metrics for advertisers. The
Daily Record sold 95% of its circulation at full cover price against
20% for the Sun. In readership, the Daily Record averaged 1.1 million
adults every day during the year, 29% ahead of the Sun.

To further protect the Daily Record’s position, management invested in
the portfolio by launching a paid-for evening edition of the Daily
Record, ‘Record PM’, in Edinburgh and Glasgow city centres. This
initiative was designed to increase reach and response for our
advertisers and to extend the Record brand. It was an immediate
success. In order to optimise our market penetration, we moved this
title to a free distribution model and extended its distribution to
Aberdeen and Dundee in January 2007.

In 2006, a new Managing Director and a new Advertising Director
were appointed to the Nationals division. Their deep level of
knowledge and significant experience within the industry is already
benefiting performance.

The investment in our National presses continued throughout the year
on schedule and on budget. Our presses in Oldham have now been
fully commissioned, and went live in July 2006. Work on repressing
our Watford plant began during the year with completion expected in
early 2008. Once this work has been completed our National titles will
be published in full colour by the second quarter of 2008.

A major benefit of this investment is that no further significant capital
expenditure will be required for our national print network for a
number of years, with full repressing not required for at least a further
20 years.

During the year we completed our investment in a new advertising
IT platform across the division which will drive efficiencies and a
reduction in costs.

During 2007 a new circulation management system will be installed.
This new system will help to drive newspaper copy sales through
improving the availability of our National titles, ensuring they are on
sale when and where customers want to buy them.

In line with the Group’s strategy to build a multi-platform media
business, further new-technology-based systems to facilitate more
efficient content distribution across multiple platforms are planned to
replace current editorial and production systems. Work on these will
commence in 2007.

The UK Nationals division, with its strong management team,
investment in key publishing systems and new colour printing
presses, is well positioned to continue delivering strong revenue and
profit performance moving forward. In addition the embedded culture
of driving efficiencies will ensure that our titles are well positioned to
take disproportionate benefits from any improvement in the
advertising markets.
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Whilst the daily newspaper market was under pressure, the Sunday
Mail was unaffected by competitive cover price activity. During the
year the Sunday Mail average issue readership totalled 1.3 million
adults every week, almost double that of the News of the World, and
outsold the number two by more than 175,000 copies a week.

Investment in availability and content improved the Sunday Mail’s
year-on-year circulation performance and enabled it to increase its
cover price.

Further development of Scotcareers, the number two recruitment
website for Scotland, increased year-on-year revenues by 39%. This
demonstrated the effectiveness of cross-selling recruitment
advertising both in print and online.

The Scotcareers brand was further enhanced through the launch of
Hotjobs, a recruitment fair, which was profitable in its first year.
Hotjobs is one of 13 events which are linked to the division’s
newspaper and magazine brands.

Following the success of Scotcareers the division launched
Scotwheels, a motors website. Further development of digital assets
continues into 2007 with the launch of a more generalist, classified
ads website, Scotthelot.

During 2006 we published four editions of the One Directory in
Scotland. 2007 will see the title focused on local and specialist
directories, supplemented by complementary websites.

Financial performance
The revenue and operating profit of our Nationals division are
as follows:

Revenue and operating profit

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations* operations* Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Revenue 472.4 499.1 (5.3)% 472.4 499.1 (5.3)%

Operating profit 80.2 91.2 (12.1)% 80.9 91.2 (11.3)%

Margin 17.0% 18.3% (1.3)% 17.1% 18.3% (1.2)%

*Statutory continuing operations is before non-recurring items.

Operating profits for the Nationals division fell by £11.0 million (12.1%)
from £91.2 million to £80.2 million mitigating the effect of revenue
declines of £26.7 million from £499.1 million to £472.4 million.

Revenue declined by 4.8% for the UK Nationals and 7.1% for the
Scottish Nationals. Despite the significant revenue declines,
operating margin for the division only fell by 1.3% from 18.3% to
17.0%, due to continued cost control and savings.

Revenue by type

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations operations Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Circulation 275.1 276.6 (0.5)% 275.1 276.6 (0.5)%

Advertising 158.3 176.2 (10.2)% 158.3 176.2 (10.2)%

Other 39.0 46.3 (15.8)% 39.0 46.3 (15.8)%

Total revenue 472.4 499.1 (5.3)% 472.4 499.1 (5.3)%

Circulation revenues for the Nationals division fell by 0.5% reflecting
an increase of 0.5% for the UK Nationals offset by a decline of 4.7%
for the Scottish Nationals. The circulation revenue performance for
the Scottish Nationals reflects the impact of discount vouchering
activity for the Monday to Friday Daily Record in response to a 10-
pence Sun across Scotland for the majority of 2006.

During the year a number of cover price increases were
implemented, with the Monday to Friday Daily Mirror increasing by 5
pence in two stages to 40 pence, the Saturday editions of the Daily
Mirror and Daily Record increasing by 5 pence to 55 pence, the
Sunday Mail in Scotland increasing by 20 pence in two stages to
£1.10 and The People increasing by 5 pence to 85 pence.



18

Chairman and Chief Executive statement / Business review / Corporate responsibility / Board of Directors and
Executive Committee / Corporate governance / Remuneration report / Directors’ report / Group independent auditors’
report / Accounts and notes / Unaudited other information / Holding company accounts and notes / Investor relations

(a)Average circulation for the six months to December.
(b)NRS six months to September 2006.
(c)Share of tabloid market six months to December 2006 excluding sampling.
(d)Within Scottish market only.

The circulation volume performance of our National titles reflects,
unlike many competitor titles, our policy of not chasing short-term
circulation increases through price-cutting and levels of marketing
spend which do not provide a return on investment.

In a challenging marketplace, advertising revenues for the Nationals
division fell by 10.2%, with declines of 10.6% for the UK Nationals
and 9.1% for the Scottish Nationals.

UK National newspapers – revenue by type

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations operations Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Circulation 220.7 219.5 0.5% 220.7 219.5 0.5%

Advertising 114.2 127.7 (10.6)% 114.2 127.7 (10.6)%

Other 34.6 41.1 (15.8)% 34.6 41.1 (15.8)%

Total revenue 369.5 388.3 (4.8)% 369.5 388.3 (4.8)%

The year-on-year change in circulation volumes and the market share
for our Nationals titles were as follows:

Volume, readership and market share

2006 2005 2006 2006
Volume Volume Average Market
actual(a) actual(a) Change readers(b) share(c)
’000 ’000 % ’000 %

Daily Mirror 1,608 1,717 (6.3)% 4,104 18.7%

Sunday Mirror 1,404 1,506 (6.8)% 4,539 15.4%

The People 808 918 (12.0)% 1,979 8.9%

Daily Record(d) 387 417 (7.2)% 1,224 34.2%

Sunday Mail(d) 479 503 (4.8)% 1,415 35.7%

The advertising performance for the UK Nationals reflects the
continuation of the difficult advertising conditions experienced
in 2005. Whilst we have seen a marginal improvement in the rate
of decline in advertising revenues in the last quarter of the year,
with a particularly buoyant December, the market remains volatile.
The volume market share of our titles has declined during the
period due to our continued policy of not materially discounting yield
in a declining marketplace.
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Scottish National newspapers – revenue by type

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations operations Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Circulation 54.4 57.1 (4.7)% 54.4 57.1 (4.7)%

Advertising 44.1 48.5 (9.1)% 44.1 48.5 (9.1)%

Other 4.4 5.2 (15.4)% 4.4 5.2 (15.4)%

Total revenue 102.9 110.8 (7.1)% 102.9 110.8 (7.1)%

The advertising revenues for the Scottish Nationals is marginally
distorted by the advertising performance for the One Directory, where
advertising revenues fell by 19.3%. Excluding the One Directory
advertising revenues for the Scottish Nationals fell by 8.6%.

The Scottish Nationals have also benefited from improved revenues
for their digital assets. Notably the Scotcareers brand has achieved
a strong position in the recruitment market in Scotland and will
continue to focus on developing share in this marketplace.

Scotcareers and other National digital activities have achieved a
significant improvement in performance, with combined advertising
revenues increasing three-fold to £1.8 million. The Scotcareers brand
has achieved a strong position in the recruitment market in Scotland
and our goal is to further improve share in this marketplace. This has
provided a firm base for the launch of Scotwheels in 2006 and
Scotthelot during 2007. Other digital activities have also seen a
significant improvement in performance, reflecting the benefit of
focused investment to drive incremental revenues to supplement the
core circulation and print advertising revenues.

Other revenue decreased by £7.3 million (15.8%) from £46.3 million to
£39.0 million with declines of 15.8% for the UK Nationals and 15.4%
for the Scottish Nationals. The fall in other revenues reflects a
reduction in rental income from surplus office accommodation and a
marginal reduction in external contract print revenues due to the
current repressing programme.

The tight management of costs contributed to operating costs falling
by £15.7 million, partially mitigating the impact of revenues falling by
£26.7 million and therefore limiting the operating profit declines to
£11.0 million, with operating margins falling by 1.3%.
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Revenue and operating profit

2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

continuing continuing
Adjusted Adjusted Variance operations* operations* Variance

£m £m % £m £m %

Revenue

Advertising 13.3 14.3 (7.0)% 13.3 14.3 (7.0)%

Circulation 31.8 32.6 (2.5)% 31.8 32.6 (2.5)%

Other 4.4 3.7 18.9% 4.4 3.7 18.9%

Total 49.5 50.6 (2.2)% 49.5 50.6 (2.2)%

Operating profit 15.2 17.4 (12.6)% 15.8 17.4 (9.2)%

Margin 30.7% 34.4% (3.7)% 31.9% 34.4% (2.5)%

Sports division

The Sports division publishes the market-leading Racing Post
together with the 23 related racing and sports newspapers
and websites.

The Sports division delivered a robust performance in 2006 despite
the impact of a new nationally distributed daily betting title
(The Sportsman) which launched in March 2006. The division rose
to the competitive challenge by introducing further improvements
to both the editorial content of the Racing Post and the availability
of the paper within the news trade. These enhancements were
supported by a strong marketing campaign. Just five months after
launch The Sportsman ceased publication.

*Statutory continuing operations is before non-recurring items.

During the year, revenues for the Sports division fell by 2.2% from
£50.6 million to £49.5 million and operating profits fell by 12.6% from
£17.4 million to £15.2 million.

Advertising revenues fell by 7.0% from £14.3 million to £13.3 million
reflecting the impact of a general slowdown in advertising
markets and consolidation within the bookmaking and gaming
industries.

Circulation revenues fell by £0.8 million, reflecting the impact of a fall
in circulation volumes of the Racing Post partially offset by cover
price increases for the Monday to Friday editions.

Other revenues increased by £0.7 million (18.9%) from £3.7 million
to £4.4 million.

The impact of additional investment in marketing and product
enhancement during a period when The Sportsman was in the
marketplace resulted in operating costs for the division increasing
by £1.1 million, contributing to operating profits falling by £2.2 million
to £15.2 million. Operating margins for the division fell by 3.7%
to 30.7%.

As announced in December 2006, the division is expected to be
disposed of during 2007.

Magazines and Exhibitions division

During June and July 2006 the Group disposed of its Magazines and
Exhibitions division through a number of transactions generating
gross disposal proceeds of £42.6 million. The most significant of
these transactions was the disposal of Inside Communications
Limited for a consideration of £41.5 million. The Magazines and
Exhibitions division published a number of specialist titles and
operated consumer and trade shows. However, it was considered
non-core due to the differing challenges it faced relative to our core
portfolio of newspaper and online assets. Having improved the
performance of the division over the past few years it was
appropriate to realise value at this stage.

Prior to disposal, the division generated revenue of £20.1 million
and operating profit of £5.8 million.

Central costs

During the year central costs increased by £0.2 million, from
£15.9 million to £16.1 million, reflecting the costs associated with
the Business Review, substantially mitigated by cost savings.

Daily Daily
circulation circulation

2006 2005

Racing Post(a) 71,739 75,908

Racing and Football Outlook no ABCs no ABCs

Raceform Update no ABCs no ABCs

Weekender(a) 16,004 16,808

(a)ABC July-December 2006.
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Financial review

Group revenues fell by £51.5 million (4.8%) from £1,083.6 million to
£1,032.1 million and excluding acquisitions fell by £63.4 million
(5.9%) from £1,080.1 million to £1,016.7 million. On a statutory basis
Group revenues fell by £36.3 million (3.3%) from £1,089.3 million to
£1,053.0 million.

Group operating profit fell by £37.4 million (15.3%) from £244.4
million to £207.0 million and excluding acquisitions fell by £40.1
million (16.5%) from £243.3 million to £203.2 million. On a statutory
basis Group operating profit fell by £284.9 million (119.6%) from
£238.3 million to a loss of £46.6 million. The statutory operating loss
reflects the non-cash charges of £250.0 million for the impairment of
the carrying value of intangibles and £10.6 million amortisation, offset
by £2.0 million of other non-recurring items.

Total operating costs, excluding acquisitions, have fallen by £23.3
million (2.8%) from £836.8 million to £813.5 million despite a 7%
increase in the price of newsprint and labour and cost inflation.
We exceeded our target of cost savings of £15.0 million announced
in December by £5.0 million.

(Loss)/profit before tax

2006 2005
Statutory Statutory Change

£m £m %

Group revenue 1,053.0 1,089.3 (3.3)%

Operating costs:

Labour (334.4) (336.5) 0.6%

Newsprint (146.8) (143.3) (2.4)%

Depreciation (39.7) (39.9) 0.5%

Other costs (321.4) (326.2) 1.5%

Amortisation of intangibles (10.6) (3.3) (221.2)%

Share of results of associates 1.3 0.8 62.5%

Operating profit before
non-recurring items 201.4 240.9 (16.4)%

IAS 19 finance credit 9.9 1.7 482.4%

IAS 39 impact (4.9) (6.6) 25.8%

Other finance costs (31.5) (31.0) (1.6)%

Profit before tax and
non-recurring items 174.9 205.0 (14.7)%

Non-recurring items (248.0) (2.6) –

(Loss)/profit before tax (73.1) 202.4 (136.1)%

Tax 19.9 (60.3) 133.0%

(Loss)/profit from
continuing operations (53.2) 142.1 (137.4)%

Discontinued operations:

Profit from discontinued operations 4.0 4.8 (16.7)%

Profit on sale of
discontinued operations 37.7 –

Total (loss)/profit for the period (11.5) 146.9 (107.8)%

Amortisation of intangibles amounted to £10.6 million (2005: £3.3
million) and relates to the acquisitions made in 2005 and 2006. It
includes £4.9 million (2005: £0.4 million) relating to the disposed
traditional recruitment consultancy business.

The Group’s share of profits from associates was £1.3 million (2005:
£0.8 million) and reflects the Group’s share of profits in The Press
Association (PA), net of taxation payable thereon. The share of
profits is higher than expected as it includes the one-off benefit of
£0.7 million reflecting the profit on disposal of Two Ten
Communications by PA. During the period dividends of £0.5 million
(2005: £0.6 million) were received from PA.

Finance costs, excluding the impact of IAS 19 Employee Benefits
and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
increased by £0.5 million from £31.0 million to £31.5 million. The
increase in finance costs between the years reflects the phasing of
actual debt levels and interest rates applying during each year. The
absolute debt levels fell substantially during the year. Excluding the
IAS 19 finance credit and the impact of IAS 39, interest is covered 6.6
times by operating profit, a fall from 7.9 times in 2005, reflecting the
impact of reduced operating profits.

The IAS 39 impact during the year, in relation to the US$ private
placement and related cross-currency interest rate swaps, was a
£4.9 million charge (2005: £6.6 million). The IAS 39 impact reflects
the fair value, exchange rate and amortisation adjustments on
borrowings and associated financial instruments accounted for under
IAS 39. The IAS 19 finance credit for the year was £9.9 million (2005:
£1.7 million) and is estimated to increase to £12.3 million in 2007.

Non-recurring items

2006 2005
Statutory Statutory

£m £m

Impairment of intangibles (250.0) –

Profit on disposal of land and buildings 0.8 3.5

Loss on sale of subsidiary undertakings (1.8) –

Restructuring costs (2.4) (7.8)

Release of old accruals for which no further
costs are expected 3.8 –

Severance costs following the
acquisition of the hotgroup plc – (1.0)

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments 1.6 2.7

Total (248.0) (2.6)

Non-recurring items before tax of £248.0 million (2005: £2.6 million)
were incurred during the year. Non-recurring items have been
separately disclosed to provide clarity in relation to the underlying
performance of the Group as they are one-off in nature. The most
significant items are explained below with further detailed information
provided on other items in note 7 on page 61.

An impairment review of the carrying value of intangible assets in
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets indicated that an
impairment charge of £250.0 million (£175.0 million after tax) was
required. The impairment charge reduces the carrying value of the
Group’s Regional newspaper titles.



22

Chairman and Chief Executive statement / Business review / Corporate responsibility / Board of Directors and
Executive Committee / Corporate governance / Remuneration report / Directors’ report / Group independent auditors’
report / Accounts and notes / Unaudited other information / Holding company accounts and notes / Investor relations

Balance sheet

2006 2005
£m £m

Intangible assets 1,418.4 1,688.9

Deferred tax asset 74.3 97.9

Other non-current assets 430.7 395.9

Non-current assets 1,923.4 2,182.7

Total equity 723.2 753.7

Short-term debt net of cash (26.0) 28.3

Medium-term debt 466.9 464.2

Deferred tax liabilities 482.4 547.2

Long and short-term provisions 11.4 21.8

Net current other liabilities 52.5 61.9

Retirement benefit obligation 213.0 305.6

Non-current liabilities
and net current liabilities 1,923.4 2,182.7

Non-current assets

2006 2005
£m £m

Intangible assets:

Publishing rights and titles 1,329.9 1,579.9

Customer relationships and domain names 27.4 36.2

Goodwill 61.1 72.8

Deferred tax asset:

Deferred tax asset 74.3 97.9

Property, plant and equipment:

Land and buildings 195.7 197.0

Plant and vehicles 155.2 162.1

Assets under construction 69.6 28.2

Investments:

Investments in associates 10.2 8.6

Net book value of non-current assets 1,923.4 2,182.7

Intangible assets have decreased by £270.5 million reflecting the
impact of the £250.0 million impairment charge, the amortisation
of £10.6 million and the disposal of the traditional recruitment
consultancy business offset by the acquisition of Email4Property.

We disposed of surplus land and buildings realising a profit
on disposal of £0.8 million (2005: £3.5 million). We also disposed
of assets held as available-for-sale financial assets realising profit
of £1.6 million. This reflects the benefit of the continuing plan to
rationalise the property portfolio and reduce property costs.

A loss of £1.8 million was made on the disposal of the traditional
recruitment consultancy business.

Group profit before tax fell by £29.7 million (13.8%) from
£215.1 million to £185.4 million. On a statutory basis Group profit
before tax fell by £275.5 million (136.1%) from £202.4 million to a loss
of £73.1 million.

The tax credit for the year of £19.9 million represents 27.2% (2005:
29.9%) of statutory loss before tax. Excluding the impact on
operating profit and tax of the £250.0 million impairment charge and
the related £75.0 million tax credit, the tax charge for the year was
£55.1 million representing 31.1% of the profit before tax.

Profit after tax of discontinued operations relates to the disposed
Magazines and Exhibitions division. Profit after tax amounted to
£4.0 million (2005: £4.8 million). A £37.7 million (2005: £nil million)
profit after tax on the sale of the discontinued operations was
also realised.

Earnings per share were 43.6 pence per share (2005: 51.3 pence
per share), a decrease of 15.0%. On a statutory continuing
operations basis earnings per share fell by 137.6% from 48.7 pence
per share to a loss of 18.3 pence per share.

Subject to approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting,
the directors propose a final dividend of 15.5 pence per share to be
paid on 8 June 2007 to shareholders on the register at 4 May 2007.
This will bring the total dividend for the year to 21.9 pence per share.
This is at the same level as 2005 even though earnings have fallen
during the year, reflecting continued confidence in strong cash flows.
The dividend is covered 2.0 times by earnings before non-recurring
items and will be fully funded from operating cash flow. An interim
dividend of 6.4 pence per share (2005: 6.4 pence per share) was
paid on 31 October 2006 to shareholders on the register at 6
October 2006.
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Property, plant and equipment has increased by £33.2 million due to
capital expenditure of £72.8 million (2005: £37.0 million) net of
disposals, against a depreciation charge of £39.8 million (2005:
£40.1 million). The capital expenditure included £65.8 million (2005:
£16.7 million) in relation to the press project announced in July 2005.
Planned capital expenditure for 2007 is £65 million, including
a further £38 million in respect of the press investment project.
All capital expenditure is forecast to be financed from operating
cash flows.

The investment in PA has increased by £1.6 million from £8.6 million
to £10.2 million with profit after tax of £1.3 million less dividends
received of £0.5 million.

The deferred tax asset has decreased by £23.6 million from
£97.9 million to £74.3 million primarily due the movement in the
retirement benefit obligation.

Net debt repayment profile

2006 2005
£m £m

Repayable within one year
(including bank overdrafts) 6.8 61.5

Between one and two years 62.9 –

Between two and five years 155.9 66.3

After five years 248.1 397.9

Cash and cash equivalents (32.8) (33.2)

Total net debt 440.9 492.5

Net debt has decreased by £51.6 million from £492.5 million
to £440.9 million and comprises loan notes, bank overdrafts
and finance leases of £473.7 million offset by cash balances
of £32.8 million.

The IAS 19 retirement benefit obligations before the provision of
deferred taxation have fallen by £92.6 million from £305.6 million to
£213.0 million. The fall in the obligation reflects a £89.9 million
increase in pension scheme assets and a £24.5 million fall in pension
scheme liabilities, partially offset by an increase of £21.8 million in the
surplus of certain schemes. The increase in the value of pension
scheme assets reflects the improvement in equity markets during
2006 and increased deficit funding payments made during the year.
The fall in the pension scheme liabilities is due to a marginal increase
in the real discount rate applied to liabilities from 1.95% at 1 January
2006 to 2.10% at 31 December 2006.

Net retirement benefit obligations, after the provision of deferred
taxation, fell by £64.8 million from £213.9 million to £149.1 million.

During the period the IAS 19 defined benefit operating profit pension
charge for current service increased by £1.8 million from £28.6 million
to £30.4 million, with cash contributions (excluding past service
enhancements) increasing by £3.4 million from £46.3 million
to £49.7 million.

The IAS 19 defined benefit operating profit current service pension
charge is expected to fall by £2.9 million from £30.4 million in 2006
to £27.5 million in 2007. This is due to a reduction in the number of
employees and an increase in the net discount rate. The cash
funding for defined benefit pension schemes is estimated to increase
by a further £0.5 million (excluding Pension Protection Fund levy)
during 2007.

Deferred tax liabilities have decreased by £64.8 million from
£547.2 million to £482.4 million primarily due to the impairment
of intangible assets.

Total equity at 31 December 2006 was £723.2 million, a decrease of
£30.5 million from £753.7 million at 1 January 2006. The decrease
reflects the £33.7 million total recognised income and expense for
the period, the payment dividends of £63.7 million, £1.6 million debit
to equity for equity-settled share-based payments, and £1.1 million
proceeds from the issue of new shares for maturing SAYE and
executive share option schemes.

Cash flow and treasury
Cash generated from operating activities has decreased by
£51.5 million from £276.8 million to £225.3 million. The reduced
cash flow for the Group reflects the £39.5 million decrease in Group
operating profits before non-recurring items.

The principal cash outflows in 2006 related to £32.0 million interest
paid on borrowings and finance leases (2005: £35.1 million), net tax
paid of £47.5 million (2005: £55.5 million), capital expenditure of
£75.0 million (2005: £41.0 million), £4.2 million (2005: £86.5 million)
expended on acquisitions and the £63.7 million payment of equity
dividends (2005: £60.2 million). Other than from operating activities
the principal cash inflows in 2006 related to £47.7 million (2005: £nil
million) relating to disposal of subsidiary undertakings, £4.2 million
(2005: £9.8 million) from the disposal of fixed
assets, £0.5 million (2005: £0.6 million) received from associates
and £1.1 million (2005: £17.6 million) proceeds on the issue
of new share capital following the exercise of share options under
various schemes.
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Cash flow movements

2006 2005
£m £m

Cash generated from operations 225.3 276.8

Interest paid on borrowings and finance leases (32.0) (35.1)

Tax paid (47.5) (55.5)

Net capital expenditure (72.8) (37.0)

Equity dividend paid (63.7) (60.2)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (4.2) (86.5)

Net proceeds on disposal
of subsidiary undertakings 47.7 –

Other sundry movements (1.2) 12.6

Purchase of shares under share buy-back – (52.7)

Reduction/(increase) in net debt 51.6 (37.6)

At 31 December 2006 committed facilities of £728.2 million were
available to the Group, of which £259.5 million was available for
draw-down. No new financing facilities were procured in 2006 and
no debt facilities were repaid other than in accordance with their
normal maturity date.

Committed financing facilities

2006 2005
£m £m

£269 million syndicated unsecured bank loan 269.0 269.0

US$ and £ private placements 442.5 442.5

Finance leases 16.0 18.4

Acquisition loan notes and other bank loans 0.7 0.8

Total 728.2 730.7

Drawn facilities (including bank guarantees
and before capitalised issue costs) 468.7 511.2

Undrawn facilities 259.5 219.5

Key performance indicators
The key performance indicators for the Group are primarily financial.
These include revenue growth, operating profit growth and operating
margin. Relevant key performance indicators for each division are
included in the respective sections of the Business Review.

Employees

The media industry relies on the commitment, creativity and
motivation of all its employees. People are central to the ongoing
development and success of our business.

We are committed to equality of opportunity in all our employment
practices, to ensure we attract and retain the best people. In 2006
women made up 42% of staff and the proportion of women
occupying senior managerial roles was 22%.

During the year, in which the Group experienced a challenging
business environment, the voluntary rate of employee turnover was
19%, which compared with a media and publishing sector average
in 2006 of 18% (Source: Chartered Institute of Personnel and
Development (CIPD) Recruitment Retention and Turnover Survey,
June 2006). In 2006 the retention rate, defined as employees in the
Group’s employment for the full 12 months, was 68%.

During the year the Group’s absenteeism rate, which follows the
common definition used by the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration
Service (ACAS), was an average of 2%. This is in line with the national
average across the media and publishing sector of 2% (Source:
CIPD, Absence Management Survey, July 2006).

In order to ensure that we remain competitive on base salary, we
benchmark staff levels within the Group. We benchmark against
specifically tailored groups of organisations, with which we compete
for sector-specific talent, and the general market, from which we
continue to attract talent in the functional areas.

In addition to base salary, the majority of our employees have the
opportunity to participate in performance-related incentive schemes.
For many staff this is delivered as profit share, linked to performance
against the budgeted profit targets. Senior executives’ incentive
schemes are directly connected both to the delivery of profitability
targets, as well as personalised key tasks linked to the achievement
of one or more elements of the business strategy. These key tasks
must move the business forward in a significant and observable way.

We also provide a competitive range of benefits to employees,
including health and life insurance, the opportunity to join a Group-
wide defined contribution pension scheme and to participate in a
Save As You Earn share plan.

In 2006 we received shareholder approval for a revised long-term
incentive scheme, which will aid the performance and retention of
senior executives to deliver value to our shareholders.
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Environmental and social

Our environmental and social policy and statement, together with a
review of our performance during 2006, is set out in the Corporate
Responsibility Report on page 26.

Risks and uncertainties

There is an ongoing process for the identification, evaluation and
management of the significant risks faced by the Group. This is
described in the Internal Control section of the Corporate Governance
Report on page 38.

Operational The key risks arising from operations relate to
organisation and people, advertising, circulation, pensions and
business continuity.

Organisation and people
The ability to execute and implement our strategic and business
plans relies on the appropriate group structure, culture and availability
of talent. Our extensive review of the Group’s businesses, operating
models and structure concluded that our focus should be on our
National newspaper titles, key Regional titles, and UK digital assets.
A new technology-led operating model will be adopted to provide
a stronger platform for long-term growth. The ability to complete
the transition will be reliant upon the success of our change
management programme.

Advertising
The loss of major clients or reduction in a sector may adversely affect
advertising, which is a significant proportion of our revenue. We are
investing in our advertising functions using state-of-the-art technology
to improve customer service. We have strengthened our online
presence through acquisitions and the launch of over 300 websites.

Circulation
We may experience further loss of readership due to comparative
cover price or competitive activity. Our approach is to continue to
focus on sustainable returns and appropriate levels of investment in
our titles. We have a programme of investment in colour presses
which is progressing to plan.

Pensions
Pension deficits may grow at such a rate as to affect the viability of
the Group itself or so that the annual funding costs consume a
disproportionate level of profit. Although this is carefully monitored
and there are regular reviews with trustees, there are a number of
factors which are outside our control, including interest rates, inflation
rates, mortality and regulatory change.

Business continuity
We are dependent on our technology, networks and manufacturing
capability. Business continuity plans are in place and monitored and
we have invested in our network and manufacturing infrastructure
and flexibility.

Environmental Key risks are described on page 31 of the Corporate
Responsibility report.

Treasury The key risks arising from our activities and our financing
facilities are liquidity, financing and interest rates, foreign currency
and covenants. The treasury policies for managing these risks were
approved by the Board in March 2001 and are summarised below.

Liquidity risk
Our policy is to ensure continuity of funding and flexibility. Debt
maturities are spread over a wide range of dates, thereby ensuring
that we are not exposed to excessive refinancing risk in any one year.
The maturity profile of debt outstanding at 31 December 2006 is
summarised above. Our liquidity risk arises from timing differences
between cash inflows and outflows. These risks are managed
through unutilised committed and uncommitted credit facilities. It is
our policy to maintain sufficient cash balances and committed
facilities to meet anticipated funding requirements for the next two
years. These resources, together with the expected future cash flows
to be generated by the business, are regarded as sufficient to meet
the anticipated funding requirements of the Group for at least the
next 12 months.

Financing and interest rates risk
Our exposure to interest rate risk is managed through the use of
interest rate swaps, options, caps and forward rate agreements.
Hedging transactions are undertaken after a review of the effect on
profit after tax of a range of interest rate assumptions and
probabilities, determined by reference to the general economic
climate and market forecasts for interest rates. In view of the
significantly reduced debt levels and forecasted low interest rate
environment, no debt was hedged at 31 December 2006.

Foreign currency risks
Less than 1% of the Group’s turnover and operating costs are
generated in currencies other than sterling. Given the minimal impact
on profit after tax of fluctuations in foreign currencies, we trade
foreign currencies at spot rates. The payment of interest and capital
on borrowings denominated in foreign currencies is all fully hedged
through cross-currency interest rate swaps.

Covenants risk
We seek to maintain standard terms for all our financial covenants
where possible. Our covenants are monitored on an ongoing basis
with formal testing of financial covenants at each half year end.
During the period the financial covenants of the bank facility were
revised following the extension of the bank facility to 2009 during
2005. The Company continues to comply with all borrowing
obligations and financial covenant obligations.

Outlook

We witnessed an encouraging finish to 2006. Although the current
environment remains challenging and volatile we continue to
expect advertising market conditions to stabilise during the year
with the rate of decline slowing. The combination of this stabilisation
and continued focus on cost reduction underpins the Board’s
confidence in the future, with 2007 performance in line
with expectations.
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Chief Executive’s statement

We had three key highlights in 2006 in the area of Corporate
Responsibility.

The first was formal recognition, for the second year running, of our
much improved health and safety systems and record, through the
award of the ROSPA Occupational Health and Safety Gold Award for
our performance in the three years to December 2005. The statistics
later in this report show that our record improved yet further in 2006.
This not only reflects our continued drive to reduce accidents, but is
a credit to all our managers and staff. Health and safety is
everybody’s responsibility and the improvements that we have seen
could only have been achieved by the whole team playing a part.

The second was again external recognition of our efforts through the
Energy Efficiency Accreditation Award certificate presented to Trinity
Mirror plc by the National Energy Foundation in December 2006.

Trinity Mirror is now able to demonstrate a much improved and more
systematic approach to environmental management, as a result of
the initiatives we have put in place over the last four years. We set
ourselves a number of challenging targets. As this report sets out, we
hit most but missed some. While I would of course have liked us to
have met all our targets, I believe that this performance demonstrates
that we have not set the bar deliberately low. We believe that our
environmental performance now compares very favourably with
others in the newspaper sector, but recognise that we need to
continue to work hard to meet the tougher environmental standards
increasingly required of large public companies.

The third was the launch of a Group-wide volunteering programme
which allows all employees time to make a difference in their local
communities.

Sly Bailey
Chief Executive
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Health and safety
Trinity Mirror’s improvement in health and safety has continued
during 2006. Our improving performance was recognised by a
second ROSPA Occupational Health and Safety Gold Award for our
achievements in 2005. Health and safety statistics for 2006 confirm
that the Company has again been able to fulfil its aim of continuing
improvement. A number of factors have contributed to this
success, including:

• An ongoing investment in new and safer production machinery and
equipment

• A Group-wide safety campaign to reduce accidents caused by
slips, trips and falls

• The provision of health and safety awareness training for managers
and staff

• A commitment from staff at all levels to improve safety and reduce
accidents.

The Board is delighted with this achievement and remains committed
to maintaining a consistent level of performance next year.

2006 health and safety initiatives
The Board was kept informed of important health and safety
developments through the Secretary and Group Legal Director. The
following activities took place during the year:

• A successful health and safety campaign was delivered throughout
the Group on the subject of slips, trips and falls. This type of
accident accounted for 62% of RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries,
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995) reportable
accidents in 2005, hence it being targeted for particular attention

• We completed the installation of new presses and ancillary
equipment at the Oldham printing plant and commenced work to
install new machinery at the Glasgow and Watford print sites.
Though such work is always challenging for health and safety on
an operational site the interfaces were well managed and a great
deal of effort went into maintaining safety standards

• A stress policy and procedures were piloted in one of the operating
businesses, providing valuable feedback before a wider roll-out
takes place across the Group in 2007

• Building Services Managers and Health and Safety Managers
attended fire safety training courses in order to prepare for
implementation of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2006

• New health and safety policies and procedures were introduced
covering employee volunteering and smoking at work. The latter is
designed to implement the requirements of national legislation that
will shortly come into effect prohibiting smoking in all enclosed
workplaces in the UK

• A number of health and safety awareness training courses were
delivered to senior executives and managers located throughout
the Group

• Compliance auditing and routine inspections continued at the
printing plants and office premises, with follow-up where
appropriate.

Group health and safety statistics
The tables below provide statistics for occupational health and
safety in 2006, with a comparison with the previous year. Analysis of
the data reveals that there has been very little change in the total

number of accidents recorded. However, there has been a marked
decrease in the number of RIDDOR reportable accidents and this has
contributed to a further substantial decline in working days lost.

Health and safety performance indicator

2006 2005

Fatalities – –

RIDDOR major injuries 5 12

RIDDOR ‘over three day’ injuries 26 35

RIDDOR occupational ill health/
diseases/conditions – 1

RIDDOR dangerous occurrences – 3

Total number of accidents 444 484

RIDDOR events frequency rate† 0.18 0.26

All accidents frequency rate† 2.65 2.72

Total days lost – accidents
and occupational ill health‡ 823 (0.04)% 1,109 (0.04)%

†Frequency rate = number of accidents per 100,000 hours worked.
‡Figure in brackets represents the percentage of total days worked by all employees in the Group.

Breakdown of accidents by type of event

2006 2006 2005 2005
RIDDOR All RIDDOR All

accidents accidents accidents accidents
% % % %

Slips and falls (same level) 34 23.5 62 23

Lifting and handling
of materials 28 12 15 12

Contact with machinery 3.5 5 6 6.5

Falls from a height 3.5 2.5 6 1.5

Stepping on or striking
fixed object 3.5 13 – 14.5

Struck by moving vehicle 7 2.5 – –

Contact with sharp/
abrasive material – 16 4.5 21

Struck by flying
or falling object 7 6.5 2.5 5.5

Contact with
hazardous substance – 2.5 – 2.5

Contact with hot
material/substance – 2 – 1

Object collapsing
or overturning – 0.5 – –

Use of hand tools – 2 – 1.5

Contact with electricity – – – –

Others 13.5 12 4 11

Total 100 100 100 100

Emphasis will continue to be placed next year on measures to reduce
accidents caused by slips, trips and falls and others associated with
manual handling.
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Health and safety enforcement activity
There were 13 visits to our premises by health and safety
enforcement officers in 2006, compared to 26 in the previous year.
These visits were primarily routine inspections to verify that the
Company was complying with statutory requirements. No
enforcement action was required and where the need for follow-up
action was identified it was promptly taken.

Future health and safety initiatives
To maintain and, if possible, improve on our health and safety
performance next year we intend to:

• Revise and update our general policy with respect to health and
safety, reflecting a commitment to establishing health and safety
management systems that comply with OHSAS 18001, the
occupational health and safety assessment specification

• Review and where necessary update the arrangements for fire
safety, in line with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2006

• Implement a new policy and procedures concerned with driving at
work, in line with guidance published by the Health and Safety
Executive and ROSPA

• Progressively introduce a formal stress policy and procedures,
after managers and staff have been provided with the necessary
training

• Revise and update existing policies and procedures for
engineering and construction projects to reflect proposed
legislative amendments

• Continue with the provision of health and safety awareness training
for managers and where appropriate other members of staff

• Monitor health and safety developments and promote further
improvements through the Group Health and Safety Forum.

Environmental management

Progress and highlights during 2006
Trinity Mirror has continued to work towards implementing the
environmental policy adopted at the end of 2005, which sets out the
Company’s core commitments in the areas of:

• Paper sourcing, sustainable forestry and recycling
• Energy consumption and greenhouse gases
• Volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions
• Waste management and recycling
• Environmental management systems.

The year began well, with the Company achieving Energy Efficiency
Accredited status from the Carbon Trust. This is an independent
award that recognises achievement in reducing energy use, based
on evidence of management commitment to the efficient use of
energy, investment in energy-efficiency measures and a trend of
successfully reducing energy consumption.

A particular effort has been made during the year to involve a wider
range of employees in the Company’s environmental programmes,
especially at office locations. Staff forums have been established at
Liverpool, Canary Wharf, Cardiff and Newcastle, with local
champions to drive energy-saving and waste-recycling campaigns.
Other forums will shortly be established at major office locations
in Scotland and the Midlands.

The Secretary and Group Legal Director remains the main Board
Director, with primary oversight of environmental issues.

The Environmental Steering Group continues to meet periodically to
review the progress of the corporate environmental programme and
to track and monitor the issues affecting the Company as a whole.
A new set of company-wide targets has been agreed for completion
by 2007. Performance in the key areas is reported below.

Paper sourcing and sustainable forestry
Trinity Mirror is one of the few companies in the newspaper sector to
have published clear policy commitments and a target in relation to
paper sourcing and sustainable forestry. During 2006 all paper
suppliers were once again surveyed to establish the tonnage of
paper that is recycled and how much virgin-fibre paper comes from
forest sources that have been certified as well managed. This shows
that during 2006, Trinity Mirror sourced 81% of newsprint from
recycled fibre or fibre from certified forests, against the target of 75%.

Newsprint – proportion of supply from recycled or certified fibre

Our scope for increasing further the proportion of supply from
recycled or certified fibre is becoming constrained, as we approach
the limits of what is technically feasible in terms of the recycled
content of newsprint and because there is now a scarcity of certified
virgin fibre in the marketplace. We have therefore committed to
continue to meet our existing target during 2007:

Target:
Trinity Mirror will continue to source 75% of its newsprint from
either recycled materials or virgin fibre that has been
independently certified as coming from well-managed and
sustainable forests.
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Energy consumption and greenhouse gases
Reducing energy consumption and managing the Company’s
contribution to global warming remains a high priority for Trinity
Mirror. We continue to monitor comprehensively the energy
consumption associated with our activities, covering not only the
operational activities where we have direct management control, but
also the principal activities that we contract out, notably the printing
of magazine inserts and product distribution by road. Trinity Mirror
now supports the international Greenhouse Gas Protocol Initiative
that aims to bring together a wide range of businesses and

government agencies to develop internationally accepted
greenhouse gas reporting standards. This year we have therefore
reported our energy consumption and greenhouse gas data using
the reporting definitions and ‘scopes’ specified in the Protocol’s
corporate reporting standard. We hope that this will increase still
further the transparency and comparability of our current greenhouse
gas emission reporting. It is our intention to move eventually towards
a greenhouse gas emissions inventory that fully complies with
the Protocol.

Notes:
1. Scope 1 covers all direct greenhouse gas emissions, ie emissions from sources that are owned
or under the direct management of the Company (Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard, 2004).

2. Scope 2 covers indirect greenhouse gas emissions associated with imported electricity use.
3. Scope 3 covers other indirect greenhouse gas emissions, i.e. where the emissions are from
sources that are not owned by Trinity Mirror and where the Company does not have
management control.

4. All numbers in italics are estimates. Where a – appears numbers were not available.

We have continued to pursue a range of energy-saving initiatives
during 2006, including the potential to install wind turbines at four
major print sites (Oldham, Cardonald, Cardiff and Teesside). As a
result, we are able to report a further year-on-year reduction in our
electricity consumption of 2.8%, or a reduction of 17% compared
with our target base year (2003).

Trinity Mirror energy consumption and associated CO2 emissions
2006 2005 2004

Consumption CO2 conversion factor CO2 emissions (tonnes)

Scope 11

Gas combustion (heating, all Trinity Mirror premises) 29,320,607 kWh 0.19 x 10-3 5,571 5,882 6,641

Oil combustion (electricity generation, all Trinity Mirror premises) 88,626 litres 2.69 X 10-3 238 247 608

Refrigerant gas loss (all Trinity Mirror premises) 2,508 kg 1,525 X 10-3 3,825 – –

Commercial vehicles (all Trinity Mirror-owned vehicles) 8,911,093 km 0.267 X 10-3 2,379 2,998 2,935

Scope 22

Grid electricity use (all Trinity Mirror premises) 124,432,324 kWh 0.403 x 10-3 50,146 51,605 53,196

Scope 33

Business travel (road, not involving Company vehicles) 17,467,571 km 0.19 x 10-3 3,319 3,244 3,998

Business travel (rail) 1,498,440 km 0.04 x 10-3 60 – –

Business travel (air) 5,453,953 km 0.15 x 10-3 818 988 1,101

Electricity for contracted printing 8,784,159 kWh 0.43 x 10-3 3,777 7,410 –

Gas for contracted printing 19,186,005 kWh 0.19 x 10-3 3,645 6,154 –

Electricity for contracted distribution warehousing 3,970,000 kWh 0.43 x 10-3 1,707 1,706 –

Gas for contracted distribution warehousing 7,552,000 kWh 0.19 x 10-3 1,435 1,435 –

Vehicle fuel for contracted distribution 4,500,555 litres 2.63 x 10-3 11,836 11,836 –

Total Group 88,756 93,505 –

Total Group per million pages of printed output 0.50 0.56 –
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As well as achieving Energy Efficiency Accredited status from the
Carbon Trust, we participated with them in a pilot study to investigate
carbon management in the supply chain. Using the Daily Mirror and
the Celebs on Sunday magazine as examples, the study built a
picture of the carbon footprint of each product. This involved
measuring carbon emissions at each stage in their life-cycle, from the
production and supply of key raw materials, through the processes
of printing and distribution to final product disposal.

We anticipate that further energy savings are possible during 2007
and have set a new energy target:

The water consumption of the Group’s ‘core’ sites during 2006 was
208,646 cubic metres.

Volatile Organic Compound emissions (VOC)s
The emission to the atmosphere of solvent fumes (VOCs) has
historically been one of the printing industry’s major environmental
impacts. But the introduction of new technologies and materials such
as water-based inks has created opportunities for greatly reducing
VOC emissions from the printing sector – especially in the cold-set
lithographic processes used in newspaper printing. During the last
few years we have been able to report a successive reduction in VOC
use at our own print sites, mainly as a result of switching to the use
of water-based chemicals. Our in-house consumption of VOCs has
remained at a comparatively low level during 2006, although there
has been a temporary increase at Oldham due to the commissioning
of new presses.

The major source of VOCs associated with Trinity Mirror products is
now likely to be with our magazine print contractors, where the use
of heat-set and gravure technologies offers less scope for VOC
reduction. During 2007 we will seek to get better measurements of
VOC consumption from our contract printers, with a view to
achieving further reductions in use.

Estimated annual consumption of Volatile Organic Compounds

(VOCs) by Trinity Mirror Printing sites during 2006

2006 2005 2004
Print site kgs kgs kgs

Watford 2,974 3,222 14,620

Oldham 26,000 400 2,147

Cardonald 8,328 2,979 19,890

Cardiff 10,000 10,939 12,150

Teesside 0 0 3,000

Fort Birmingham 26 0 230

Newcastle 18,000 19,000 19,000

Liverpool 0 0 6,000

Blantyre 1,300 2,500 2,820

Group total 66,628 39,040 79,857

Group total – kgs per million
pages of printed output 0.38 0.23 0.48

Target:
Trinity Mirror will reduce its internal electricity consumption by 2%
by the end of 2007 (against a 2006 baseline).

Waste management and recycling
Trinity Mirror has, as in previous years, achieved high rates of
recycling of hazardous wastes and paper waste from printing.
But the initiative to increase the recycling of general wastes,
especially from offices, has suffered from delays in installing the
necessary waste containers. Nevertheless, equipment for
segregating recyclables is now being rolled out and we expect to
have covered around 150 sites within the next few months. This has
given us the confidence to set a new target for 2007:

Trinity Mirror hazardous waste generation and recycling 2006

Total Total %
waste treated/ treated/

generated recycled recycled

Liquid wastes (litres) 1,119,490 1,088,144 97.2

Solid wastes (kgs) 205,962 100,098 48.6

Environmental management systems
The current press investment programme has had a greater impact
than anticipated on our plans to develop BS 8555 environmental
management systems at the major print sites. As a result of physical
disruption at the sites associated with the installation of the new
presses and changes in personnel, the timetable for BS 8555 has
slipped at all sites. The Groundwork Trust will continue to provide
training during 2007 and we expect sites to get back on track as
soon as the repress projects allow.

Environmental policy
The full version of the Company’s Environmental Policy was published
in the report and accounts for 2005. It has not changed and may be
found at www.trinitymirror.com/environment/environpolicy.

Ethics
For many years the Company has had a policy on Standards of
Business Conduct which we regularly review. The introduction to the
current policy states:

‘Trinity Mirror plc is the largest newspaper publisher in the UK and a
major UK plc. The continuing development and well-being of our
business depends on all of us maintaining the highest standards of
integrity and personal conduct in all matters which involve the
Company. The Company recognises its obligations to those with
whom it has dealings, namely its employees, shareholders, readers
and advertisers, suppliers and the communities in which its
businesses operate. Its reputation is one of the most vital resources
of the Company, and depends for its protection upon the honesty
and integrity of each and every one of us. This document gives

Target:
Trinity Mirror will achieve certification to the ISO 14001
environmental management system standard at the Trinity Mirror
Oldham printing site by the end of 2007.

Target:
Trinity Mirror will recycle 25% by weight of all general waste by
the end of 2007.
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guidance on how the essential standards of integrity and conduct are
to be maintained. It is not intended as a statement of new beliefs or
the creation of new rules of conduct. Rather, it is a reaffirmation of our
continuing values and practices.

Finally, this document should be read in conjunction with any specific
code issued to individual groups of employees (e.g. Financial
Dealings by Journalists) or any provisions of individual contracts of
employment.

The policy itself is available on the Company’s website and gives
guidance on conflicts of interest, the acceptance of gifts and
entertainment, confidential information, insider information, and
political and civic activities.

Charities
The Company’s policy with regard to charitable donations and other
such payments is as follows:

‘Trinity Mirror believes that it can best support charities through the
pages of its newspapers. This support will either be through appeals
to readers for donations or through editorial content, describing the
aims and activities of various charities. In every case the decision as
to whether or not to support a charity appeal or whether to run
editorial comment will be one for the editor of each newspaper.

Trinity Mirror plc will make direct cash donations to charities in certain
limited circumstances. The Company will, at a Group level, support
various charities connected with or associated with the newspaper,
printing or advertising industries. A second category of direct cash
support will be to charities operating in the communities immediately
surrounding Trinity Mirror’s offices and print sites. The charities that
are likely to receive support are smaller community-based charities
where a modest donation will make a big impact. It is unlikely that a
major national charity that just happens to be based very close to one
of our offices would receive a donation. There will be a further limited
general pool of funds out of which donations will be made to legitimate
and supportable causes that fall outside the above two criteria. There
will, however, need in each case to be a demonstrable business/
commercial reason why such support should be given.

Each of our regional newspaper companies will have a small budget
out of which they will make direct cash donations to charities working
in the community in which the newspaper is based. Scottish Daily
Record and Sunday Mail Limited will similarly make a number of
donations to appropriate charities based in Scotland.

The National titles of the Daily Mirror, Sunday Mirror and The People
are most unlikely to make direct cash donations. They will do so only
where they are asked to make a payment to charity in lieu of a fee for
an interview or some form of support. Any “corporate” donations
requested from the National titles are likely to be redirected to the
Group, as the Company’s headquarters share the same office
location as that of the National titles.

All “Group” donations need the prior agreement of the Secretary and
Group Legal Director. Any local business donations require the prior

agreement of the relevant Managing Director. In addition to cash
donations, the Company is active in making donations in kind in the
form of used computer equipment, furniture, books, etc. Through its
community involvement programmes, the Company makes available
members of its staff for volunteering and mentoring programmes.’

Community engagement
Community engagement is a core element of our local businesses,
with campaigns, appeals and a wide range of other local activities
forming part of the everyday activities of our titles. For example, this
support can either be by advertising the activities of a charity or by
running appeals through which our readers donate to good causes.
In addition, however, the Company also contributes directly, through
cash donations, to a variety of charities.

To back this work up with further commitment from our own
workforce, this year Trinity Mirror has introduced an Employee
Volunteering Policy which enables all our employees to volunteer to
work for a day to support a good cause in their area with their effort
paid for by Trinity Mirror.

To further encourage community engagement within the Group we
also have introduced an “unsung heroes” scheme to award and give
internal publicity to the employee who, in the view of their peers, have
contributed most to the local community over the year.

Risks and opportunities
Trinity Mirror is not a multinational nor is it engaged in ‘heavy’
industry. It is not, therefore, exposed to some of the risks faced by
those who operate in developing countries or with significant
environmental exposure. The greatest exposure for the Group would,
therefore, be a systems failure that led to a domestic failure of its
environmental, health and safety or ethical policies. It is unlikely that
a failure in any of these three areas would be catastrophic.

The Board believes that the Company’s main exposure would be one
of reputational damage. The procedure that the Company employs
to control and manage these risks is through a regular review of its
standards and systems and through training of relevant employees
and managers. The Company’s Standards of Business Conduct are
embedded within the culture of the Group. More recently the
Company’s health and safety policies and systems have been put
under review and have been consolidated and codified. More
attention is now being paid than in the past to environmental matters.
The Company believes that opportunities in these areas are, similarly,
reputational. We believe that there are advantages to being seen as
the employer of choice for those entering our industry, that decision
having been made on an assessment, amongst many other things,
of our corporate social responsibility programmes. Those
programmes will also be key in the retention of staff. We also believe
that there are obvious commercial advantages from being seen as a
socially responsible company.

Comments to:

Paul Vickers
Secretary and Group Legal Director
Trinity Mirror plc, One Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5AP
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Board of Directors

Sly Bailey, Chief Executive 12

Peter Birch CBE, Senior Independent Director 6

Sir Ian Gibson, Chairman 11

Sir Angus Grossart, Non-Executive Director 5

Gary Hoffman, Non-Executive Director 15

David Ross, Non-Executive Director 4

Vijay Vaghela, Group Finance Director 13

Paul Vickers, Secretary and Group Legal Director 1

Laura Wade-Gery, Non-Executive Director 14

Executive Committee

Sly Bailey, Chief Executive 12

Vijay Vaghela, Group Finance Director 13

Paul Vickers, Secretary and Group Legal Director 1

Steve Bird, Group Human Resources Director 3

Nick Fullagar, Director of Corporate Communications 7

Georgina Harvey, Managing Director, Regional Newspapers 2

Rupert Middleton, Director of Manufacturing 9

Tony Pusey, Group Information Technology Director 8

Richard Webb, Managing Director, National Newspapers 10

7
8 9

13

14
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Board of Directors

Sly Bailey (45)
Chief Executive
Sly joined the Board in February 2003. She started her media career
in advertising sales at the Guardian and then The Independent. In
1989 she joined IPC Media Limited as Head of Classified Advertising
Sales and joined their Board in 1994 as Advertising Director. In 1997
Sly was appointed Managing Director of IPC tx, the TV listings
division. In December 1999 she was appointed Chief Executive of
IPC Media Limited and subsequently led the sale of the business to
AOL Time Warner. Sly was previously a non-executive director of
Littlewoods Plc. Currently she is on the Press Association Board and
is also Senior Independent Director at EMI as well as President of
NewstrAid, a charity for the distribution and retail trade.

Peter Birch CBE (69)
Senior Independent Director
Peter joined the Board in March 1998 and was Chairman of Trinity
until September 1999. He started his commercial career at Nestlé
and then moved to Gillette, eventually becoming Managing Director,
Gillette UK. He then joined Abbey National where he served as Chief
Executive between 1984 and 1998. He is currently Chairman of
Kensington Group plc and Trigold plc. He was Chairman of Land
Securities plc until 1 January 2007. He is a director of Travelex plc,
Lamprell plc and Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited. He is also an
adviser to N M Rothschild & Sons Limited and Cambridge Place
Investment Management LLP.

Sir Ian Gibson CBE (60)
Chairman
Sir Ian joined the Board of Trinity Mirror and was appointed Chairman
on 4 May 2006. Sir Ian was Chairman of BPB plc until the end of
2005 and currently holds Non-Executive Directorships at GKN plc,
Greggs plc and is the Senior Non-Executive Director at Northern
Rock plc. Previously he was President of Nissan Europe and Senior
Vice President of Nissan Group. He has also held Non-Executive
Directorships at Pro Drive Ltd. and Chelys Ltd. He was on the Court
of the Bank of England and was Deputy Chairman of Asda Group plc.

Sir Angus Grossart (69)
Non-Executive Director
Sir Angus joined the Board in September 1999 having previously
been a director of Mirror Group since 1998. He is qualified as both a
chartered accountant and advocate and practised for some years at
the Scottish bar. He founded and chairs the Scottish merchant bank
Noble Grossart. He is a former vice-chairman of The Royal Bank of
Scotland Plc and is a director of Scottish and Newcastle Plc. He is a
former Chairman of the National Galleries of Scotland and Trustee of
the National Heritage Memorial Fund and is Chairman of the National
Museums of Scotland. He has been Chairman or a director of a wide
range of public and private companies in the UK, Canada and the
United States involved in investment, investment management,
insurance, construction, oil and gas, property, media and other sectors.

Gary Hoffman (46)
Non-Executive Director
Gary joined the Board in March 2005. He is Group Vice Chairman
of Barclays, having previously been Chairman of Barclays UK
Banking and Chairman of Barclaycard. Gary joined Barclays’ Main
Board in January 2004. He began his career in Barclays in 1982 and
held various positions until he was appointed Managing Director,
Marketing and Distribution in 1998. Gary was responsible for the
launch of internet banking as well as setting up Barclaycall, the
telephone banking service. He is a Board member of both Visa
International and Visa Europe.

David Ross (41)
Non-Executive Director
David joined the Board in February 2004. He qualified as a chartered
accountant with Arthur Andersen & Co. He co-founded and is
currently Deputy Chairman of The Carphone Warehouse, Europe’s
leading mobile communication retailer. He took a lead role with The
Carphone Warehouse IPO in July 2000. He is Chairman of National
Express Group Plc. He also holds non-executive directorships at
Wembley National Stadium Limited, Big Yellow Self Storage Plc and
Cosalt Plc.

Vijay Vaghela (40)
Group Finance Director
Vijay qualified is a chartered accountant and worked in private
practice with Deloitte. He joined Mirror Group in 1994 as Internal
Auditor. He was subsequently Group Treasurer and then Director of
Accounting and Treasury. He was appointed Group Finance Director
in May 2003.

Paul Vickers (47)
Secretary and Group Legal Director
Paul joined the Board in September 1999 having been a director of
Mirror Group since 1994. He originally qualified as a barrister and
was in private practice at the bar. He was legal manager of the
London Daily News, which he left to join the breakfast television
company TV-am where he subsequently became Assistant
Managing Director. He was previously a non-executive director of
Virgin Radio.

Laura Wade-Gery (42)
Non-Executive Director
Laura joined the Board on 4 August 2006. She is Chief Executive of
Tesco.com and a Director of Tesco Personal Finance. Previously she
was Group Strategy Director, Tesco plc. Prior to joining Tesco in 1997
Laura held positions with Gemini Consulting and Kleinwort Benson.
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Executive Committee

Sly Bailey
Chief Executive

Vijay Vaghela
Group Finance Director

Paul Vickers
Secretary and Group Legal Director

Georgina Harvey
Managing Director, Regional Newspapers
Georgina joined the Company in February 2005. She started her
media career at Express Newspapers where she was appointed
Advertising Director in 1994. She joined IPC Media in 1995 as Group
Advertising Sales Director for SouthBank and went on to form
IPC Advertising in 1998, where she was Managing Director. Georgina
became a member of the Board of IPC Media in 2000 and
was subsequently appointed Managing Director of Wallpaper* Group
in 2003.

Nick Fullagar
Director of Corporate Communications
Nick joined Mirror Group as a reporter for the Daily Mirror in 1980.
He is responsible for Group communications including investor
and public relations. He was appointed to the Executive Committee
in 2002.

Steve Bird
Group HR Director
Steve joined Trinity Mirror in 2005. Previously he was Group HR
Director at Lend Lease Corporation, a global property business best
known in the UK for its development of the Bluewater shopping centre
and the Greenwich peninsula. Steve has also held senior positions
at NatWest Group, Glaxo Wellcome and Ford Motor Company.

Tony Pusey
Group Information Technology Director
Tony was appointed Group IT Director in December 2000. Prior to
joining Trinity Mirror, he was Group CIO and Business Change
Director at Storehouse plc, which incorporates BHS and Mothercare.

Rupert Middleton
Director of Manufacturing
Rupert joined Trinity Mirror as Group Director of Manufacturing
in March 2004. He was responsible for developing an integrated
manufacturing division. Prior to joining Trinity Mirror,
Rupert was previously Managing Director of a division within The
Stationery Office.

Richard Webb
Managing Director, National Newspapers
Richard joined Trinity Mirror in January 2006 as Managing Director
National Newspapers. Previously he was General Manager of News
Group Newspapers, responsible for The Sun and the News of the
World. Prior to working in the newspaper industry he worked in
advertising and media buying, latterly as Deputy Managing Director
of Optimedia UK.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of Corporate
Governance. This statement, together with the Directors’ Report and
the Remuneration Report set out on pages 40 to 48, describes how
the Company has applied the relevant principles of the July 2003
FRC Combined Code. The Board believes that the Company
complies with most of the Code. Any exceptions are fully explained.

The Board
The Board is responsible and accountable for the Group’s
operations. The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to
itself, including the Group’s strategic plans, acquisitions or disposals,
capital expenditure, all financing matters, annual operating plan and
budget and our operating and financial performance. The Board
meets regularly and a schedule of attendance is shown on page 39.

The Board also delegates specific responsibilities to committees,
each of which has clear written terms of reference, as described
below. The Board did not believe that it was necessary to use
external resources to review its performance during 2006 but chose
to evaluate its own performance, that of its committees and of its
directors through an extensive questionnaire sent to each director.
This was a process that it had adopted in 2004 and 2005, having
used the services of external consultants in 2003.

In 2005 the form of the questionnaire and the detail of the process
itself was reviewed and amended following advice from the
independent consultant Dr Tracy Long, of Boardroom Review. The
questionnaires were reviewed by the Chairman and Secretary and
Group Legal Director, and a report of findings distributed to each
director and discussed at a meeting of the Board. The Board was
broadly satisfied with its performance and an action plan was created
for those areas for which it believed improved processes could
be introduced.

Following a Corporate Governance review in 2003 it was agreed that
all non-executive directors should serve as members of the
Nomination, Audit and Remuneration Committees. The Board
believes that an increasing amount of work is undertaken by these
Committees and that a non-executive director can only properly fulfil
his or her responsibilities if they are present during committee
meetings and are able to follow the detail of discussion and debate
held at those meetings. Similarly the Chairman, in addition to chairing
the Nomination Committee, is a full member of the Remuneration
Committee and attends meetings of the Audit Committee at the
invitation of its Chairman.

As a result of this policy it has been said that the Company does not
comply with certain parts of the Combined Code in that the
Chairman serves on the Remuneration Committee. The Board notes
that the Financial Reporting Council has recognised this issue and
that the amended Combined Code made allowance for Chairmen to
serve on Remuneration Committees. During 2007 the Board
proposes to review whether its policy remains appropriate.

Directors
There are currently nine directors: Chairman, Sir Ian Gibson; Chief
Executive, Sly Bailey; Senior Independent Director, Peter Birch; two
other executive directors; and four other non-executive directors. The
directors’ biographies are set out on page 34 and illustrate the
directors’ breadth of experience, which should ensure an effective
Board to lead and control the Group.

Gary Hoffman will assume the role of Senior Independent Director
following the AGM in 2007.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive has been set out in writing and approved by the Board.
The non-executive directors are appointed for an initial term of three
years and may be invited to serve subsequent terms. Before a non-
executive director is proposed for re-election by shareholders, the
Nomination Committee meets to consider whether his or her
performance continues to be effective and whether they demonstrate
a commitment to the role. The committee meets at least once a year
to review the performance of the Chairman.

The Board believes that all its non-executive directors are
independent. Sir Angus Grossart was, until April 2005, non-executive
Vice Chairman of the Royal Bank of Scotland, which is one of the
Company’s commercial bankers. As Sir Angus had no executive
powers in either company and is not involved in the consideration of
the commercial terms of the relationship, the Company does not
believe that this former connection affects his independence.

Gary Hoffman is Group Vice Chairman of Barclays and is an
Executive Director of Barclays Plc. Although the Company has
connections with Barclays, its relationships are in areas outside of Mr
Hoffman’s direct control and the Board does not believe that they will
affect his independence.

Every director is subject to re-election by shareholders every three
years. An assessment is made of any training needs on a director’s
appointment and the appropriate training provided. All directors have
access to the Company Secretary and, in the furtherance of their
duties, may take independent professional advice if necessary at the
Company’s expense.

The Board believes that the Chairman was independent at the date
of his appointment.

The Chairman has declared to the Company his other significant
commitments, which are his non-executive directorships of GKN plc,
Northern Rock plc and Greggs plc. The Board believes that he
devotes sufficient time to the Company to properly and fully fulfil his
responsibilities.

Corporate governance
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Peter Birch. Sir Angus Grossart,
Gary Hoffman, David Ross and Laura Wade-Gery are members. The
Committee meets to review the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements before their submission to the Board, to review the
appropriateness and effectiveness of its internal controls, accounting
policies and procedures and financial reporting, and otherwise
as necessary. There is an internal audit function to enhance the
rolling programme of review and improvement to the Group’s
internal controls. The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of internal audit activities.

David Ross is a Chartered Accountant and was Finance Director
of Carphone Warehouse. Peter Birch, Sir Angus Grossart and
Gary Hoffman each have extensive experience in the financial
services industry.

Kathleen O’Donovan, a Chartered Accountant, will become
Chairman of the Audit Committee following the AGM in 2007.

The Group Finance Director, other directors, the Group’s external
auditors and the internal auditors, as appropriate, attend meetings of
the Committee. The Committee has formal written terms of reference
which are published on the Company’s website. The website and the
Company’s intranet also carry details of the Company’s
‘whistleblower’ policy, which has been approved and implemented
by the Committee.

During the year the Committee, with the help of the Head of Internal
Audit, followed a process to review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process. An extensive questionnaire was sent to the Audit
Committee, other Board members and senior operational and finance
managers across the Group. The results were analysed by the Head
of Internal Audit and a full report was submitted for review by the Audit
Committee. There were no adverse findings. The report as a whole,
however, was discussed with the external auditors. Private meetings
were held with Deloitte & Touche LLP to ensure there were no
restrictions on the scope of their audit and to discuss any items that
the auditors did not wish to raise with management present.

The Committee reviewed the letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP
confirming their independence and objectivity. It also reviewed the
scope of non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP to
ensure that there was no impairment of objectivity. The Board has
accepted the Committee’s recommendation on a policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Gary Hoffman. Sir Ian
Gibson, Peter Birch, Sir Angus Grossart, David Ross and Laura
Wade-Gery are also members. The Committee meets as required
during the year to review the Company’s general policy on executive
remuneration, the application of the policy to the remuneration and
benefits of the executive directors and to recommend and monitor
the level and structure of remuneration for senior management.

The Remuneration Report set out on pages 40 to 46 contains a more
detailed description of the Company’s policies and procedures for
executive remuneration. The Chief Executive, the Secretary and
Group Legal Director and Group HR Director and Head of
Compensation and Benefits, as appropriate, attend meetings of
the Committee but they do not participate in discussions on their
own remuneration.

The Committee has formal written terms of reference which are
published on the Company’s website.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman. All the non-
executive directors and the Chief Executive are members. The
Committee meets as required to select and propose to the Board
suitable candidates of appropriate calibre for appointment as
directors. The Committee would normally expect to use the services
of professional external headhunters to help in the search for and
selection of candidates. It followed this practice in the case of Sir Ian
Gibson and Laura Wade-Gery. The Committee has formal written
terms of reference which are published on the Company’s website.

Administration Committee
The Administration Committee consists of the Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director and Secretary and Group Legal Director and
meets as necessary to deal with administrative matters of a day-to-
day nature.

Relations with shareholders
The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and private investors and responds quickly to all queries
received orally or in writing. The Chief Executive and the Group
Finance Director meet regularly with analysts and institutional
shareholders. At the Annual General Meeting all directors, including
Committee Chairmen, are available for questions. Twice a year the
Director of Corporate Communications, who also runs the
Company’s investor relations programme, produces a formal report
for the Board giving details of comment and ‘feedback’ received from
analysts and institutional investors. He is present during the Board
discussion of this report. Following his appointment as Chairman,
Sir Ian Gibson held meetings with a number of the Company’s
large shareholders. Communication is also made through the
website, which is regularly updated.

Accountability and audit
Operating and financial review
Through the detailed reviews of the performance and financial
position in the Chairman and Chief Executive’s statement (page 4),
and the Business Review (page 8), together with the Directors’
Report (page 47), the Board seeks to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of our position and prospects.
The directors’ responsibility for the financial statements is described
on page 47.
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Internal control
Internal financial control
The directors are responsible for the Group’s established system of
internal financial control and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the
review the Board has not been advised of any failings or weaknesses
which were deemed to be significant. No system of internal financial
control can provide absolute assurance against material mis-
statement or loss. Such a system is designed to provide the directors
with reasonable assurance that problems are identified on a timely
basis and dealt with appropriately. The key procedures that have
been established and designed to provide effective internal financial
control are:

• Management and organisational structure – the existing
organisational structure is considered appropriate to the size of the
Group. This clearly identifies levels of delegated responsibility to
operational management. The performance of senior management
is regularly evaluated and individual employees’ responsibilities are
clearly defined and communicated

• Financial reporting – part of the comprehensive management
reporting discipline involves the preparation of detailed annual
budgets by all operating units. These budgets are reviewed by the
executive management and are ultimately summarised and
submitted to the Board for approval. Weekly revenue and profit
returns are received from all operating units followed by monthly
management accounts, which are prepared promptly and reported
against the approved budget. Consolidated monthly management
accounts are prepared, including detailed profit analysis (with
comparisons to budget, latest forecasts, prior year and consensus
market opinion), and treasury report (including comparison to our
financial covenants), providing relevant, reliable and up-to-date
financial and other information to the Board. Revised profit and
cashflow forecasts for the current year are prepared and submitted
to the Board at quarterly intervals during the year

• Investment appraisal – we have a clearly defined framework for
capital expenditure which is controlled centrally. Appropriate
authorisation levels and limits beyond which such expenditure
requires the prior approval of the Capex Committee, consisting of
the three executive directors and the Director of Group IT or, in
certain circumstances, the Board, are clearly set. There is a
prescribed format for capital expenditure applications which
places a high emphasis on the overall Group strategy or logic for
the expenditure, and demands a comprehensive and sound
financial representation of the business case being put forward. All
significant corporate acquisitions or investments are controlled by
the Board or a Board sub-committee and are subject to detailed
investment appraisal and performance of due diligence
procedures prior to approval by the Board

• Functional reporting – a number of our key functions, including
treasury, taxation, internal audit and risk management, litigation, IT
strategy and development, environmental issues and insurance,
are dealt with centrally. Each of these functions reports to the
Board on a regular basis, through the Chief Executive, Group
Finance Director or Secretary and Group Legal Director, as
appropriate. The treasury function operates within the terms of
clearly defined policy statements. The policy statements exist to
ensure that we are not exposed to any unnecessary risk and that
where appropriate there is hedging against foreign currency and
interest rate risks. The Audit Committee reviews reports from
management, the internal audit department and the external
auditors to provide reasonable assurance that control procedures
are in place and are being followed. Formal procedures have been
established for instituting appropriate action to correct
weaknesses identified from the above reports.

Risk management
An ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks we face has remained in place throughout the
financial year and up to the approval date of the Annual Report and
Accounts. The process is subject to regular review by the Board
directly and via the Audit Committee.

This accords with the Turnbull guidance on Internal Control for
directors, as applicable for this accounting period. Although the
Board’s overall responsibility for internal control is recognised, the
positive contribution made by senior management to the
establishment and ongoing development of risk management within
the Group is acknowledged.

In reviewing the effectiveness of our system of internal control, the
Board has taken into consideration a number of key elements, which
include financial and investment controls, management reporting and
the various review, steering, policy and Board committees.

The following illustrate how the risk management process and the
system of internal control operated during the 52-week period ended
31 December 2006:

• Group internal audit – The Head of Internal Audit has recruited a
skilled and experienced team to enable the agreed strategy to be
fulfilled. The internal audit plan is risk-based and has a focus on
those areas which are critical to the achievement of business
objectives
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• Audit Committee – The role of the Audit Committee includes the
review, update and approval of the annual internal audit plan;
provision of direction to the internal audit function, external
auditors and management in the review of internal controls;
alerting the Board to any emerging issues; and consideration of the
draft papers prepared for the annual review of effectiveness of the
risk management procedures adopted by the Company prior to
being submitted to the Board for approval

• Risk Management Group – The Risk Management Group is formed
of the Executive Committee together with invited senior
executives. The Secretary and Group Legal Director has co-
ordinated the risk management activities of the Risk Management
Group, working closely with members of the Internal Audit
department. The agreed objectives for the risk management
framework have been achieved during the year and the action
plans for all significant risks have been reviewed

• Divisional and Group functional key risks – To enable consistent
and focused monitoring, reporting, evaluation and management
of significant Group risks, the Executive Committee owner of
each key risk and the relevant senior managers have documented
the plans, actions and initiatives which have taken place or
are underway

• Year-end compliance reporting – A formal process exists for year-
end risk management compliance reporting, requiring senior
operating Company, divisional and Group executive management
to confirm their responsibilities for risk management and internal
control. Ultimate compliance reporting is required of each and
every Board member.

Steps have been taken to embed internal control and risk
management further into the operations of the business and to deal
with areas of improvement which come to the attention of the
management and the Board. The Group’s systems of internal control
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material mis-statement or loss.

Further relevant information is included in the Corporate
Responsibility Review, published on pages 26 to 31.

Corporate governance compliance statement
The Company has complied throughout the financial year with the
provisions set out in the July 2003 FRC Combined Code, with the
exception of the constitution of the Remuneration Committee
(Provision B2.1).

Going concern basis
After making enquiries, the directors have formed a judgement, at the
time of approving the financial statements, that there is a reasonable
expectation that we have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

For this reason, the directors continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Table of attendance of meetings

Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee AGM

Number of
meetings in the year 11 3 4 1

Bailey 11 3 3 1

Birch 11 3 4 1

Blank(1) 4 1 2 1

Gibson(2) 8 1 2 –

Grossart 11 3 4 1

Hoffman 11 2 4 1

Ross 10 3 4 1

Vaghela 11 3 – 1

Vickers 11 3 3 1

Wade-Gery(3) 4 1 1 –

(1)Sir Victor Blank resigned from the Board on 4 May 2006.
(2)Sir Ian Gibson was appointed to the Board on 4 May 2006.
(3)Laura Wade-Gery was appointed to the Board on 4 August 2006.

The Nomination Committee met twice during the year and all then
serving members attended both meetings.
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Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) consists of Gary
Hoffman (Chairman), Sir Ian Gibson, Peter Birch, Sir Angus Grossart,
David Ross and Laura Wade-Gery. Sir Victor Blank was a member
during the period that he was a director.

The Committee is a committee of the Board of directors and has
been established with formal terms of reference approved by the
Board. The Committee has authority to determine the appropriate
remuneration, benefits and employment conditions for the executive
directors. The Committee also monitors the level and structure of
remuneration for senior management. The Committee sets the
remuneration of the Chairman (the Chairman does not participate
in any discussion of his remuneration).

The Committee fulfils its duties with a combination of both formal
meetings and informal consultation with relevant parties internally,
including the Chief Executive, the Secretary and Group Legal
Director and the Director of Group HR. Its principal external advisers
are New Bridge Street Consultants LLP (‘New Bridge Street’), who
were appointed by the Committee but who also provide
remuneration advice and technical support to the Company. New
Bridge Street does not provide any other services to the Company.

Remuneration policy
The Remuneration Committee and the Board have continued to
pursue their objective to ensure that the remuneration policy is fully
consistent with and supportive of the main strategic objectives of the
Group, and moves the Group further towards a performance culture.

The aim is to provide remuneration packages to ensure that senior
executives are rewarded competitively in relation to other relevant
companies, in particular to a chosen comparator group. The
Company’s broad policy is to provide remuneration of a median level
for median performance and at an upper quartile level for upper
quartile performance. The Company seeks to balance the ‘package’
for senior executives so that a greater percentage of the total
is variable and related to performance.

The main components of each remuneration package are base
annual salary and benefits, an annual bonus scheme based on
performance, share-based incentives and pensions.

In order to fully align the interests of executive directors with the
interests of shareholders, a significant proportion of directors’
remuneration is performance-related through the use of annual
bonus (comprising a mixture of cash and deferred share awards) and
a long-term incentive plan (‘LTIP’).

Base annual salary
Base salaries are reviewed annually by the Committee and are set
relative to comparable roles in selected relevant companies drawn
from the comparator group.

In relation to the salaries paid to executive directors and the executive
committee for 2006, we continue to engage New Bridge Street to
conduct an annual in-depth review of the competitiveness of total
remuneration in comparison to executive directors and senior
executives in our comparator group of media stocks and other
organisations with half to double the market capitalisation of Trinity
Mirror. The Committee is conscious of and keen to avoid the
‘ratchet’ effect that can be created by an over-reliance on such
comparative work.

In setting salaries for 2007, the Remuneration Committee, with its
advisers, decided on the continued use of the constituent
members of the FTSE 350 Media Index as the comparator group.

A second comparator group of pan-sector companies was also
used, consisting of companies of a similar size assessed by market
cap, profit and turnover. This group is used to validate data obtained
on the FTSE 350 Media Index.

Annual bonus
The Company operates an annual performance-related bonus
scheme for a number of executives, including executive directors. As
approved by shareholders at the 2006 AGM, the scheme now has
two parts: an annual cash bonus and a deferred share award equal
to 40% of the gross cash bonus. Deferred shares are held in trust for
three years and would normally lapse if an executive ceases
employment with the Company as a ‘bad leaver’ during the three-
year period. In accordance with ABI guidelines, dividends paid during
the deferral period are reinvested in further shares which are released
to participants following vesting of an award. The scheme provides
for annual cash bonuses up to a maximum of 110% of base salary
for Sly Bailey, 100% for Vijay Vaghela and 75% for Paul Vickers.
Members of the Executive Committee participate in the scheme with
maximum potential of either 50% or 75%. These payments do not
form part of pensionable salary.

Remuneration report
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In 2006 the executive directors’ targets were linked to budgeted
target operating profit, and individual key tasks designed to develop
and pursue the Company’s strategic development, with particular
emphasis on the corporate shape of the Group. Profit performance
was such that a payment of 70% of potential was payable. In relation
to their key task performance, Mrs Bailey received 28%, Mr Vaghela
30% and Mr Vickers 24%.

Executive Committee members had targets of a similar nature but
reflecting their direct operational responsibilities.

The targets for 2007 are not being disclosed at this stage for reasons
of commercial sensitivity. As in 2006, up to 70% of bonus potential
will be payable on targets linked to operating profit with the full 70%
only payable on the achievement of ‘stretch’ targets. The remaining
30% will be based on the achievement of certain key tasks as set by
the Remuneration Committee. Each of these key tasks must either
contribute to the achievement of one or more element of the
business strategy or move the business forward in a significant way.

The Committee considers that the performance conditions applying
to the annual bonus scheme are relevant and stretching and that this
results-driven approach is in the interests of shareholders. The details
of bonuses earned by executive directors in the period are shown
in the table on page 44.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
The LTIP was originally approved by shareholders at the AGM in
2004. Under this scheme the Remuneration Committee can
recommend the grant of awards of shares to any eligible employee.
Awards could take the form of either Performance Shares or
Matching Shares. Shareholder approval was given at the AGM in
2006 to modify and simplify the LTIP so that in future only
Performance Shares would be granted. The final vesting of these is
subject to continued employment within the Group and satisfaction
of a performance condition, as set out in the table on page 42.

Under the original LTIP an eligible employee could be granted an
award over Matching Shares which were linked to the investing by
an employee of all or a portion of his or her annual post-tax bonus in
the Company’s shares (Deposited Shares). The Matching Shares
element of the Plan has been suspended since 2005.

The normal maximum award of Performance Shares would be an
award over shares not exceeding 100% of that person’s base annual
salary. However, to facilitate the recruitment of a particular eligible
employee that higher figure is increased to 200% of base annual
salary. The highest awards in 2006 were 100% of base annual salary,
which were made to the Chief Executive. Details of all awards to
Executive Directors are shown in the table on page 46.

For Performance Shares granted in 2004 and 2005, vesting is
conditional upon the achievement of two distinct performance
conditions. Up to 50% of an award can vest if EPS growth exceeds
a range of targets above inflation (30% vesting for annual average
EPS growth of RPI+4% p.a., rising on a stepped basis to 100%
vesting at RPI+9% p.a.) and the remaining 50% can vest if targets
measuring the Company’s TSR against the performance of a
selected group of media companies are met (30% vesting for a
ranking in 10th position, rising on a stepped basis to 100% vesting for
a ranking in the top four positions).

For Performance Shares granted in 2006, vesting is solely conditional
upon the Company’s TSR compared to a selected group of media
companies that were the constituent members of the FTSE 350
Media Index at the start of the performance period, (30% vesting for
a ranking in 10th position, rising on a stepped basis to 100% vesting
for a ranking in the top positions).

For Matching Shares granted in 2004 and 2005, vesting is
conditional upon a range of EPS growth targets (with a match of 0.6
Matching Shares for every one Gross Deposited Share for annual
average EPS growth of RPI+4% p.a., rising on a stepped basis to
a match of two Matching Shares for every one Gross Deposited
Share at RPI+9% p.a.).
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The vesting of the Performance Shares to be granted in 2007 will be
determined by the Company’s three-year total shareholder return
(TSR) performance compared to the following group of 16 other
FTSE 350 media companies:

Aegis Group plc Pearson plc
British Sky Broadcasting plc Reed Elsevier plc
Daily Mail and General Trust Reuters Group plc
EMAP plc Rightmove plc
EMI Group plc Taylor Nelson Sofres plc
Informa plc United Business Media plc
ITV plc WPP Group plc
Johnston Press plc Yell Group plc.

For awards made in 2007, to determine whether the performance
condition has been met, the TSR of each of the companies will be
measured. The companies will then be ranked, in descending order,
according to their TSR, and the Performance Shares will vest
depending on the Company’s TSR ranking.

Thirty per cent of the Performance Shares will vest for median TSR
performance. This will rise on a stepped basis (as outlined below) to
100% for upper quartile performance. No Performance Shares will
vest for below-median performance.

Percentage of
TSR ranking of company shares vesting

10th to 17th (below median) 0%

9th (median) 30%

8th 45%

7th 60%

6th 70%

5th 80%

4th 90%

1st to 3rd (upper quintile and above) 100%

The Committee considers TSR to be an appropriate performance
measure as it aligns the interests of senior executives with those of
shareholders and complements the financial measures used in the
annual bonus scheme. TSR is independently calculated for the
Committee by New Bridge Street.

Directors’ shareholding
A shareholding expectation was placed on the executive directors in
conjunction with the LTIP. Within five years of the AGM in 2004 or of
the date of first appointment, senior executives are expected to build
a holding in the Company’s shares equal to the following value of
their salaries:

• Chief Executive: 150% of her salary
• Other Executive Directors: 100% of their salaries
• Members of the Executive Committee: 30% or 50% of their salary
depending on the level of their bonus potential.

If these targets are not met, a restriction will be placed on the
disposal of shares that vest to them under the LTIP.

Share option schemes
The Company operates an Inland Revenue-approved savings-related
share option scheme. The scheme is open to all employees,
including executive directors.

Although the LTIP is now in place, this report is required to set out
the detail of the existing share option scheme under which the
executive directors hold options. However, no further grants will be
made under this scheme.

2000 Executive Share Option Scheme
Options are exercisable between three and ten years from the date
of grant subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions. No
options will be exercisable unless the Company’s earnings per share
growth exceeds inflation, measured by reference to the Retail Prices
Index, plus an average of 2% per annum over a period of three years.
50% of each grant of an option to each individual is subject to a total
shareholder return comparison against the FTSE Mid-250 index of
companies on the date of grant. The other 50% is subject to a
comparison of total shareholder return with a group of selected
media companies. No vesting will take place on either measure
unless the Company’s ranking is at least median. For executive
directors and other senior executives options to the value of 75% of
base annual salary become exercisable at median performance with
a sliding scale to full vesting at 20th percentile performance. If the
performance criteria are not fully satisfied after three years then they
can be retested over a period of four, five and six years from the date
of grant.
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Each of the executive directors holds options under this scheme as
set out in the table on page 45.

Directors’ pension arrangements
Paul Vickers participates in the contributory Trinity Retirement Benefit
Scheme as well as the non-contributory Trinity Mirror plc Retirement
Plan, which together provide final salary-based pensions on
retirement at age 60 of up to 2/3 of his pensionable earnings subject
to the earnings cap referred to below. Vijay Vaghela participates
in the contributory MGN Pension Scheme, which accrues pension
at the rate of 1/60th per year of service on salary up to the earnings
cap referred to below. In addition to their pensions, spouse’s
pensions are payable on death and lump sums are payable if death
occurs in service.

As Vijay Vaghela and Paul Vickers are subject to the earnings cap,
they receive an annual cash sum equivalent to 30% of salary
in excess of the cap.

Following ‘A’ day on 6 April 2006 the earnings cap applying to the
pension benefits of Vijay Vaghela and Paul Vickers has been
maintained by amending the rules of their respective pension
schemes. The cap, currently £108,600, is increased every 6 April
at the discretion of the Company by reference to the Retail Prices
Index for September in the previous year. From 6 April 2007 the cap
will be £112,800.

Sly Bailey receives an annual cash sum to use for pension purposes
that is equivalent to 33% of her base salary.

Contracts of service
Each of the executive directors has a service contract with the
Company which can be terminated by either party giving one year’s
written notice. If any executive director leaves service at the request
of the Company (other than for gross misconduct) they will be
entitled to receive predetermined compensation equal to 12 months’
base salary and pension loss. Sly Bailey’s contract specifies that if the
Company terminates her contract after six months of any financial
year the prescribed sum will include an amount equivalent to her pro-
rata bonus entitlement for that period.

Paul Vickers’s contract is dated 28 April 2000, Sly Bailey’s is dated
9 December 2002 and Vijay Vaghela’s is dated 18 April 2003.

Current salaries of the executive directors after the most recent salary
review are: Sly Bailey £721,000, Vijay Vaghela £412,000 and Paul
Vickers £365,650, representing a 3% year-on-year increase.

Policy on external appointments
The Company acknowledges that its directors are likely to be invited
to become non-executive directors of other companies. The
Committee believes that these non-executive duties can broaden the
directors’ knowledge and experience to the benefit of the Company.
Executive directors are, therefore, with the Board’s permission,
allowed to accept one such appointment, as long as there is no
conflict of interest, and to retain any fees.

Sly Bailey is a non-executive director of EMI plc for which she
received a fee of £55,000 for 2006. Neither Mr Vaghela or Mr Vickers
currently have external directorships.

Performance graph
Legislation requires a company’s remuneration report to contain a
graph illustrating its performance compared to an appropriate ‘broad
equity market index’ over the past five years. As Trinity Mirror plc is
currently a constituent of the FTSE 250 Index, that index (minus
Investment Trusts) is considered the most appropriate form of ‘broad
equity market index’ against which the Group’s performance should
be measured. Performance, as required by the legislation, is
measured by Total Shareholder Return (share price growth plus
dividends paid).

As the main comparator Group for the Company’s shares is the FTSE
350 Media Index, relative TSR performance against that group is also
shown in Graph 2.
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Graph 2 shows the value, by the end of 2006, of £100 invested in Trinity Mirror 
at 31 December 2001 compared with £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Media Index. 
The other points plotted are the values at interim financial year-ends.
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Graph 1 shows the value, by the end of 2006, of £100 invested in Trinity Mirror 
on 31 December 2001 compared with £100 invested in the FTSE 250 Index 
(excluding Investment Trusts). The other points plotted are the values at interim 
financial year-ends.

0



44

Chairman and Chief Executive statement / Business review / Corporate responsibility / Board of Directors and Executive
Committee / Corporate governance / Remuneration report / Directors’ report / Group independent auditors’ report /
Accounts and notes / Unaudited other information / Holding company accounts and notes / Investor relations

Audited information
Remuneration for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006
The aggregate remuneration of the directors of the Company was
as follows:

Total Total
excluding excluding Pension Pension

Annual Taxable pensions pensions contributions contributions
Basic salary bonuses benefits Fees 2006 2005 2006 2005

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors

Sly Bailey 700 755 11 – 1,466 991 231 205

Vijay Vaghela 400 400 11 – 811 585 101 95

Paul Vickers 355 250 21 – 626 516 110 107

Non-Executive Directors

Peter Birch – – – 75 75 70 – –

Sir Victor Blank(4) – – – 41 41 50 – –

Sir Ian Gibson(1) – – – 144 144 – – –

Sir Angus Grossart(2) – – – 50 50 50 – –

Gary Hoffman – – – 50 50 40 – –

David Ross – – – 40 40 40 –

Laura Wade-Gery(3) – – – 16 16 – – –

Total 1,455 1,405 43 416 3,319 2,342 442 407

Total 2005 1,345 704 43 294 2,342 – 407

(1)Sir Ian Gibson was appointed as Chairman of the Board on 4 May 2006.
(2)The fees for the services of Sir Angus Grossart as non-executive director and as Chairman of Scottish Daily Record and Sunday Mail Limited are invoiced by Noble Grossart Limited.
(3)Laura Wade-Gery was appointed to the Board on 4 August 2006.
(4)In 2005 the Company agreed that Sir Victor Blank could sacrifice £178,980 of his fee. The fee sacrificed would be paid into his own defined contribution pension scheme. In order to achieve this
it was necessary for Trinity Mirror plc to adhere to this pension scheme which was done with the approval of the Inland Revenue. In 2005 a total of £150,000 was paid to the scheme with £28,980
being paid during the year. The arrangement, which has now ceased, was cost-neutral and imposed no additional liability on the Company. Sir Victor Blank resigned as a director on 4 May 2006.

Transfer value of
Accrued Transfer Real real increase in Increase in Accrued Transfer

pension at value at increase Increase accrued pension transfer value pension at value at
1 January 1 January in accrued in accrued (less director’s (less director’s 31 December 31 December

2006(1) 2006(2) pension pension contributions)(3) contributions)(4) 2006(1) 2006(2)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Paul Vickers 23 224 3 4 34 120 27 350

Vijay Vaghela 20 128 2 2 6 17 22 151

(1)Pension accruals shown are the amounts which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to the end of the year.
(2)Transfer values have been calculated either in accordance with guidance note GN11 issued by the actuarial profession or on a ‘least risk’ basis and adjusted to reflect the funding level on that basis
at the last formal valuation.

(3)The transfer value of the real increase in accrued pension over the year represents the incremental value to the director of their service during the year. It is based on the accrued pension increase
less the director’s contribution.

(4)The increase in the transfer value from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006 includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of the Company and directors,
such as stockmarket movements, and is net of the director’s contribution.

(5)Director did not pay any voluntary contributions during the year.

Directors’ pension entitlements
The following directors were members of defined benefit schemes provided by the Company during the year. Pension entitlements and
corresponding transfer values increased as follows during the year.
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The above disclosure of directors’ pensions is in line with the latest
Companies Act 1985 requirements. The figures for each director give
the accrued pension to which each director would have been entitled
had they left service at the end of 2006 (and the equivalent figure for
the preceding year and the increase in accrued pension over the
year). Also disclosed is the transfer value of the accrued pension at
the end of 2006 (and the preceding year) and the increase in the
transfer value during the year (net of directors’ contributions). The
transfer values represent a liability of the pension scheme where
funded, and of the Company where unfunded – they are not sums
due to be paid to the directors.

Non-executive directors
The remuneration of non-executive directors is determined by the
Board. No director plays a part in any discussion about his or her
own remuneration. The current remuneration consists of annual fees
of £40,000 for each non-executive director. The Chairman, Senior
Independent Director and Committee Chairmen receive additional
remuneration for providing these services to the Company, effective
1 July 2005, as follows:

2006
£

Chairman 180,000

Senior Independent Director 20,000

Chairman of Audit Committee 15,000

Chairman of Remuneration Committee 10,000

Noble Grossart Limited receives a fee of £10,000 per annum for
Sir Angus Grossart’s service as Chairman of Scottish Daily Record
and Sunday Mail Limited.

The Chairman and non-executive directors have letters of service
which are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
They cannot participate in the annual bonus scheme and executive
share option schemes.

The Board now expects that non-executive directors will acquire
shares equal in value to one times their annual fee during a period of
three years from the AGM in 2005 or from the date of their
appointment if later.

Directors’ activity 1 January 2006-31 December 2006

Executive Share Options

Balance
Balance (Exercised)/ Lapsed 31 December

Name Option price 1 January 2006 granted in year in year 2006 Exercisable between(1)

Sly Bailey 395.5p 505,689 – – 505,869 Feb 2006 to Feb 2013

Vijay Vaghela 544.0p 10,951 – – 10,951 May 2003 to May 2010

452.5p 14,751 – – 14,751 Apr 2004 to Apr 2011

470.5p 16,737 – – 16,737 Apr 2005 to Apr 2012

488.6p 102,333 – – 102,333 Aug 2006 to Aug 2013

Paul Vickers 544.0p 113,970 – – 113,970 May 2003 to May 2010

452.5p 140,441 – – 140,441 Apr 2004 to Apr 2011

470.5p 135,069 – – 135,069 Apr 2005 to Apr 2012

488.6p 133,319 – – 133,319 Aug 2006 to Aug 2013

(1)‘Exercisable between’ dates are the first possible exercise date for these options – this does not mean that the options are exercisable as performance conditions were not necessarily met.
The performance conditions are set out on page 42.

Interest in shares
The following directors held options to purchase shares under
a number of the Group’s share option schemes:



Beneficial interests
The interests of the directors, all of which are beneficial, in the
ordinary shares of the Company are shown below:

31 December 1 January
2006 2006

Executive directors
Sly Bailey(1) 60,885 51,505
Vijay Vaghela(1) 22,105 22,105
Paul Vickers(1) 41,559 38,550

Non-executive directors
Peter Birch 10,000 10,000
Sir Victor Blank (Chairman) (resigned 4 May 2006) 30,000 30,000
Sir Ian Gibson (Chairman) (appointed 4 May 2006) 18,850 –
Sir Angus Grossart – –
Gary Hoffman 12,000 –
David Ross 10,551 6,512
Laura Wade-Gery (appointed 4 August 2006) – –

(1)Total includes the following holdings of Deposited Shares in the LTIP: Sly Bailey 32,124; Vijay
Vaghela 15,950; Paul Vickers 10,687. On 22 May 2006 Paul Vickers exercised an option over and
retained 3,009 shares as a result of the maturity of a three-year SAYE scheme.

As beneficiaries under the employee benefit trust, the directors
are deemed to be interested in the shares held by the employee
benefit trust which, at 31 December 2006, amounted to 90,855
ordinary shares.

There have been no changes in the interests of the directors in the
ordinary shares of the Company since 1 January 2007, other than
that David Ross has increased his holding to 11,241 shares as at
23 February 2007.

The lowest price of the shares during year was 426.50 pence as
at 18 July 2006 and the highest price was 632.50 pence as at
1 February 2006. The share price as at 29 December 2006 (last
business day) was 469.50 pence.

Gary Hoffman
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
1 March 2007
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LTIP

Number Performance Matching Deposited Nominal
of shares Share awards Share awards Shares vesting date

2004 Award

Sly Bailey 70,673 108,896 32,124 3 June 2007

Vijay Vaghela 41,761 30,116 8,884 3 June 2007

Paul Vickers 43,002 20,418 6,023 3 June 2007

2005 Award

Sly Bailey 87,622 – – 11 April 2008

Vijay Vaghela 42,963 23,953 7,066 11 April 2008

Paul Vickers 39,006 15,810 4,664 11 April 2008

2006 Award

Sly Bailey 140,268 – – 30 May 2009

Vijay Vaghela 64,123 – – 30 May 2009

Paul Vickers 56,909 – – 30 May 2009

The shares in respect of the LTIP Awards granted in 2004, 2005 and
2006 are still held at 31 December 2006. There have been no lapses
or withdrawals during the year.

The Company’s share price on the respective dates of grant was
629 pence (2004 awards), 701.5 pence (2005 awards) and 505
pence (2006 awards).

Deferred Share Award Plan

Number Deferred Share awards Nominal
of shares granted in year vesting date

Sly Bailey 28,898 30 May 2009

Vijay Vaghela 15,568 30 May 2009

Paul Vickers 12,060 30 May 2009

There have been no lapses or withdrawals since the grant of
this award.

Savings-related share options

Exercised/ 31 December
Option price 1 January 2006 Granted in year lapsed in year 2006 Exercisable between

Sly Bailey 453.33p – 2,062 – 2,062 Jun 2009 to Dec 2009

Paul Vickers 314.0p 3,009 – (3,009) – Dec 2005 to May 2006

453.33p – 2,062 – 2,062 Jun 2009 to Dec 2009

Vijay Vaghela 453.33p – 2,062 – 2,062 Jun 2009 to Dec 2009

The share price on 22 May 2006 when Paul Vickers exercised his SAYE options was 502.50 pence resulting in a pre-tax gain of £5,671.97.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year. The directors are required
by the IAS Regulation to prepare the Group financial statements
under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union. The financial statements are also required by
law to be properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that IFRS financial
statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires
the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events
and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition
criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the
International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the
preparation and presentation of financial statements’. In virtually all
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance
with all applicable IFRSs. However, directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information

• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

The directors have elected to prepare the parent company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law). The parent company financial statements are
required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company. In preparing financial statements, the directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the parent
company financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.

Business review
The Business Review is set out on pages 8 to 25.

Principal activities and future development
The principal activity of the Group is the publication and printing of
newspapers, primarily in the United Kingdom. The analyses of
turnover and operating profit are included in note 4 to the financial
statements. A review of our business and activities during the period
is contained in the statement of the Chairman and Chief Executive on
page 4 and the Business Review on pages 8 to 25.

Our strategic intent is to create a more broadly based leading media
and information group by growing organically, by acquisition and by
developing opportunities for expansion in the new information
markets. The directors will develop opportunities in print and
electronic form.

Results and dividends
The loss for the 52 weeks to 31 December 2006 attributable to
shareholders after taxation and minority interest was £11.5 million.
The comparative for 2005 was a profit of £146.9 million. An interim
dividend of 6.4 pence per share has been paid on ordinary shares.
The directors now recommend a final dividend of 15.5 pence per
share, making a total dividend for the year of 21.9 pence per share.
Payment of the recommended final dividend will be made on 8 June
2007 to shareholders registered at the close of business on 4 May
2007. The payment of these dividends requires £45.4 million (2005:
£45.4 million), as disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements,
leaving a loss of £56.9 million (2005: profit of £101.5 million) to be
retained in the Group.

Charitable and political donations
During the year contributions for charitable purposes totalled
£68,000 (2005: £60,000), principally to various charities connected
or associated with the newspaper, printing or advertising industries
and local charities serving the communities in which we operate. No
direct political contributions were paid during the year (2005: nil). The
editorial stance of our National titles, and in particular that of the Daily
Mirror and the Daily Record, is politically left of centre and often
supportive of the Labour Party. Although we do not make direct
political donations, it has been in the best interests of the Daily Mirror
and Daily Record to sponsor, on commercial terms, certain events in
aid of the Labour Party. This is a practice that has been followed for
many years.

At the Company’s AGM held in 2004, various of our subsidiaries
received authority from shareholders under the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000 to make donations to political
parties of up to £75,000 in aggregate per annum. In 2006 there were
no such payments (2005: £nil).

Directors’ report



Employment policies
We pursue a policy of equal opportunities to all employees and
potential employees. We have continued our policy of giving fair
consideration to applications for employment made by disabled
persons bearing in mind the requirements for skills and aptitude
for the job. In the areas of planned employee training and career
development, we strive to ensure that disabled employees receive
maximum possible benefits, including opportunities for promotion.
Every effort is made to ensure that continuing employment and
opportunities are also provided for employees who become disabled.
Within the limitations of commercial confidentiality and security, it is
the policy of the Company to take views of employees into account
in making decisions, and, wherever possible, to encourage the
involvement of employees in the Group’s performance.

Group companies evolve their own consultative policies. Methods of
communication used include advisory committee meetings,
newsletters, bulletins, pension trustee reports and management
briefings. We have operated a savings-related share option scheme
since 1987 and all eligible employees are encouraged to participate.

Payment of suppliers
We have a supplier payment policy which provides for payment of all
suppliers (other than those with agreed alternative terms) at the
month end following the month of receipt of invoice. All companies
within the Group are encouraged to make payments in accordance
with those terms and conditions provided that the supplier has
also complied with them. At 31 December 2006, the Company had
an average of 32 days’ (2005: 32 days’) purchases outstanding in
trade creditors.

Share capital
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital are
included as note 30 to the financial statements.

Substantial shareholdings
So far as is known the only persons interested in 3% or more of the
ordinary shares of the Company as at 1 February 2007 were:

Holding
Number of shares in Company %

Barclays plc 20,508,937 6.99

Brandes Investment Partners, L.P.* 18,319,783 6.24

The Capital Group Companies Inc 28,766,733 9.81

Fidelity Investments 8,872,747 3.02

Goldman Sachs Group Inc. 17,027,176 5.81

Harris Associates, L.P. 38,365,438 13.08

Legal & General Investment
Management Ltd 11,312,244 3.85

Standard Life Investments 11,731,465 4.00

Tweedy, Browne Company LLC 13,960,967 4.76

*ADRs and ordinary shares aggregated together for disclosure purposes.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
During the year, the Company has maintained cover for its directors
and officers and those of its subsidiary companies under a directors’
and officers’ liability insurance policy, as permitted by section 310(3)
of the Companies Act 1985.

Directors
The directors of the Company who served during the period (unless
stated otherwise) are listed below:

Executive
Sly Bailey
Vijay Vaghela
Paul Vickers

Non-executive
Sir Victor Blank (retired 4 May 2006)
Peter Birch CBE
Sir Angus Grossart
Sir Ian Gibson CBE (appointed 4 May 2006)
Gary Hoffman
David Ross
Laura Wade-Gery (appointed 4 August 2006).

Their remuneration is summarised on page 44 in the Remuneration
Report.

Details of the directors’ beneficial and non-beneficial interests in
shares can be found on pages 45 and 46.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the directors are
required to retire every three years. Vijay Vaghela, who was last elected
in 2004, retires and offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with the articles of Association, Directors who are
appointed between Annual General Meetings are required to retire at
the next Annual General Meeting. Sir Ian Gibson and Laura Wade-
Gery retire and offer themselves for re-election.

Sir Angus Grossart, Peter Birch and David Ross will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM.

Kathleen O’Donovan will be appointed as a non-executive director
following the AGM on 10 May 2007.

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this
annual report confirms that:

• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s auditors are unaware

• the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken
as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are
aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

In accordance with section 385 of the Companies Act 1985 a
resolution proposing the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as
auditors to the Company will be put to the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Paul Vickers
Secretary and Group Legal Director
1 March 2007
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Trinity Mirror plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Trinity Mirror plc
for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of
recognised income and expenses, and the related notes 1 to 38.
These Group financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Trinity Mirror plc for the 52 weeks ended 31 December
2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are
set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view, whether the Group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the
information given in the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation and whether the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report described as having been audited has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also
report to you whether in our opinion the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the Group financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received
all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law, regarding directors’ remuneration and
other transactions, is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statement on internal
control covers all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report as
described in the contents section and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited Group financial statements. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
mis-statements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Group financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
mis-statement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Group financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with those IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2006 and of
its loss for the 52 weeks then ended

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as
having been audited has been audited has been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
Group financial statements.

As explained in note 2 to the Group financial statements, the Group,
in addition to complying with its legal obligation to comply with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, has also complied with the IFRSs
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

In our opinion the Group financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31
December 2006 and of its loss for the 52 weeks then ended.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
1 March 2007
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Consolidated income statement
for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006 (52 weeks ended 1 January 2006)

2006 2005
notes £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 1,053.0 1,089.3
Cost of sales (528.2) (518.8)
Gross profit 524.8 570.5
Distribution costs (114.8) (125.4)
Administrative expenses:

Non-recurring
Impairment of intangible assets 7 (250.0) –
Other 7 2.0 (2.6)

Amortisation of intangible assets 14 (10.6) (3.3)
Other (199.3) (201.7)

Share of results of associates 16 1.3 0.8
Operating (loss)/profit 5 (46.6) 238.3
IAS 19 finance credit 8 9.9 1.7
IAS 39 impact 8 (4.9) (6.6)
Other finance costs 8 (31.5) (31.0)
(Loss)/profit before tax (73.1) 202.4
Tax 9 19.9 (60.3)
(Loss)/profit for the period from continuing operations (53.2) 142.1
Discontinued operations
Profit for the period from discontinued operations 10 4.0 4.8
Profit on sale of discontinued operations 38 37.7 –
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent (11.5) 146.9

Pence Pence

Earnings per share (pence)
Adjusted earnings per share* – basic 12 43.6 51.3
Adjusted earnings per share* – diluted 12 43.5 51.0
(Loss)/earnings per share – continuing operations – basic 12 (18.3) 48.7
(Loss)/earnings per share – continuing operations – diluted 12 (18.3) 48.5
(Loss)/earnings per share – total operations – basic 12 (4.0) 50.3
(Loss)/earnings per share – total operations – diluted 12 (4.0) 50.1

*Adjusted items relate to disposed businesses (Magazines and Exhibitions division and traditional recruitment consultancy business), non-recurring items (including a £250 million impairment
of Regional newspaper titles), reduction in charge for share-based payments relating to 2004 and 2005, the amortisation of intangible assets and the impact of IAS 39. A reconciliation between
the adjusted and the statutory numbers is provided in note (i) on page 86.

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006 (52 weeks ended 1 January 2006)

2006 2005
£m £m

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes taken to equity 62.7 (2.4)
Tax on actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes taken to equity (18.8) 0.7
Share of pension scheme actuarial gains and currency gains recognised in equity by associates 1.3 –
Gain on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets taken to equity – 0.3
Tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets taken to equity – (0.1)
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 45.2 (1.5)
Transferred to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets – (2.7)
Tax on items transferred from equity – 0.8
Transfers from equity to the income statement – (1.9)
(Loss)/profit for the period (11.5) 146.9
Total recognised income and expense for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent 33.7 143.5
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2006 2005
notes £m £m

Non-current assets

Goodwill 13 61.1 72.8

Other intangible assets 14 1,357.3 1,616.1

Property, plant and equipment 15 420.5 387.3

Investments in associates 16 10.2 8.6

Deferred tax assets 22 74.3 97.9

1,923.4 2,182.7

Current assets

Inventories 17 7.0 7.2

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 – 0.5

Trade and other receivables 19 134.9 150.9

Cash and cash equivalents 32.8 33.2

174.7 191.8

Total assets 2,098.1 2,374.5

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 27 (346.3) (392.0)

Obligations under finance leases 21 (13.2) (15.6)

Retirement benefit obligation 35 (213.0) (305.6)

Deferred tax liabilities 22 (482.4) (547.2)

Provisions 23 (8.9) (12.2)

Derivative financial instruments 28 (107.4) (56.6)

(1,171.2) (1,329.2)

Current liabilities

Borrowings 27 (4.0) (58.7)

Trade and other payables 20 (163.3) (183.0)

Current tax liabilities (31.1) (37.5)

Obligations under finance leases 21 (2.8) (2.8)

Provisions 23 (2.5) (9.6)

(203.7) (291.6)

Total liabilities (1,374.9) (1,620.8)

Net assets 723.2 753.7

Equity

Share capital 31 (29.3) (29.3)

Share premium account 32 (1,120.0) (1,118.9)

Revaluation reserves 30 (4.9) (4.9)

Capital redemption reserve 30 (0.8) (0.8)

Retained earnings and other reserves 30 431.8 400.2

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (723.2) (753.7)

Total equity (723.2) (753.7)

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 1 March 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Sly Bailey Vijay Vaghela
Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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2006 2005
notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 26 225.3 276.8

Income tax paid (47.5) (55.5)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 177.8 221.3

Investing activities

Interest received 0.3 1.2

Dividends received from associated undertakings 0.5 0.6

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 2.1 2.9

Proceeds on disposal of land – 2.9

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary undertakings 47.7 –

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.1 4.0

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (75.0) (41.0)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (4.2) (86.5)

Net cash used in investing activities (26.5) (115.9)

Financing activities

Dividends paid (63.7) (60.2)

Interest paid on borrowings (31.0) (33.9)

Interest paid on finance leases (1.0) (1.2)

Increase in borrowings – 45.0

Repayment of borrowings (40.1) (18.1)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (2.4) (1.8)

Purchase of shares under share buy-back programme – (52.7)

Issue of ordinary share capital 1.1 17.6

Purchase of own shares – (5.7)

Decrease in bank overdrafts (14.6) (4.6)

Net cash used in financing activities (151.7) (115.6)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (0.4) (10.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 33.2 43.4

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 32.8 33.2
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1 General information
Trinity Mirror plc is a company incorporated in England and Wales under

the Companies Act 1985 and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The

address of the registered office is One Canada Square, Canary Wharf,

London, E14 5AP. The principal activities of the Group are discussed in

the Business Review on pages 8 to 25.

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the

Board of directors on 1 March 2007.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the following

Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these

financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

• IFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures

• IFRS 8 Operating segments

• IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29

• IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

• IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives

• IFRIC 10 Interim financial reporting and impairment

• IFRIC 11 IFRS 2: Group and treasury share transactions

• IFRC 12 Service concession arrangements.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and

Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the

financial statements of the Group except for additional disclosures on

capital and financial instruments when the relevant standards come into

effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2007.

2 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these

financial statements are set out below. These policies have been

consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Adoption of International Financial Reporting and Accounting
Standards (IFRS)
The Group has adopted Standards and Interpretations issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the

IASB that are relevant to its operations.

Individual standards and interpretations have to be adopted by the

European Commission (EC) and the process leads to a delay between

the issue and adoption of new standards and interpretations and in some

cases amendments by the EC. Where the Group has applied a new

standard or interpretation in advance of EC adoption this will be noted

below in the relevant policy statement.

The individual company financial statements of Trinity Mirror plc for the

52 weeks ended 31 December 2006, prepared in accordance with

applicable United Kingdom law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles (UK GAAP), are presented on pages 89 to 96.

Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS

and IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act

1985 applicable to Groups reporting under IFRS. These are subject to

ongoing amendment by the IASB and subsequent endorsement by the

European Commission and are therefore subject to change. As a result,

information contained herein will need to be updated for any subsequent

amendment to IFRS or any new Standards that the Group may elect to

adopt early. The financial statements have been prepared under the

historical cost convention as modified by revaluation of freehold

properties. A summary of the more important Group accounting policies

is set out below, together with an explanation of where changes have

been made to previous policies.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of Trinity Mirror plc and all entities controlled by it for the 52

weeks ended 31 December 2006. Control is achieved where the

Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of

an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

On the acquisition of a business, including an interest in an associated

undertaking or a joint venture, fair values are attributed to the Group’s

share of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the business existing at the

date of acquisition and reflecting the conditions as at that date.

Results of businesses are included in the consolidated income statement

from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of

relinquishing control as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of

subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used in the

preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements. All intra-

group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated

on consolidation.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at fair value, net of applicable discounts and value-

added tax.

Advertising revenue is recognised upon publication and circulation

revenue is recognised at the time of sale. Other revenue including digital

revenue is recognised at the time of sale or provision of service.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase

method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the

fair values, at the date of completion, of assets acquired, liabilities

incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in

exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable

to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities

and contingent liabilities are recognised at their fair values at the

acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially

measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination

over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable

assets (including intangible assets other than goodwill), liabilities and

contingent liabilities. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair

value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

immediately in the income statement. The interest of minority shareholders

in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the

acquiree’s net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Investment in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence

but not control and are accounted for by the equity method of

accounting, initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is

recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition

movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.

Joint ventures

The Group has joint venture arrangements where separate entities have

been established. In each entity the Group or one of its subsidiaries has

an interest and along with other venturers jointly controls these entities.

When material, the Group reports its interest in jointly controlled entities

using equity accounting and its share of the entities’ profit or loss is

accounted for as a single entry in the Group’s consolidated income

statement. Where the Group transacts with its jointly controlled entities,

unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s

interest in the joint venture.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise acquired publishing rights and titles in

respect of print publishing activities, and customer relationships and

domain names in respect of online activities. On the acquisition of a

business the cost of the investment is allocated between categories of

assets and liabilities on a fair value basis. The fair value of intangible

assets is assessed based on discounted cash flows.

Publishing rights and titles are initially recognised as an asset at fair value

with an indefinite economic life and subsequently measured at fair value

less any accumulated impairment losses. They are not subject to

amortisation and are tested for impairment. For the purpose of

impairment testing, publishing rights and titles are tested annually, or

more frequently when there is an indication that the recoverable amount

is less than the carrying amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair

value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use the

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a

pre-tax discount rate that reflects time value of money and risks specific

to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement in

the period it occurs and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Customer relationships and domain names are amortised over the expected

life over which those assets will generate revenues and profits for the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of

acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable

assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at

the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and reviewed for

impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in

the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the

attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the

profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has

been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being tested

for impairment at that date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes purchase price and all directly attributable costs of bringing

the asset to its location and condition necessary to operate as intended.

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any

recognised impairment loss. Depreciation commences when the assets

are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, other than freehold

land and assets under construction, using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful lives detailed below:

Buildings 15-67 years

Plant and equipment 3-25 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected

useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, over

the term of the relevant lease.

Finance leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised at their fair value at the

inception of the lease or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease

payments. The asset is recognised within property, plant and equipment

and the corresponding liability to the lessor is included within obligations

under finance leases. Lease payments are apportioned between finance

charges (which are charged to the income statement) and reductions

in the lease obligation.

Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income

statement in equal annual amounts over the lease term. Benefits received

as incentives to enter into the agreement are also spread on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currency

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the

average rate applicable to the accounting period. At each balance sheet

date, items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the

rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising

on settlement and on retranslation are included in the income statement

for the period.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and bank overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums

payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are

accounted for on an accrual basis to the income statement using the

effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the

instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which

they arise.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s

balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, including cross-currency

interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps and other hedging instruments

to minimise exposure to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency

exchange rates and interest rates. The Group does not use derivative

financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are separately recognised at fair value in

the financial statements. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial

instruments are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in commercial contracts are treated as separate

derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to

those of the underlying contract, with unrealised gains or losses reported

in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest. Conversion to a readily known

amount of cash occurs over a short period and is subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value. Therefore balances are stated at

their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated

irrecoverable amounts.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest-bearing. Payments occur over a short

period and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Therefore balances are stated at their nominal value.

Investments

Current investments have been classified as available-for-sale financial

assets, and are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from

changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity net of deferred tax,

until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,

at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity

is included in the income statement for the period.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost represents materials, direct labour and production overheads.

Website development costs

Costs incurred in the development and maintenance of websites are

expensed as incurred, and are only capitalised if the criteria specified

in IAS 38 Intangible Assets, are met.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as

a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required

to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the

balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect

is material.

Tax

The tax expense represents the sum of the corporation tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The corporation tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the income

statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are

taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are

never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the

financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the

computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance

sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against

which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences

arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in

joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of

the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance

sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset

to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in

the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax

is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to

items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax

is also dealt with in equity.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits – retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of funded defined benefit (final salary)

pension schemes, all of which have been set up under Trusts that hold

their financial assets separately from those of the Group and are

controlled by the Trustees.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit

pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the

balance sheet date less the fair value of scheme assets, together with

adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service

costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated at each reporting date

by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The

present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by

discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of

high-quality corporate bonds approximating to the terms of the related

pension liability. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in the

statement of recognised income and expense.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are

charged as an expense when they are made.

Employee benefits – share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled benefits to certain employees. These

equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the

date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on

a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s

estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of

non-market-based vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured by use of a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binomial)

model or a modified Black-Scholes calculation. The expected life used in

the model has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimates, for

the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural

considerations.

Non-recurring items
Items which are deemed to be non-recurring by virtue of their nature or

size are included under the statutory classification appropriate to their

nature but are separately disclosed on the face of the income statement

to assist in understanding the financial performance of the Group.

Libel litigation
Accruals are made for legal costs in respect of libel litigation in progress.

Provision is made for estimated damages where it is judged probable that

damages will be payable.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a

liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the

dividends are approved.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly

attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as

a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.

Where the Group’s own shares are purchased the consideration paid,

including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes),

is deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s equity holders until the

shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. The nominal value of

shares cancelled is shown in the capital redemption reserve. Where such

shares are subsequently sold or reissued any consideration received,

net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the

related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Group’s

equity holders.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and finance

lease receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of

allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated based on prior experience

and assessment of the current economic environment.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is

limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings

assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group has no

significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large

number of counterparties and customers.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, described

above, management has made the following judgements that have

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements.

Acquisitions

Judgements have been made in respect of the identification of intangible

assets based on pre-acquisition forecasts, analysis and negotiations.

The initial valuations of acquired intangible assets will be reviewed

for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if necessary.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of

estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible publishing rights and titles in respect of

print publishing activities, and intellectual property in respect of online

activities, are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the

cash-generating units to which these intangible assets have been

allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the entity to estimate the

future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and

a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

Retirement benefits

Actuarial assumptions adopted and external factors can significantly vary

the surplus or deficit of funded defined benefit pension schemes. Advice

is sourced from independent actuaries in selecting suitable assumptions.
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2006 2005
3 Revenue £m £m

Circulation 390.4 392.0

Advertising 555.5 597.7

Other 107.1 99.6

Continuing operations 1,053.0 1,089.3

Discontinued operations 20.1 32.7

Total 1,073.1 1,122.0

4 Business and geographical segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into the following divisions: Regionals, Nationals, Sports and Central costs.

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. In 2005 the Group operated a Magazines and Exhibitions

division which it disposed of during 2006. Since its disposal, it is disclosed as discontinued operations. The secondary reporting segment

is a geographical destination analysis of revenue.

The Regionals division publishes a large portfolio of newspaper and online brands across the UK. The Nationals division, comprising the UK and

Scottish Nationals, publishes five daily and Sunday newspapers. The Sports division is a supplier of racing and sports betting information, with

four sports newspapers and related online activities. Central costs include costs not attributed to specific divisions. The revenues and costs of each

segment are clearly identifiable and allocated according to where they arise. Segment information for these principal activities is presented below.

Primary segments – business segment analysis
Continuing Discontinued

Regionals Nationals Sports Central costs operations operations
2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue

Segment sales 535.9 486.4 49.5 – 1,071.8 20.1

Inter-segment sales (4.8) (14.0) – – (18.8) –

Total revenue 531.1 472.4 49.5 – 1,053.0 20.1

Result

Segment result 118.1 80.9 15.8 (14.7) 200.1 5.8

Non-recurring items (248.0) 37.7

Share of results of associates 1.3 –

Operating (loss)/profit (46.6) 43.5

IAS 19 finance credit 9.9 –

IAS 39 impact (4.9) –

Other finance costs (31.5) –

(Loss)/profit before tax (73.1) 43.5

Tax 19.9 (1.8)

(Loss)/profit for the period (53.2) 41.7

Other information

Capital additions 6.2 69.0 0.1 1.2 76.5 –

Depreciation 17.9 21.3 0.3 0.2 39.7 0.1

Amortisation of intangible assets 10.6 – – – 10.6 –

Impairment of trade receivables 1.5 0.1 – – 1.6 –

Capital additions comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (note 15), and intangible assets (note 14), including additions resulting

from acquisitions (note 37).
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4 Business and geographical segments (continued)

Primary segments – business segment analysis (continued)

Balance sheet
Regionals Nationals Sports Unallocated Consolidated

2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
£m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Segment assets 964.5 977.0 47.7 (8.4) 1,980.8

Investments in associates – – – 10.2 10.2

Deferred tax assets – – – 74.3 74.3

Cash and cash equivalents – – – 32.8 32.8

Total assets 964.5 977.0 47.7 108.9 2,098.1

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (88.4) (100.6) (7.0) (9.8) (205.8)

Borrowings – – – (457.7) (457.7)

Obligations under finance leases – – – (16.0) (16.0)

Retirement benefit obligation – – – (213.0) (213.0)

Deferred tax liabilities – – – (482.4) (482.4)

Total liabilities (88.4) (100.6) (7.0) (1,178.9) (1,374.9)

Segment assets consist primarily of intangible assets, property and plant and equipment and trade and other receivables. Segment liabilities comprise

trade and other payables, other current liabilities and provisions.
Continuing Discontinued

Regionals Nationals Sports Central costs operations operations
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue

Segment sales 542.3 510.7 50.6 – 1,103.6 32.7

Inter-segment sales (2.7) (11.6) – – (14.3) –

Total revenue 539.6 499.1 50.6 – 1,089.3 32.7

Result

Segment result 147.4 91.2 17.4 (15.9) 240.1 7.2

Non-recurring items (2.6) (0.1)

Share of results of associates 0.8 –

Operating profit 238.3 7.1

IAS 19 finance credit 1.7 –

IAS 39 impact (6.6) –

Other finance costs (31.0) –

Profit before tax 202.4 7.1

Tax (60.3) (2.3)

Profit for the period 142.1 4.8

Other information

Capital additions 124.5 20.9 0.4 1.4 147.2 0.1

Depreciation 18.2 20.7 0.4 0.5 39.8 0.3

Amortisation of intangible assets 3.3 – – – 3.3 –

Impairment of trade receivables 1.1 0.1 – – 1.2 0.1

Capital additions comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (note 15), and intangible assets (note 14), including additions resulting

from acquisitions (note 37).
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4 Business and geographical segments (continued)

Primary segments – business segment analysis (continued)

Balance sheet
Discontinued

operations
(Magazines and

Regionals Nationals Sports Exhibitions) Unallocated Consolidated
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Segment assets 1,242.2 943.1 48.6 13.7 (12.8) 2,234.8

Investments in associates – – – – 8.6 8.6

Deferred tax assets – – – – 97.9 97.9

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – 33.2 33.2

Total assets 1,242.2 943.1 48.6 13.7 126.9 2,374.5

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (109.5) (111.5) (8.4) (11.8) (1.1) (242.3)

Borrowings – – – – (507.3) (507.3)

Obligations under finance leases – – – – (18.4) (18.4)

Retirement benefit obligation – – – – (305.6) (305.6)

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – (547.2) (547.2)

Total liabilities (109.5) (111.5) (8.4) (11.8) (1,379.6) (1,620.8)

Segment assets consist primarily of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and trade and other receivables. Segment liabilities comprise

trade and other payables, other current liabilities and provisions.

Secondary segments – geographical and source segment analysis

2006 2005
£m £m

Revenue analysis

United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland 1,046.5 1,083.7

Continental Europe 6.0 5.5

Rest of world 0.5 0.1

Total – continuing operations 1,053.0 1,089.3

The source of revenue relating to discontinued operations was primarily from the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland.
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2006 2005
5 Operating profit £m £m

Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Staff costs (note 6) 331.6 336.5

Cost of inventories recognised as a cost of sales 146.2 145.4

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

– owned assets 36.9 36.9

– under finance leases 2.9 3.2

Amortisation of intangible assets 10.6 3.3

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (0.1)

Operating lease rentals payable:

– plant and machinery 6.0 6.8

– property 8.1 8.2

Trade receivables impairment 1.6 1.3

Non-recurring items (note 7) 248.0 2.7

Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit fees

The audit of the Company pursuant to legislation 0.4 0.4

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.6 0.4

1.0 0.8

Other services

Other services pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.5

Other services relating to taxation 0.1 0.3

Services relating to corporate finance transactions 0.2 –

0.4 0.8

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £19,000 (2005: £18,000) for the audit of two of the Group’s pension

schemes. Future services contracted for relating to corporate finance transactions amount to £159,000 (2005: £nil).

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 37 and includes an explanation of how

auditor objectivity and independence are safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditors.

Total administrative expenses amounted to £457.9 million (2005: £207.6 million) including a £250.0 million (2005: £nil) impairment of Regional

newspaper titles and amortisation of intangible assets of £10.6 million (2005: £3.3 million).



61

http://www.trinitymirror.com/ir/results/

6 Staff costs

The average number of persons, including executive directors, employed by the Group in the year was:
2006 2005

Number Number

Production and editorial 5,338 5,575

Sales and distribution 3,345 3,813

Administration 1,528 1,677

10,211 11,065

All employees are employed in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland. The average number of employees for 2006 includes 10 (2005: 62)

in respect of businesses acquired during the year. The above excludes 1,109 (2005: 1,465) casual workers due to the impracticality of determining

an average.
2006 2005
£m £m

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments, incurred during the year were:

Wages and salaries 276.5 277.8

Social security costs 24.7 24.9

Share-based payments in the period 2.4 4.4

Share-based payments credit relating to 2004 and 2005 (4.2) –

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 1.0 0.8

Pension costs – defined benefit plans 31.2 28.6

331.6 336.5

Disclosure of individual directors’ remuneration, share options, long-term incentive schemes, pension contributions and pension entitlements

required by the Companies Act 1985 and those elements specified for audit by the Financial Services Authority are shown in the tables in the

Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 46 and form part of these financial statements.

The credit of £4.2 million in respect of awards made in 2004 and 2005 is due to adjustment for non-market-based factors. The reversal of the

£4.2 million which had been charged in 2004 and 2005 has been disclosed separately in the analysis of staff costs.

7 Non-recurring items
2006 2005

Non-recurring items £m £m

Impairment of intangible assets(a) (250.0) –

Restructuring costs(b) (2.4) (7.8)

Profit on disposal of land and buildings(c) 0.8 3.5

Loss on disposal of subsidiary(d) (1.8) –

Release of accruals for which no further costs are expected(e) 3.8 –

Severance costs following acquisition of the hotgroup plc(f) – (1.0)

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets(g) 1.6 2.7

Non-recurring items (248.0) (2.6)

(a)An impairment review of the carrying value of the Group’s intangible assets undertaken in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets indicated that an impairment charge was required.
The impairment charge reduces the carrying value of the regional newspaper titles by £250.0 million (2005: £nil) before tax. Net of tax, the impairment reduces the carrying value of the regional
newspaper titles by £175.0 million (2005: £nil).

(b)Restructuring severance costs of £2.4 million (2005: £7.8 million) have been incurred in delivery of cost-reduction measures.
(c)The Group disposed of surplus land and buildings realising a profit on disposal of £0.8 million (2005: £3.5 million).
(d)In 2006 the Group disposed of the hotgroup traditional recruitment consultancy business realising a loss on disposal of £1.8 million.
(e)In 2006 the Group released accruals of £3.8 million for which no further costs are expected.
(f) In 2005 severance costs of £1.0 million were incurred following the acquisition of the hotgroup plc.
(g)In 2006 the Group disposed of an asset realising a profit on disposal of £1.6 million and in 2005 the Group disposed of its shareholding in Scottish Radio Holdings plc realising a profit on disposal
of £2.7 million.
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IAS 19(1) IAS 39(2) Other(3) Total
8 Finance costs £m £m £m £m

2006

Income 81.6 – 0.3 81.9

Expense (71.7) (4.9) (31.8) (108.4)

Total finance income/(costs) 9.9 (4.9) (31.5) (26.5)

2005

Income 72.9 – 1.2 74.1

Expense (71.2) (6.6) (32.2) (110.0)

Total finance income/(costs) 1.7 (6.6) (31.0) (35.9)

(1)IAS 19 finance income represents expected return on pension scheme assets net of expected expenses and finance expense represents the interest cost on pension scheme liabilities.
(2)Impact of fair value, exchange rate and amortisation adjustments on borrowings and associated financial instruments accounted for under IAS 39.
(3)Other finance costs in 2006 include interest on obligations under finance leases of £1.0 million (2005: £1.2 million).

2006 2005
9 Tax £m £m

Current tax

Corporation tax charge for the period (39.8) (54.6)

Prior period adjustment (0.9) (2.0)

Current tax charge (40.7) (56.6)

Deferred tax (note 22)

Tax credit/(charge) for the period 60.8 (5.2)

Prior period adjustment (0.2) 1.5

Deferred tax credit/(charge) 60.6 (3.7)

Total tax credit/(charge) – continuing operations 19.9 (60.3)

Tax charge on discontinued operations £m £m

Tax on profit from operations (1.8) (2.2)

Tax on sale profit – –

Deferred tax charge – (0.1)

Total tax charge – discontinued operations (1.8) (2.3)

Reconciliation of tax charge – continuing operations % %

Standard rate of corporation tax 30.0 30.0

Tax effect of items that are not deductible in determining taxable profit/(loss) (3.5) 0.1

Tax effect of items that are not taxable in determining taxable (profit)/loss 0.2 –

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised in determining taxable loss 0.8 –

Tax effect of share of results of associate 0.5 (0.3)

Tax effect of rolled over and revaluation gains 0.7 (0.2)

Prior period adjustment (1.5) 0.2

Total effective rate of tax 27.2 29.8

The standard rate of corporation tax is the UK prevailing rate of 30% (2005: 30%).

The deferred tax credit for the period includes an amount of £75.0 million (2005: £nil million) in relation to the impairment charge with respect

to intangible assets as detailed in note 7.

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, deferred tax of £18.8 million relating to the actuarial gains on the defined benefit

pension schemes has been debited to equity (2005: credit of £0.7 million).
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10 Discontinued operations

During June and July 2006 the Group discontinued its Magazines and Exhibitions division. The results of the discontinued operations, which have

been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Revenue 20.1 32.7

Cost of sales (11.5) (20.0)

Gross profit 8.6 12.7

Distribution costs (0.5) (1.1)

Administrative expenses:

Non-recurring – (0.1)

Other (2.3) (4.4)

Operating profit 5.8 7.1

Tax (note 9) (1.8) (2.3)

Profit for the period 4.0 4.8

Pence Pence

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) 1.4 1.6

The effect of discontinued operations on segment results is disclosed in note 4 and on cash flow in note 38.

2006 2005
11 Dividends £m £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

Dividend paid(a) 63.7 60.2

Pence Pence

Dividend paid per share 21.9 20.7

£m £m

Dividend proposed but not paid nor included in the accounting records(b) 45.4 45.4

Pence Pence

Dividend proposed per share 15.5 15.5

(a)The amount of £63.7 million is in respect of the final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 1 January 2006 of 15.5 pence per share and the interim dividend for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006
of 6.4 pence per share; the amount of £60.2 million is in respect of the final dividend for the 53 weeks ended 2 January 2005 of 14.3 pence per share and the interim dividend for the 52 weeks
ended 1 January 2006 of 6.4 pence per share.

(b)The amount of £45.4 million represents the proposed final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006, which is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
and as such is not reflected as a liability in these financial statements; the amount of £45.4 million represents the proposed final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 1 January 2006.
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12 Earnings per share
2006 2005

Earnings £m £m

Profit after tax before adjusted items* 127.1 149.7

Adjusted items*:

Non-recurring items (after tax) (173.0) (0.6)

Disposed businesses’ profit/(loss) (after tax) 0.6 (0.1)

Reduction in charge for share-based payments relating to 2004 and 2005 (after tax) 2.9 –

Amortisation of intangibles (after tax) (7.4) (2.3)

IAS 39 impact (after tax) (3.4) (4.6)

Basic EPS earnings (loss)/profit – continuing operations (53.2) 142.1

Discontinued operations (after tax) 41.7 4.8

Basic EPS earnings ((loss)/profit attributable to equity holders (11.5) 146.9

Number of shares (‘000) (‘000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic EPS 291,207 291,900

Effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares – share options 711 1,274

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted EPS 291,918 293,174

Basic profit per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the period.

Diluted profit per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion

of all potentially dilutive ordinary share options.

Earnings per share – pence Pence Pence

Adjusted earnings per share* – basic 43.6 51.3

Adjusted earnings per share* – diluted 43.5 51.0

(Loss)/earnings per share – continuing operations – basic (18.3) 48.7

(Loss)/earnings per share – continuing operations – diluted (18.3) 48.5

Earnings per share – discontinued operations – basic 14.3 1.6

Earnings per share – discontinued operations – diluted 14.3 1.6

(Loss)/earnings per share – total operations – basic (4.0) 50.3

(Loss)/earnings per share – total operations – diluted (4.0) 50.1

*Adjusted earnings exclude disposed businesses (Magazines and Exhibitions division and traditional recruitment consultancy business), non-recurring

items (including a £250 million impairment of Regional newspaper titles), reduction in the charge for share-based payments relating to 2004 and

2005; the amortisation of intangible assets; and the impact of IAS 39. A reconciliation between the adjusted and the statutory numbers is provided

in note (i) on page 86.

The earnings/(loss) per share for each category of non-recurring items disclosed in note 7 is as follows:
Pence Pence

Impairment of intangibles (60.1) –

Restructuring costs (0.6) (1.8)

Profit on disposal of land and buildings 0.2 1.2

Loss on disposal of subsidiary (0.5) –

Release of accruals for which no further costs are expected 1.2 –

Severance costs following acquisition of hotgroup plc – (0.3)

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 0.4 0.7

Loss per share – non-recurring items (59.4) (0.2)
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Goodwill
13 Goodwill £m

At 2 January 2005 6.0
Acquisitions 66.8
At 1 January 2006 72.8
Fair value adjustments (note 37) (9.5)
Acquisitions (note 37) 3.5
Disposals (note 38) ` (5.7)
At 31 December 2006 61.1

The carrying value of goodwill analysed by business segment is as follows:
2006 2005
£m £m

Regionals 58.9 68.0
Nationals 2.2 2.2
Magazines and Exhibitions – 2.6

61.1 72.8

In accordance with accounting standards (IAS 36), the Group tests the carrying value of goodwill for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently
if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. At 31 December 2006, the review was undertaken on a value-in-use basis, assessing whether
the carrying value of goodwill was supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived from those assets, using cash flow projections
in respect of periods to 2015 discounted at 7.52% (2005: 6.95%).

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, revenue and cost growth rates and the level
of capital expenditure required during the period. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recently approved annual budgets
and projections for 2008 to 2015 from the Business Review. The cash flow forecasts reflect the risk associated with each asset. Cash flows from
years beyond 2015 are extrapolated based on estimated growth rates which do not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets. Management believes it is appropriate to forecast for a period of greater than five years to most appropriately reflect the length of the
capital investment cycle.

Customer
relationships Group

Publishing and domain total
rights/titles names 2006

14 Other intangible assets £m £m £m

Cost
At 2 January 2005 1,954.9 – 1,954.9
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (note 37) – 39.5 39.5
At 1 January 2006 1,954.9 39.5 1,994.4
Fair value adjustments (note 37) – 7.2 7.2
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (note 38) – (13.7) (13.7)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (note 37) – 1.5 1.5
At 31 December 2006 1,954.9 34.5 1,989.4
Accumulated amortisation
At 2 January 2005 (375.0) – (375.0)
Amortisation – (3.3) (3.3)
At 1 January 2006 (375.0) (3.3) (378.3)
Impairment (note 7) (250.0) – (250.0)
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (note 38) – 6.8 6.8
Amortisation – (10.6) (10.6)
At 31 December 2006 (625.0) (7.1) (632.1)

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2006 1,579.9 36.2 1,616.1
At 31 December 2006 1,329.9 27.4 1,357.3
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14 Other intangible assets (continued)

The disposals relate to the Magazines and Exhibitions division disposed of during 2006 and the hotgroup traditional recruitment consultancy

business disposed of in August 2006.

In accordance with accounting standards (IAS 36), the Group tests the carrying value of other intangible assets with indefinite economic lives
for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently if there are indicators that other intangible assets are impaired. The impairment review
of the carrying value of the Group’s intangible assets performed at the interim reporting date indicated that an impairment charge was required.
The impairment charge reduces the carrying value of the Regional newspaper publishing rights and titles relating to the Midlands and London and
the South East by £250.0 million (2005: £nil) before tax. Net of tax, the impairment reduces the carrying value of the Regional newspaper publishing
rights and titles by £175.0 million (2005: £nil).

The customer relationships and domain names included above have finite estimated useful lives of between five and ten years.

The carrying value of other intangible assets analysed by business segment is as follows:
2006 2005
£m £m

Regionals 667.5 924.0
Nationals 647.0 647.0
Sports 42.8 42.8
Magazines and Exhibitions – 2.3

1,357.3 1,616.1

At the year-end reporting date a review was undertaken to determine value in use and fair value less costs to sell to assess whether the carrying
value of publishing rights and titles, customer relationships and domain names was supported. Value in use was based on net present value of
future cash flows derived from those assets, using cash flow projections in respect of periods to 2055, and fair value less costs to sell was based
on management’s estimate of the valuation of the intangible assets based on previous market transactions in the sector and other valuation methods.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and the level of capital expenditure
required during the period to 2015. The discount rate used at 31 December 2006 was 7.52% (2005: 6.95%) reflecting a long-term equity and debt
mix based on the year-end Enterprise Value assuming a long-term debt to EBITDA ratio of three times. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recently approved annual budgets and the projections for 2008 to 2015 from the Business Review. The cash flow forecasts
reflect past experience of and the risk associated with each asset. Operating cash flows beyond 2015 are extrapolated based on estimated growth
rates which do not exceed the average long-term growth estimated for the relevant markets. Investment cash flows have been forecast to reflect
the cycle of capital investment required, including printing press replacement. Management believes it is appropriate to forecast for a period of
greater than five years to most appropriately reflect the length of the capital investment cycle.
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Land and buildings Plant and Assets under Group
Freehold Leasehold equipment construction total

15 Property, plant and equipment £m £m £m £m £m

At cost or valuation

At 2 January 2005 194.6 29.4 396.4 24.0 644.4

Additions 0.2 0.1 14.8 25.9 41.0

Disposals (1.1) (2.8) (18.5) – (22.4)

Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – – 2.9 – 2.9

Reclassification 5.2 0.9 15.6 (21.7) –

Write-off of assets – – (2.7) – (2.7)

At 1 January 2006 198.9 27.6 408.5 28.2 663.2

Additions 0.4 0.1 14.3 60.2 75.0

Disposals (0.4) (2.7) (56.5) – (59.6)

Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (0.1) (1.9) – (2.0)

Reclassification 4.0 1.0 13.0 (18.0) –

Write-off of assets – – (2.7) – (2.7)

At 31 December 2006 202.9 25.9 374.7 70.4 673.9

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 2 January 2005 12.1 14.0 230.5 – 256.6

Charge for period 3.7 0.9 35.5 – 40.1

Disposals (0.4) (1.0) (18.3) – (19.7)

Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – – 1.6 – 1.6

Reclassification (0.2) 0.4 (0.2) – –

Write-off of assets – – (2.7) – (2.7)

At 1 January 2006 15.2 14.3 246.4 – 275.9

Charge for period 3.9 0.9 35.0 – 39.8

Disposals (0.2) (1.7) (56.2) – (58.1)

Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (0.1) (1.4) – (1.5)

Reclassification – 0.9 (0.9) – –

Write-off of assets – – (2.7) – (2.7)

At 31 December 2006 18.9 14.3 220.2 – 253.4

Carrying amount

At 1 January 2006 183.7 13.3 162.1 28.2 387.3

At 31 December 2006 184.0 11.6 154.5 70.4 420.5

Included within the total net book value of property, plant and equipment is £13.7 million (2005: £21.3 million) in respect of assets under finance

leases. Depreciation for the period on those assets was £2.9 million (2005: £3.2 million). Finance leases are secured on the assets leased.

2006 2005
£m £m

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the accounts 30.5 34.5
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16 Investments in associates

The Group has a 21.54% interest in The Press Association Limited, a news agency incorporated in England and Wales.
2006 2005
£m £m

Opening balance 8.6 7.5

Share of result of associate after tax 1.3 0.8

Dividends received (0.5) (0.6)

Share of pension scheme actuarial gains and currency gains recognised in equity 1.3 –

Share of tax adjustment in respect of prior years (0.5) 0.9

Closing balance 10.2 8.6

2006 2005
Press Association £m £m

Total assets 72.1 61.6

Total liabilities (24.5) (21.5)

Net assets 47.6 40.1

Group’s share of net assets 10.2 8.6

Revenue 74.4 62.7

Profit for the period 6.2 4.0

Group’s share of associate’s profit for the period 1.3 0.8

The financial statements of The Press Association Limited are made up to 31 December each year. This is the financial reporting date of the

organisation. For the purposes of applying the equity method of accounting, the financial statements of The Press Association Limited for the

year ended 31 December 2005 have been used and appropriate adjustments have been made for the period to 31 December 2006.

2006 2005
17 Inventories £m £m

Raw materials and consumables 7.0 7.2

The Group consumed £146.2 million (2005: £145.4 million) of inventories during the period.
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2006 2005
18 Available-for-sale financial assets £m £m

Opening balance 0.5 3.7

Movement in period (0.5) (3.2)

Closing balance – 0.5

Current – 0.5

Movement in period:

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale assets – 0.3

Disposal of available-for-sale assets (0.5) (3.5)

(0.5) (3.2)

Dealt with in equity:

Impact of IAS 32 and 39 adoption – 2.4

Movement in period – 0.3

Deferred tax – (0.8)

– 1.9

2006 2005
19 Trade and other receivables £m £m

Trade receivables 118.3 126.0

Less allowances for doubtful receivables (4.0) (4.7)

Trade receivables – net 114.3 121.3

Prepayments and accrued income 17.3 22.0

Other receivables 3.3 7.6

134.9 150.9

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. The average credit period taken

on sales is 36 days (2005: 37 days).

The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there

is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the expected cash flows.

The Group has recognised a loss of £1.6 million (2005: £1.3 million) for the impairment of its trade receivables during the period. The loss has

been included in Other administrative expenses in the income statement.

2006 2005
20 Trade and other payables £m £m

Trade payables 42.5 42.7

Social security and other taxes 14.3 16.0

Accruals and deferred income 96.7 108.4

Other payables 9.8 15.9

163.3 183.0

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value. The average credit period taken

for trade purchases is 32 days (2005: 32 days).
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Minimum of minimum under non-

lease lease cancellable
payments payments subleases

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
21 Obligations under finance leases £m £m £m £m £m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year 3.0 2.8 2.8 2.8 0.4 0.4

Within two to five years 12.5 13.9 11.7 10.8 0.5 0.5

After five years 2.1 6.5 1.5 4.8 0.4 –

17.6 23.2 16.0 18.4 1.3 0.9

Less future finance charges (1.6) (4.8) – –

Present value of lease obligations 16.0 18.4 16.0 18.4

Less amounts due for settlement within 12 months

(shown under Current liabilities) (2.8) (2.8)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 13.2 15.6

Finance leases relate principally to leasehold properties and press plant.

The average lease term is seven years (2005: seven years). The average effective borrowing rate is set out in note 27. Interest rates are fixed at

the contract date, and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have

been entered into for contingent rental payments.

22 Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current reporting period:

Other short- Rolled over Retirement
Accelerated tax term timing and held benefit Share-based

depreciation differences over gains Intangibles obligation payments Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 2 January 2005 58.5 (2.6) 2.3 474.0 (96.6) (0.5) 435.1

Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – – – 11.8 – – 11.8

(Credit)/charge to income (2.9) 3.7 (0.3) (1.0) 5.6 (1.3) 3.8

Credit to equity – (0.7) – – (0.7) – (1.4)

At 1 January 2006 55.6 0.4 2.0 484.8 (91.7) (1.8) 449.3

Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – – – 2.6 – – 2.6

Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – – – (2.0) – – (2.0)

(Credit)/charge to income 6.9 1.1 (0.6) (78.2) 8.8 1.4 (60.6)

Charge to equity – – – – 18.8 – 18.8

At 31 December 2006 62.5 1.5 1.4 407.2 (64.1) (0.4) 408.1
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22 Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (continued)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2006 2005
£m £m

Deferred tax liabilities 482.4 547.2

Deferred tax assets (74.3) (97.9)

408.1 449.3

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £16.9 million (2005: £20.3 million) and other short-term timing differences of £2.5 million

(2005: £2.1 million) available for offset against future profits in respect of the hotgroup businesses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in respect of the tax losses of £16.3 million (2005: £20.3 million) and other short-term temporary differences of £2.4 million (2005: £1.9 million)

due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

Share-based
payments Property Restructuring Total

23 Provisions £m £m £m £m

At 2 January 2005 0.3 12.5 – 12.8

Additional provisions in the period 0.4 1.4 7.4 9.2

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – 1.1 – 1.1

Utilisation of provisions – (1.3) – (1.3)

At 1 January 2006 0.7 13.7 7.4 21.8

Provision movement in the period (0.5) 1.3 2.4 3.2

Utilisation of provisions – (3.6) (9.8) (13.4)

Disposal of subsidiary – (0.2) – (0.2)

At 31 December 2006 0.2 11.2 – 11.4

The provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:
2006 2005

£m £m

Current 2.5 9.6

Non-current 8.9 12.2

11.4 21.8

The share-based payments provision relates to National Insurance obligations attached to the future crystallisation of awards.

The property provision relates to onerous property leases and future committed costs related to occupied, let and vacant properties. This provision

will be utilised over the remaining term of the leases. During the year £3.6 million (2005: £1.3 million) was utilised in respect of this provision and

£0.2 million (2005: £nil) was released on disposal of a subsidiary.

The restructuring provision relates to the non-recurring restructuring severance costs incurred in delivery of cost-reduction measures.
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24 Joint ventures

The Group has the following interests in joint ventures:

(a) 23.96% (2005: 23.96%) equity holding in fish4 Limited.

(b) 40% (2005: 40%) equity holding in The Betting Site Limited.

The Group’s interests in joint ventures have not been accounted for under the equity method on the grounds of immateriality.

25 Principal subsidiaries

A list of the significant investments in subsidiaries and associated undertakings, including name, country of incorporation and proportion

of ownership interest is given in note 15 to the Company’s separate financial statements.

2006 2005
26 Notes to the cash flow statement £m £m

Operating (loss)/profit from continuing operations (46.6) 238.3

Operating profit from discontinued operations 5.8 7.1

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 39.8 40.1

Amortisation of other intangible assets 10.6 3.3

Share of results of associate (1.3) (0.8)

Impairment of other intangible assets 250.0 –

Charge for share-based payments in respect of 2006 2.4 4.4

Credit for share-based payments in respect of 2004 and 2005 (4.2) –

Profit on disposal of land and buildings (0.8) (3.5)

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets (1.6) (2.7)

Loss on disposal of subsidiary undertakings 1.8 –

Adjustment for IAS 19 pension funding (19.3) (17.7)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 236.6 268.5

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 0.2 (0.5)

Decrease in receivables 6.7 16.6

Decrease in payables (18.2) (7.8)

Cash generated from operations 225.3 276.8

Cash and cash equivalents represent the sum of the Group’s bank balances and cash in hand at the balance sheet date as disclosed on the face

of the balance sheet.
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2006 2005
27 Borrowings £m £m

Bank overdrafts (3.3) (17.9)

Short-term loans – (40.0)

Loan notes (347.0) (392.8)

Derivative financial instruments (note 28) (107.4) (56.6)

(457.7) (507.3)

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year (4.0) (58.7)

In the second year (60.8) –

In the third year – (55.5)

In the fourth year – –

In the fifth year (146.3) –

After five years (246.6) (393.1)

(457.7) (507.3)

Amount due for settlement within 12 months (4.0) (58.7)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months (453.7) (448.6)

(457.7) (507.3)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months represents borrowings of £346.3 million (2005: £392.0 million) and derivative financial instruments

of £107.4 million (2005: £56.6 million).
2006 2005

£m £m

Loan notes

Opening balance (392.8) (368.4)

Impact of IAS 39 45.9 (37.2)

Repayments 0.1 13.7

Issued on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings – (0.6)

Non-cash movements (0.2) (0.3)

Closing balance (347.0) (392.8)

Composition of loan notes:

Commercial rate loan notes (0.7) (0.8)

US$350 million loan notes* (180.4) (206.6)

US$252 million loan notes* (133.9) (153.4)

£22 million loan notes* (22.0) (22.0)

£10 million loan notes* (10.0) (10.0)

(347.0) (392.8)

*The US and UK private placement loan notes totalling US$602 million and £32 million were issued in 2001 and 2002. The fixed rate interest and capital repayments on the US$-denominated loan
notes have been swapped into floating rate sterling through the use of cross-currency interest rate swaps. As hedge accounting under IAS 39 has not been applied, the loan notes and cross-
currency swaps are shown separately under IAS 39. The loan notes are disclosed at amortised cost and translated into sterling at the prevailing period-end exchange rate and the cross-currency
swaps are disclosed at fair value at the period-end date. These values do not represent the amounts required to repay the loan notes or cancel the related cross-currency interest rate swaps.

Bank overdraft and loan notes are unsecured.

All borrowings are denominated in sterling unless otherwise indicated. At 31 December 2006 the Group had available £259.5 million

(2005: £222.4 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.
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27 Borrowings (continued)

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows:
2006 2005

% %

Bank overdrafts 5.65 5.65

US$ loan notes 6.43 6.66

£ loan notes 6.95 7.06

Finance leases 6.76 6.86

The directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s borrowings, by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate, to be as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Bank overdrafts, short-term loans and commercial loan notes (4.0) (58.7)

US$ loan notes (314.1) (362.8)

£ loan notes (34.4) (33.0)

Finance leases (16.0) (18.4)

In estimating the fair value of the loan notes the directors have discounted the future cash flows using the credit ratings applied at the dates

of inception, which they believe to be appropriate discount factors.

The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments in note 28) are not materially different from the book

values and are not repeated in this analysis.

28 Derivative financial instruments

2006 2005
Cross-currency interest rate swaps – fair value £m £m

Opening balance (56.6) (87.2)

Movement in fair value including exchange movement (50.8) 30.6

Closing balance (107.4) (56.6)

Current – –

Non-current (107.4) (56.6)

The Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to foreign exchange movements and interest rate movements on

its private placements by swapping these borrowings from US$ fixed rates to sterling floating rates. These amounts have been calculated using

an industry-standard financial instrument model using prevalent market data. The Group does not currently designate its cross-currency interest

rate swaps as hedging instruments and changes in the fair values of the swaps have been charged to income in the year.
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29 Net debt
Other

1 January IAS 39* Loans non-cash 31 December
2006 Cash flow impact repaid changes 2006

Net debt £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current

Loan notes (392.0) – 45.9 – (0.2) (346.3)

Derivative financial instruments (56.6) – (50.8) – – (107.4)

Obligations under finance leases (15.6) – – 2.4 – (13.2)

(464.2) – (4.9) 2.4 (0.2) (466.9)

Current

Bank overdrafts (17.9) 14.6 – – – (3.3)

Short-term loans (40.0) – – 40.0 – –

Loan notes (0.8) – – 0.1 – (0.7)

Obligations under finance leases (2.8) – – – – (2.8)

(61.5) 14.6 – 40.1 – (6.8)

Cash at bank and in hand 33.2 (0.4) – – – 32.8

Net debt (492.5) 14.2 (4.9) 42.5 (0.2) (440.9)

*The US and UK private placement loan notes totalling US$602 million and £32 million were issued in 2001 and 2002. The fixed rate interest and capital repayments on the US$-denominated loan
notes have been swapped into floating rate sterling through the use of cross-currency interest rate swaps. As hedge accounting under IAS 39 has not been applied, the loan notes and cross-
currency swaps are shown separately in accordance with IAS 39. The loan notes are disclosed at amortised cost and translated into sterling at the prevailing period-end exchange rate and the
cross-currency swaps are disclosed at fair value at the period-end date. These values do not represent the amounts required to repay the loan notes or cancel the related cross-currency interest
rate swaps.

Retained
Capital earnings

redemption Share Revaluation and other
Share capital reserve premium reserves reserves Total

30 Share capital and reserves £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 2 January 2005 (29.7) – (1,101.7) (4.9) 429.0 (707.3)

Total recognised income and expense – – – – (143.5) (143.5)

Dividends – – – – 60.2 60.2

New share capital subscribed (0.4) – (17.2) – – (17.6)

Buy-back shares cancelled 0.8 (0.8) – – 52.7 52.7

Investment in shares – – – – 5.7 5.7

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments – – – – (3.9) (3.9)

Balance at 1 January 2006 (29.3) (0.8) (1,118.9) (4.9) 400.2 (753.7)

Total recognised income and expense – – – (33.7) (33.7)

Dividends – – – – 63.7 63.7

New share capital subscribed – – (1.1) – – (1.1)

Debit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments – – – – 1.6 1.6

Balance at 31 December 2006 (29.3) (0.8) (1,120.0) (4.9) 431.8 (723.2)

Purchases of shares are included in retained earnings and other reserves at £11.9 million (1 January 2006: £11.9 million), classified as Treasury Shares.

Cumulative goodwill written off to reserves in respect of continuing businesses acquired prior to 1998 is £25.9 million (2005: £25.9 million).

The capital redemption reserve was created when the Company embarked on the share buy-back programme in 2005 and represents the nominal

value of the shares purchased and subsequently cancelled.

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment that has been revalued to fair value from its historical cost.
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2006 2006 2005 2005
31 Called-up share capital Number £m Number £m

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 10 pence each 450,000,000 45.0 450,000,000 45.0

2006 2006 2005 2005
Number £m Number £m

Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 10 pence each:

At beginning of the period 292,778,546 29.3 296,493,684 29.7

Issued on exercise of options 360,241 – 4,494,547 0.4

Shares bought back – – (8,209,685) (0.8)

At end of period 293,138,787 29.3 292,778,546 29.3

£1.1 million was raised in 2006 (2005: £17.6 million) on the exercise of share options, including share premium of £1.1 million (2005: £17.2 million).

During the year nil shares (2005: 8,209,685 shares) were bought back for a total consideration of £nil million (2005: £52.7 million).

Share option schemes

Under the terms of the Group’s various share option schemes, the following options to subscribe for ordinary shares were outstanding:

Number
Scheme Grant dates of shares Exercise prices Exercise dates

Executive approved 1997-1999 115,209 426-620p May 2000-Dec 2009

Executive unapproved 1996-1999 302,650 353-620p Jan 1999-Dec 2009

TM Exec Approved 2000-2003 447,526 396-544p May 2003-Aug 2013

TM Exec Unapproved 2000-2003 3,507,092 396-544p May 2003-Aug 2013

Savings-related 2006 2,662,577 453p Jun 2009-Dec 2009

An employee benefit trust administered by the trustee Walbrook Trustees (Guernsey) Limited holds shares of the Company for subsequent transfer

to employees under a restricted share plan. At 31 December 2006 the trust held 90,855 shares (2005: 90,855 shares), with a carrying value

of £445,523 (2005: £445,523) and a market value of £426,564 (2005: £528,776) in the Company of which £nil (2005: £nil) had options granted

over them under the restricted share plan. Dividends on the shares are payable at an amount of 0.01 pence per share.

Long-Term Incentive Plan and Deferred Share Award Plan

The Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 6 May 2004 and an employee benefit trust was established

in Jersey and is administered by the trustees, Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited (formerly Bailhache Labesse Limited). The Deferred Share Award Plan

(DSAP) was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 4 May 2006. The trust holds shares of the Company for subsequent transfer to employees

under the terms of the LTIP as Performance Share awards or Matching Share awards when they vest on 3 June 2007, 11 April 2008 and 30 May

2009 and under the terms of the DSAP as Deferred Share awards when they vest on 30 May 2009.

As at 31 December 2006 the trust held 1,770,796 shares (1 January 2006: 1,770,796 shares) with a carrying value of £11,900,000 (2005: £11,900,000)

and a market value of £8,313,887 (2005: £10,532,473). In addition, as part of the LTIP rules, the trust held at 31 December 2006 143,467 deposited

shares (1 January 2006: 167,323) on behalf of employees and to which they are beneficially entitled. The costs associated with the trust are included

in the profit and loss account as they accrue.

The lowest price of the shares during the year was 426.5 pence (2005: 563.0 pence) and the highest price was 632.5 pence (2005: 719.5 pence).

The share price as at 29 December 2006 was 469.5 pence (30 December 2005: 576.5 pence).

Shares held by the trust have been excluded from the weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of earnings per share.
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2006 2005
32 Share premium account £m £m

At beginning of the period 1,118.9 1,101.7

Premium on ordinary shares allotted in the year 1.1 17.2

At end of the period 1,120.0 1,118.9

33 Operating lease commitments

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Vehicles, Vehicles,
plant and plant and

Property equipment Property equipment
2006 2006 2005 2005

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 2.9 2.8 2.1 2.6

Later than one and less than five years 9.0 6.8 7.6 7.1

After five years 18.6 – 20.2 –

30.5 9.6 29.9 9.7

The comparative has been amended to reflect operating leases in existence at the prior period end.

34 Share-based payments

Executive share option scheme

The Company operates an existing share option scheme under which Executive Directors and senior management are granted options.

However, following the introduction of the Long-Term Incentive Plan in 2004 no further options have been granted under this scheme.

Options are exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant subject to the continued employment of the participant and achievement

of earnings per share performance. In addition, 50% of each grant of an option to each individual is subject to a total shareholder return

comparison against the FTSE Mid-250 index of companies on the date of grant. The other 50% is subject to a comparison of total shareholder

return with a group of about 20 other media companies. No vesting of options will take place unless the Company’s ranking is at least median.

Details of the share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise price of those options are as follows:
Number Exercise

of options price

Options granted post 7 November 2002:

– 28 February 2003 505,689 395.5p

– 7 August 2003 958,845 488.6p

Movements in share options granted post 7 November 2002 during the period are as follows:

Options granted Options granted
28 February 2003 7 August 2003

2006 2005 2006 2005

Options outstanding as at start of period 505,689 505,689 1,049,045 1,161,505

Granted during the year – – – –

Exercised during the year – – (27,629) (30,699)

Lapsed during the year – – (62,571) (81,761)

Options outstanding as at end of period 505,689 505,689 958,845 1,049,045

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was £5.15 (2005: £6.03) and at the date of

lapse for share options lapsed during the year was £5.73 (2005: £6.30).

The estimated fair values of the options awarded at the date of grant are as follows:
£

28 February 2003 375,145

7 August 2003 1,456,667
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These fair values were calculated using a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binomial) model at the date of grant. The inputs to the model were as follows:

Options granted
28 February 7 August

2003 2003

Expected volatility (%) 27.0 28.0

Expected life (years) 6 6

Expected dividend yield (%) 4.42 3.56

Risk-free rate (%) 3.9 4.2

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period prior to grant that is commensurate

with the length of the expected life of the option. The expected life of the options used in the model is a weighted average driven by simulated

share price movements in the model.

Long-Term Incentive Plan and Deferred Share Award Plan

Under these schemes, the Remuneration Committee can recommend the grant of awards of shares to an eligible employee. Awards could take

the form of either Performance Shares, Matching Shares or Deferred Shares. Full details of how the scheme operates are explained on page 41

of the Remuneration Report.

The vesting of Performance Shares granted in 2004 and 2005 is conditional upon the achievement of two performance conditions. Up to 50%

of an award can vest provided that earnings per share growth exceeds a range of targets above inflation. The remaining 50% vests if targets

measuring the Company’s total shareholder return against the performance of a comparator group of companies are met. The Performance Shares

granted in 2006 vest if targets measuring the Company’s total shareholder return against the performance of a comparator group of companies

are met.

The Matching Shares granted in 2005 and 2006 vest provided that earnings per share growth exceeds a range of targets above inflation.

The Deferred Shares have no performance conditions.

The movement in the number of Performance, Matching and Deferred awards during the period was:

2006 2006 2006 2005 2005
Deferred Performance Matching Performance Matching

Awards outstanding as at start of period – 1,367,841 567,222 679,813 355,748

Granted during the period 206,369 757,971 – 707,249 228,317

Lapsed during the period (2,054) (224,645) (99,806) (19,221) (16,843)

Awards outstanding as at end of period 204,315 1,901,167 467,416 1,367,841 567,222

The estimated fair values of the shares awarded at the date of grant are as follows:
Awarded in Awarded in Awarded in

2006 2005 2004
£ £ £

Performance Shares 1,118,187 3,494,901 3,059,235

Matching Shares – 1,469,266 1,881,075

Deferred Shares 1,033,369 – –

Savings-Related Share Option Scheme

During the year options were granted over 2,917,754 shares at a subscription price of 453.33 pence per share under the terms of the Savings-

Related Share Options Scheme. The estimated fair value of the options was £3,706,597.
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34 Share-based payments (continued)

These fair values were calculated using a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binominal) model for the Performance and Matching Shares and a modified

Black-Scholes calculation for the Deferred Shares and Savings-Related shares at the date of grant. The inputs to the model were as follows:

Savings- Deferred Performance Performance Matching Performance Matching
Related Award Award Award Award Award Award

2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2004 2004

Expected volatility (%) 20.3 – 19.3 22.6 – 26.0 –

Expected life (years) 3.25 3 3 3 3 3 3

Expected dividend yield (%) 3.9 – 4.3 2.9 2.9 2.95 2.95

Risk-free rate (%) 4.4 – 4.7 4.6 – 5.10 –

Expected volatility has been determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the three-year period prior to grant.

The Group recognised a credit of £1.8 million (2005: £4.4 million expense) related to share-based payments during the period. The credit of £1.8

million represents a charge of £2.4 million in respect of the awards made in 2006 and a release of £4.2 million in respect of awards made in 2004

and 2005 due to adjustment for non-market-based factors.

35 Retirement benefit schemes

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates ten final salary pension schemes. Two of the schemes, namely the Mirror Group Pension Scheme (the ‘Old Scheme’) and the

MGN Past Service Pension Scheme (the ‘Past Service Scheme’) cover the liabilities in respect of service up to 13 February 1992, the date when

the Old Scheme was closed. The Past Service Scheme was established to meet the liabilities for service up to 13 February 1992 for employees

and former employees, who worked regularly on the production and distribution of Mirror Group’s newspapers, which are not satisfied by

payments from the Old Scheme and the Maxwell Communications Pension Plan or by the State.

These schemes have formal actuarial valuations carried out regularly. The actuarial methods and assumptions used to calculate their assets and

liabilities vary according to actuarial and funding policies adjusted by the Trustees. The last formal valuation was carried out as at 31 December

2004 and showed that they have insufficient assets to meet their liabilities for members’ benefits. Following this, agreement was reached with the

Trustee to pay £12.5 million into the Past Service Scheme in 2006 (2005: £9.0 million). For 2007, agreement has been reached with the Trustees

to pay £12.5 million. The next full actuarial valuation will be carried out during 2007.

Formal valuations of the other eight final salary schemes are carried out regularly, with the actuarial methods and assumptions used to calculate

each scheme’s assets and liabilities varying according to the actuarial and funding policies adopted by their respective trustees.

The most significant of the schemes are the Trinity Retirement Benefit Scheme (the ‘Trinity Scheme’), the MGN Pension Scheme (the ‘MGN

Scheme’) and the Midland Independent Newspapers Pension Scheme (the ‘MIN Scheme’), which together with the Old Scheme and the Past

Service Scheme represent over 97% of the aggregate market value. The last formal valuation of these schemes was undertaken on 30 June 2003

for the Trinity Scheme (a full actuarial valuation as at 30 June 2006 is being carried out), 31 March 2004 for the MIN Scheme and 31 December 2004

for the MGN Scheme. These valuations showed deficits of £25.1 million, £30.8 million and £55.9 million respectively. All of the schemes are being

funded in accordance with the recommendations of the respective actuaries, including deficit funding in 2006 of £2.5 million (2005: £2.5 million),

£7.0 million (2005: £4.5 million) and £4.5 million (2005: £4.5 million) respectively. In 2006, the employer’s contribution rate to the MGN Scheme

was increased by 0.9% to 12.0%. The employer’s contribution rate to the Trinity Scheme remained at 14%. The employer’s contribution rate to

the MIN Scheme remained at 15%. The actuarial valuation of the Trinity Scheme as at 30 June 2006 will be finalised during 2007. The next full

actuarial valuations for the MIN Scheme and the MGN Scheme will be carried out during 2007.

During 2002, the decision was taken to close entry to the three defined benefit (final salary pension) schemes to new employees with effect from

1 January 2003. All new employees are entitled to participate in a defined contribution plan, the Trinity Mirror Pension Plan.

Valuations have been performed in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 with scheme liabilities calculated using a consistent projected unit

valuation method and compared to the market value of the schemes’ assets at 29 December 2006, the last day prior to the period end for which

such values were available.
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Based on actuarial advice, the financial assumptions used in calculating the schemes’ liabilities and the total value of those liabilities under

IAS 19 are:

Principal annual actuarial assumptions used: 2006 2005
% %

Discount rate 5.10 4.75

Inflation rate 3.00 2.80

Expected return on scheme assets 4.40-7.30 4.00-7.30

Expected rate of salary increases 4.00 4.10

Pension increases:

Pre 6 April 1997 pensions 3.00-5.00 2.80-5.00

Post 6 April 1997 pensions 3.00-3.50 2.80-3.30

Actuarial value of scheme liabilities £1,511.0m £1,535.5m

Actual return on scheme assets £97.1m £179.7m

Post-retirement mortality tables and Future life expectancy (years) for Future life expectancy (years) at age 65
future life expectancies at age 65 a pensioner currently aged 65 for a non-pensioner currently aged 55

Male Female Male Female

16.9-20.4 19.9-23.5 19.4-21.0 22.3-24.0

Average 18.6 21.3 19.6 22.4

Defined benefit schemes

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement schemes is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m

Net scheme liabilities:

Present value of funded obligations (1,511.0) (1,535.5) (1,371.6)

Fair value of schemes’ assets 1,322.9 1,233.0 1,049.7

Effect of asset ceiling (24.9) (3.1) –

Schemes’ deficits (213.0) (305.6) (321.9)

This amount is presented as follows:

Current liabilities – – –

Non-current liabilities (213.0) (305.6) (321.9)

(213.0) (305.6) (321.9)

Movement not recognised in income statement:

Actuarial gains 84.5 0.7 35.6

Effect of asset ceiling (21.8) (3.1) –

Total included in statement of recognised income and expense (before tax) 62.7 (2.4) 35.6
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35 Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Pension plan assets include no direct investments in the Company’s ordinary shares for 2006 and 2005.

The contributions made during the period totalled £51.2 million (2005: £46.9 million). The Group expects to contribute approximately £50 million

to its defined benefit schemes in 2007.

The future contribution rates for the Group’s most significant schemes range from 12.0% to 20.0% of pensionable salaries. Under the projected

unit method of valuing scheme liabilities, the cost of the Group’s closed schemes will increase as the schemes’ membership status matures.

Amounts recognised in the income statement
2006 2005

£m £m

Current service cost 30.4 28.6

Past service cost 0.8 1.3

Total included in staff costs 31.2 29.9

Expected return on scheme assets (81.6) (72.9)

Interest cost on pension schemes’ liabilities 71.7 71.2

Net finance credit (9.9) (1.7)

Total included in the income statement 21.3 28.2

2006 2005
£m £m

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

Opening fair value of scheme assets 1,233.0 1,049.7

Expected return 81.6 72.9

Actuarial gains 15.5 106.8

Contributions by employer 51.2 46.9

Employee contributions 8.1 8.4

Benefits paid (66.5) (51.7)

Closing fair value of scheme assets 1,322.9 1,233.0

2006 2005
£m £m

Changes in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows:

Opening present value of scheme liabilities 1,535.5 1,371.6

Current service cost 30.4 28.6

Past service cost 0.8 1.3

Interest cost 71.7 71.2

Actuarial (gains)/losses (69.0) 106.1

Employee contributions 8.1 8.4

Benefits paid (66.5) (51.7)

Closing present value of scheme liabilities 1,511.0 1,535.5
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2006 2005

£m £m

The fair value of scheme assets at the balance sheet date is analysed as follows:

UK equities 419.6 411.6

US equities 112.5 96.9

Other overseas equities 254.6 220.8

Property 0.4 0.3

Corporate bonds 234.9 180.9

Fixed interest gilts 79.2 126.9

Index-linked gilts 108.3 89.3

Cash 113.4 106.3

Closing fair value of scheme assets 1,322.9 1,233.0

2006 2005
% %

The expected nominal rates of return on plan assets at the balance sheet date are analysed as follows:

Equities 8.00 8.25

Property 6.00 5.90

Corporate bonds 5.10 4.75

Fixed interest gilts 4.50 4.10

Index-linked gilts 4.40 4.00

Cash 4.00 3.80

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates two defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for qualifying employees, one of which is closed to new members.

The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £1.0 million (2005: £0.8 million) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates

specified in the scheme rules. As at 31 December 2006, contributions of £nil million (1 January 2006: £nil million) due in respect of the reporting

period then ended had not been paid over to the schemes.

2006 2005
£m £m

Amounts recognised in the income statement:

Current service cost 1.0 0.8

36 Related party transactions

The immediate parent and controlling party of the Group is Trinity Mirror plc. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are

related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions with the post-employment

benefit schemes are disclosed in note 35. Details of other related party transactions are disclosed below.

Trading transactions

The Group traded with the following associated undertakings and joint ventures: The Press Association Limited, fish4 Limited and The Betting Site

Limited. This trade generated sales of £0.1 million (2005: £0.2 million) and costs for services provided of £3.0 million (2005: £2.7 million). Financial

support of £0.1 million (2005: £0.9 million) was provided during the period. The amounts outstanding at the year end amounted to £nil million

(2005: £0.2 million) owed by associated undertakings and £nil million (2005: £nil million) owed to associated undertakings and joint ventures.

Sales of goods and services to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices, less average volume discounts. Purchases were made

at market prices discounted to reflect volume purchase and the relationship between the parties. Any outstanding amounts will be settled

by cash payment.
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36 Related party transactions (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management of the Group has been defined as the members of the Executive Committee and the remuneration during the period was as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 5.7 4.1

Post-employment benefits 0.8 0.6

Share-based payments (0.4) 1.7

6.1 6.4

The remuneration of directors and other key executives is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to competitive market

position and performance of individuals. Further information regarding the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Remuneration

Report on pages 40 to 46.

37 Acquisitions of subsidiary undertakings

On 9 May 2006, the Group acquired 100% of Email4Property Limited. The results of the acquisition have been included in continuing operations.

The net assets acquired and the goodwill arising, are as follows:
Acquiree’s

carrying
amount before Fair value

combination adjustments Fair value
Net assets acquired £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 – 0.3

Current liabilities (0.1) (0.3) (0.4)

Non-current liabilities – (0.4) (0.4)

0.2 (0.7) (0.5)

Intangible assets 1.5

Goodwill 3.5

Total consideration 4.5

Fair value adjustments reflect the allignment of the acquiree’s accounting policies with those of the Group.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is attributed to the anticipated profitability and market share of the acquiree in its new markets and the

anticipated synergies with other acquisitions.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
£m

Cash consideration paid 4.5

Cash and cash equivalents acquired (0.3)

(4.2)

The revenue and operating profit post acquisition is not material to the Group’s results.

Total consideration for the acquisition was satisfied in cash.
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37 Acquisitions of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

During 2005, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Smart Media Services Limited, Financial Jobs Online Limited, The Hotgroup plc and

Paldonsay Limited and provisional fair value adjustments were made. These provisional fair value adjustments have been adjusted:

Acquiree’s carrying Provisional Revised
amount before fair value Provisional fair value Final

combination adjustments fair value adjustments fair value
£m £m £m £m £m

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 1.8 (0.5) 1.3 – 1.3

Current assets 12.2 (1.0) 11.2 – 11.2

Cash and cash equivalents (0.9) – (0.9) – (0.9)

Current liabilities(a) (9.8) (2.9) (12.7) 0.5 (12.2)

Obligations under finance leases – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.1)

Borrowings (4.5) 0.1 (4.4) – (4.4)

Non-current liabilities(b) (1.2) (12.1) (13.3) (2.2) (15.5)

(2.4) (16.5) (18.9) (1.7) (20.6)

Other intangible assets(c) 39.5 7.2 46.7

Goodwill(d) 66.8 (9.5) 57.3

Total consideration(e) 87.4 (4.0) 83.4

Revisions to the fair value adjustments are in respect of:

(a) Current liabilities of £0.5 million not required have been reversed.

(b) Deferred tax impact of adjustments.

(c) The other intangible assets valuations have been revised by £7.2 million.

(d) Net impact on goodwill of revisions.

(e) Contingent consideration not payable has been reversed.

Chairman and Chief Executive statement / Business review / Corporate responsibility / Board of Directors and Executive
Committee / Corporate governance / Remuneration report / Directors’ report / Group independent auditors’ report /
Accounts and notes / Unaudited other information / Holding company accounts and notes / Investor relations



85

http://www.trinitymirror.com/ir/results/

38 Disposal of businesses

During June and July 2006 the Group disposed of its Magazines and Exhibitions division and on 11 August 2006 the Group disposed of its

traditional recruitment consultancy business acquired as part of the acquisition of hotgroup plc.

The net assets of the businesses at the date of disposal were as follows:
Magazines hotgroup

and Exhibitions traditional Total
£m £m £m

Goodwill 1.6 4.1 5.7
Other intangible assets – 6.9 6.9
Property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.3 0.5
Trade and other receivables 6.3 4.5 10.8
Cash and cash equivalents 1.0 0.5 1.5
Long-term provisions – (2.9) (2.9)
Trade and other payables (6.9) (2.2) (9.1)

2.2 11.2 13.4
Profit/(loss) on disposal 37.7 (1.8) 35.9
Total consideration 39.9 9.4 49.3

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration 41.9 10.8 52.7
Cash disposal costs (1.7) (1.8) (3.5)

40.2 9.0 49.2
Deferred consideration 0.7 0.4 1.1
Deferred disposal costs (1.0) – (1.0)

39.9 9.4 49.3

Net cash flow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 40.2 9.0 49.2
Cash disposed (1.0) (0.5) (1.5)

39.2 8.5 47.7
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Unaudited other information

(i) Reconciliation of Group statutory results to adjusted results

52 weeks ended 31 December 2006
Continuing
operations’ Non-

statutory recurring Disposed Share-based IAS 39 Adjusted
result items businesses payments Amortisation impact result

£m £m(b) £m(c) £m(d) £m(e) £m(f) £m

Revenue 1,053.0 – (20.9) – – – 1,032.1

Operating (loss)/profit (46.6) 248.0 (0.8) (4.2) 10.6 – 207.0

(Loss)/profit before tax (73.1) 248.0 (0.8) (4.2) 10.6 4.9 185.4

pence pence pence pence pence pence pence

Earnings per share

Basic (pence) (18.3)(a) 59.4 (0.2) (1.0) 2.5 1.2 43.6

52 weeks ended 1 January 2006
Continuing
operations’ Non-

statutory recurring Disposed Share-based IAS 39 Adjusted
result items businesses payments Amortisation impact result

£m £m(b) £m(c) £m(d) £m(e) £m(f) £m

Revenue 1,089.3 – (5.7) – – – 1,083.6

Operating profit 238.3 2.6 0.2 – 3.3 – 244.4

Profit before tax 202.4 2.6 0.2 – 3.3 6.6 215.1

pence pence pence pence pence pence pence

Earnings per share

Basic (pence) 48.7(a) 0.2 – – 0.8 1.6 51.3

(a)Earnings per share on continuing operations, excluding impact of discontinued operations (Magazines and Exhibitions division).
(b)Details of non-recurring items are set out in note 7 to the Group financial statements on page 61.
(c)Sale of hotgroup traditional recruitment consultancy business.
(d)Share-based payments charge for 2004 and 2005 has been adjusted to reflect non-market-based performance criteria.
(e)Amortisation of intangible assets.
(f)Impact of fair value, exchange rate, and amortisation adjustments on borrowings and associated financial instruments accounted for under IAS 39.
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(ii) Group five-year summary

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m £m

Income statement

Revenue 1,053 1,089 1,142 1,095 1,089

Operating profit before non-recurring items 200 241 255 213 191

Operating profit after non-recurring items

Continuing operations (46) 240 242 101 59

Acquisitions – (3) – – –

Share of results of associates 1 1 1 1 2

(45) 238 243 102 61

IAS 19 finance credit/(charge) 10 2 (3) (3) 6

IAS 39 impact (5) (7) – – –

Other finance costs (31) (31) (35) (38) (43)

(Loss)/profit before disposal of businesses and taxation (71) 202 205 61 24

Discontinued and sold businesses 42 5 2 – 2

(Loss)/profit before taxation (29) 207 207 61 26

Taxation 18 (60) (62) (47) (46)

(Loss)/profit for the period (11) 147 145 14 (20)

pence pence pence pence pence

Earnings per share before non-recurring items 42.5 50.5 51.2 41.1 37.1

Non-recurring items (46.5) (0.2) (2.0) (36.5) (43.7)

Earnings per share – basic (4.0) 50.3 49.2 4.6 (6.6)

Dividends per share 21.9 21.9 20.2 18.3 17.6

£m £m £m £m £m

Balance sheet

Intangible assets 1,418 1,689 1,585 1,622 1,725

Property, plant and equipment 421 387 388 401 390

Other assets and liabilities (675) (829) (813) (392) (309)

1,164 1,247 1,160 1,631 1,806

Less net borrowings (441) (493) (454) (605) (666)

Net assets 723 754 706 1,026 1,140

Total equity (723) (754) (706) (1,026) (1,140)

2002 and 2003 are stated in accordance with UK GAAP, and 2004, 2005 and 2006 are in accordance with IFRS.

2005 has been restated to reflect discontinued and disposed businesses arising in 2006.



Independent auditors’ report to the members of Trinity Mirror plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Trinity
Mirror plc for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006 which
comprise the balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 16.
These parent company financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements
of Trinity Mirror plc for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006
and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that
is described as being audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent
company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report if, in our
opinion, the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent company
financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as
described in the contents section and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited parent company financial statements. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent mis-statements or material inconsistencies with the parent
company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend
to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent
company financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the parent company financial statements are free
from material mis-statement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent
company financial statements.

Opinion
• The parent company financial statements give a true and fair view,

in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2006

• The parent company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985

• The information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the parent company financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
1 March 2007
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Holding company balance sheet
at 31 December 2006 (1 January 2006)

2006 2005
notes £m £m

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 4 – 0.2

Investments 5 2,049.7 2,071.9

2,049.7 2,072.1

Current assets

Debtors 6 1,307.5 1,489.1

Deferred tax asset 7 1.7 0.8

Cash at bank and in hand 0.1 1.4

1,309.3 1,491.3

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Borrowings 8 (0.8) (48.4)

Other creditors 9 (1,165.1) (1,351.8)

(1,165.9) (1,400.2)

Net current assets 143.4 91.1

Total assets less current liabilities 2,193.1 2,163.2

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Borrowings 8 (453.7) (448.6)

Pension scheme liabilities 10 (0.8) (2.5)

Net assets 1,738.6 1,712.1

Equity capital and reserves

Called-up share capital 11 29.3 29.3

Share premium account 12 1,120.0 1,118.9

Capital redemption reserve 0.8 0.8

Profit and loss account 13 588.5 563.1

Equity shareholders’ funds 1,738.6 1,712.1

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 1 March 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Sly Bailey Vijay Vaghela
Chief Executive Group Finance Director

Notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial statements.



1 Accounting policies

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as

required by the Companies Act 1988. As permitted by the Act, the

separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘UK GAAP’)

and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting

standards. The particular accounting policies adopted are described

below and have been applied on a consistent basis in the current and

preceding period. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption

contained in FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statements’ and has not produced a cash

flow statement. The Company has also taken advantage of the

exemption contained in FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and has not

reported transactions with fellow Group undertakings.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical

cost convention and in accordance with applicable accounting standards

of the UK Accounting Standards Board and pronouncements of the

Urgent Issues Task Force.

Pension scheme arrangements – defined benefit schemes

Under FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ pension schemes assets are

measured using fair values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using

a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a

high-quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the liability.

Each pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable)

or deficit is recognised in full and presented on the face of the balance

sheet. The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between

operating and financing items in the profit and loss account.

The full service cost of the pension provision is charged to operating profit.

Any difference between the expected return on assets and that actually

achieved is reflected in other recognised gains and losses in the period.

Income from shares in Group undertakings
These amounts represent dividends from investments. The dividends are

recognised in the period in which the cash is received.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full at the anticipated tax rates on timing
differences arising from the different treatment of items for accounting
and taxation purposes. No provision is made for deferred tax on
investment revaluations. A deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable
and therefore recognised only when it can be regarded as more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal
of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. The Company has
elected not to discount the deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis in order to write off the
tangible fixed assets over their expected useful lives. No depreciation
is provided on freehold land. The useful economic life of buildings
is 67 years. Provision is made if appropriate for any impairment in value.

Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for

any impairment.

Current asset investments

Listed current asset investments are stated at the lower of cost and

market value. Other current asset investments are stated at the lower of

cost and net realisable value.

Operating leases

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.

Foreign currency

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the

average rate applicable to the accounting period. Exchange differences

are taken through the profit and loss account.

Capital instruments

Capital instruments are accounted for in accordance with the principles

of FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and are

classified as equity share capital, non-equity share capital, minority

interest or debt as appropriate.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the principles

of FRS 26. Any premium or discount associated with the purchase of

interest rate and foreign exchange instruments is amortised over the life

of the transaction. Interest receipts and payments are accrued to match

the net income or cost with the related finance expense. No amounts are

recognised in respect of future periods. Gains and losses on early

termination or on repayment of borrowings, to the extent that they are not

replaced, are taken to the profit and loss account.

Employee share option schemes

Shares held within employee share option schemes are dealt with in the

balance sheet as a deduction from equity shareholders’ funds in

accordance with FRS 20 ‘Share-based payments’.

2 Profit for the year

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company

has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the year.

The Company reported a retained profit for the financial period of £27.0

million (2005: £416.8 million). The audit fees relating to the Company are

disclosed in note 5 to the Group financial statements.

Notes to the 2006 parent company financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006 (52 weeks ended 1 January 2006)
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3 Staff costs

The average number of persons, including directors, employed by the Company in the year was:
2006 2005

Administration 8 8

All employees are employed in the United Kingdom.

2006 2005
£m £m

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments, incurred during the period were:

Wages and salaries 3.6 2.8

Social security costs 0.4 0.4

Share-based payments 0.1 1.3

Pension costs 0.5 0.4

4.6 4.9

Disclosure of individual directors’ remuneration, share options, long-term incentives schemes, pension contributions and pension entitlements

required by the Companies Act 1985 and those specified for audit by the Financial Services Authority are shown in the tables in the Remuneration

Report on pages 40 to 46.

In 2005 the Company paid £26.6 million deficit pension contributions on behalf of other Group undertakings.

4 Tangible fixed assets
Buildings

£m

At cost

At 1 January 2006 0.4

Disposals (0.4)

At 31 December 2006 –

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2006 0.2

Disposals (0.2)

At 31 December 2006 –

Net book value

At 1 January 2006 0.2

At 31 December 2006 –

5 Investments
Shares in Group Other

undertakings investments Total
£m £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 2006 2,077.0 0.9 2,077.9

Disposals (20.3) – (20.3)

Share-based payments credit in subsidiary undertakings (1.9) – (1.9)

At 31 December 2006 2,054.8 0.9 2,055.7

Provisions for impairment

At 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 5.1 0.9 6.0

Net book value

At 1 January 2006 2,071.9 – 2,071.9

At 31 December 2006 2,049.7 – 2,049.7

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group are set out in note 15. Disposals relate to the disposal of the Magazines and Exhibitions division.



6 Debtors
2006 2005

£m £m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 1,306.5 1,488.4
Other debtors 1.0 0.7

1,307.5 1,489.1

Of the amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings £331.6 million (2005: £311.0 million) is due after one year.

7 Deferred taxation
2006 2005

£m £m

Asset at beginning of period 0.8 –
Current period tax credit 0.9 0.8
Balance at end of year 1.7 0.8

Amounts recognised in the accounts are as follows:
Share-based payments (0.6) –
Other short-term timing differences 2.3 0.8

1.7 0.8

8 Borrowings
2006 2005

2006 Due after 2005 Due after
Due within more than Due within more than

one year one year one year one year
£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts 0.8 – 8.4 –

Syndicated unsecured bank loan – – 40.0 –

Loan notes – 453.7 – 448.6

0.8 453.7 48.4 448.6

Loan notes
2006 2005

£m £m

US$350 million unsecured loan notes 180.4 206.6
US$252 million unsecured loan notes 133.9 153.4
£22 million unsecured loan notes 22.0 22.0
£10 million unsecured loan notes 10.0 10.0
Derivative financial instruments 107.4 56.6

453.7 448.6

Syndicated unsecured bank loan

No actual drawing (2005: £40.0 million) was outstanding under the bank facility, which is committed until 20 June 2009.

US$350 million and £22 million unsecured loan notes
On 24 October 2001 the Group issued unsecured loan notes totalling US$350 million and £22 million through a private placing in the United States
and the UK respectively. The placing consisted of five series with different interest rates and maturities as follows:

US$80 million 6.6% fixed rate Series A notes due 24 October 2008
US$190 million 7.04% fixed rate Series B notes due 24 October 2011
US$80 million 7.19% fixed rate Series C notes due 24 October 2013
£16 million 7.3% fixed rate Series D notes due 24 October 2011
£6 million floating rate Series E notes due 24 October 2008.
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8 Borrowings (continued)

All the notes are repayable in full on maturity. Both the interest and capital repayments under US$-denominated notes have been swapped

into sterling through the use of cross-currency interest rates swaps. At 31 December 2006, £202.4 million (2005: £228.6 million) (net of costs)

remains outstanding under these loan notes. The costs of the issue are being written off over the term of the notes.

US$252 million and £10 million unsecured loan notes

On 20 June 2002, the Group issued unsecured loan notes totalling $252 million and £10 million through a private placing in the United States

and the UK respectively. The placing consisted of four series with different interest rates and maturities as follows:

US$102 million 7.17% Series A notes due 20 June 2012

US$50 million 7.27% Series B notes due 20 June 2014

US$100 million 7.42% Series C notes due 20 June 2017

£10 million 7.14% Series D notes due 20 June 2014.

All the loan notes are repayable in full on maturity. Both interest and capital payable under the US$-denominated loan notes have been swapped

into sterling through the use of cross-currency swaps. At 31 December 2006, £143.9 million (2005: £163.4 million) (net of costs) remains

outstanding under these loan notes. The costs of the issue are being written off over the term of the notes.

Derivative financial instruments

The details of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are the same as those of the Group, and are disclosed in note 28 in the Notes

to the Group financial statements in this report.

9 Other creditors
2006 2005

£m £m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 1,152.4 1,341.1

Corporate taxation 1.2 1.2

Other creditors 3.3 3.5

Accruals and deferred income 8.2 6.0

1,165.1 1,351.8

10 Pension scheme liabilities

The Company contributes to a number of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes and is the sponsoring company for the Trinity Mirror plc

Retirement Plan (the ‘Scheme’). As the Group’s pension schemes operate for employees of a number of Trinity Mirror companies, the Company

is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets/liabilities of the remaining schemes. Under FRS 17 the actual cost of providing pensions

to the Company is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred during the year.

The pension cost charged to the Company’s profit and loss account in the period was £0.2 million (2005: £0.2 million).

Based on actuarial advice, the financial assumptions used in calculating the Scheme’s liabilities under FRS 17 are:

Assumptions Assumptions Assumptions Assumptions Assumptions
as at as at as at as at as at

31 December 2006 1 January 2006 2 January 2005 28 December 2003 29 December 2002
% % % % %

Discount rate 5.10 4.75 5.30 5.40 5.60

Inflation rate 3.00 2.80 2.75 2.75 2.30

Pension increases:

Pre-6 April 1997 pensions 3.00 2.80 2.75 2.75 2.30

Post-6 April 1997 pensions 3.00 2.80 2.75 2.75 2.30

Salary progression 4.00 4.10 4.00 4.30 4.10



10 Pension scheme liabilities (continued)

The market value of assets in the Scheme and the expected rates of return on each class of assets are:

Expected Expected Expected Expected Expected
rate of Market rate of Market rate of Market rate of Market rate of Market

return at value at return at value at return at value at return at value at return at value at
31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2006 1 Jan 2006 1 Jan 2006 2 Jan 2005 2 Jan 2005 28 Dec 2003 28 Dec 2003 29 Dec 2002 29 Dec 2002

% £m % £m % £m % £m % £m

UK equities 8.00 4.2 8.25 3.6 8.50 2.9 8.50 2.9 8.40 2.8

US equities 8.00 – 8.25 – 8.50 – 8.50 – 8.40 0.3

Other overseas equities 8.00 1.6 8.25 1.6 8.50 1.3 8.50 1.2 8.70 0.8

Property 6.00 – 5.90 – 6.20 – 6.40 – 6.50 0.1

Corporate bonds 5.10 0.5 4.75 0.5 5.30 0.4 5.30 0.4 5.60 –

Fixed-interest gilts 4.50 2.4 4.10 1.9 4.50 – 4.80 – 4.50 0.9

Index-linked gilts 4.40 3.5 4.00 3.4 4.50 3.3 4.80 3.3 4.50 –

Cash 4.00 1.4 3.80 0.4 3.80 1.1 4.30 0.7 4.30 1.6

13.6 11.4 9.0 8.5 6.5

The overall net deficit between the assets of the Company’s defined benefit pension scheme and the actuarial liabilities of the Scheme

was as follows:
Total as at Total as at Total as at Total as at Total as at

31 Dec 1 Jan 2 Jan 28 Dec 29 Dec
2006 2006 2005 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of the Scheme’s assets 13.6 11.4 9.0 8.5 6.5

Actuarial value of the Scheme’s liabilities (14.7) (15.0) (13.5) (12.4) (10.6)

Net deficit (1.1) (3.6) (4.5) (3.9) (4.1)

Deferred tax 0.3 1.1 1.4 1.2 1.2

Net liabilities (0.8) (2.5) (3.1) (2.7) (2.9)

The movement in the deficit during the year is analysed below:
52 weeks to 52 weeks to 53 weeks to 52 weeks to

31 Dec 1 Jan 2 Jan 28 Dec
2006 2006 2005 2003

£m £m £m £m

Opening deficit in the scheme (3.6) (4.5) (3.9) (4.1)

Current service cost (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.4)

Past service cost – – (0.1) –

Contributions 1.9 1.5 1.7 1.5

Finance charge – (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Actuarial gains/(losses) 0.8 (0.3) (1.9) (0.8)

Closing deficit on the pension scheme (1.1) (3.6) (4.5) (3.9)

The profit and loss reserve is analysed below:
As at As at As at As at As at

31 Dec 1 Jan 2 Jan 28 Dec 29 Dec
2006 2006 2005 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m £m

Profit and loss reserve excluding pension reserve 591.2 565.6 205.1 243.2 229.3

Pension reserve (0.8) (2.5) (3.1) (2.7) (2.9)

Profit and loss reserve 590.4 563.1 202.0 240.5 226.4
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11 Called-up share capital

The details of the Company’s share capital are the same as those of the Group, and are disclosed in note 31 in the Notes to the Group financial

statements in this report. Dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the Notes to the Group financial statements in this report.

12 Share premium account

The details of the Company’s share premium account are the same as those of the Group, and are disclosed in note 32 in the Notes to the Group

financial statements in this report.

13 Other reserves
Capital

redemption Profit and
reserve loss account

£m £m

At 1 January 2006 (0.8) 563.1

Transfer of retained profit for the period – 27.0

Other net recognised gains and losses in the period – –

Share-based payments debit – (1.6)

At 31 December 2006 (0.8) 588.5

The capital redemption reserve was created when the Company embarked on the share buy-back programme in 2005 and represents the nominal

value of the shares purchased and subsequently cancelled under the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.

14 Contingent liabilities

The Company has undertaken to provide financial support as required by, and has guaranteed the borrowings of, a number of its subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2006 this amounted to £19.2 million (1 January 2006: £28.8 million).



15 Principal subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2006 are as follows:
Portion of Ordinary

Shares held
Name of entity Principal activity %

Subsidiaries

Gazette Media Company Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror North West & North Wales Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror Cheshire Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror Merseyside Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror North Wales Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror Huddersfield Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

AMRA Limited National advertising sales house 100.00

MGN Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Midland Newspapers Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Mirror Group Limited Holding company 100.00*

Newcastle Chronicle and Journal Limited Newspaper publishing and commercial contract printers 100.00

Raceform Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Scottish Daily Record and Sunday Mail Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Scottish and Universal Newspapers Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Blantyre) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Cardiff) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Liverpool) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Midlands) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Newcastle) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Oldham) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Saltire) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Teeside) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Printing (Watford) Limited Contract printers 100.00

Trinity Mirror Southern Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

Trinity Mirror Regional plc Holding company 100.00*

Western Mail & Echo Limited Newspaper publishing 100.00

The Hotgroup Limited (formerly The Hotgroup plc) Online recruitment 100.00

Just London Jobs Limited (formerly Paldonsay Limited) Online recruitment 100.00

Financial Jobs Online Limited Online recruitment 100.00

Smart Media Services Limited Online property 100.00

Email4Property Limited Online property 100.00

All subsidiary companies are incorporated and operating in the United Kingdom.

Associated undertakings

The Press Association Limited News agency 21.54

*Owned directly by the Company.

16 Events after the balance sheet date

A proposed final dividend of £45.4 million for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2006, which is subject to approval by shareholders at the

Annual General Meeting, has not been reflected as a liability in these accounts.
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Investor relations

Our aim is to communicate with the financial community on a regular
and ongoing basis to support our stakeholders in their investment
decision process. While the Investor Relations programme is driven
by statutory reporting requirements, it also contains a strong
element of additional communication in the form of meetings
and presentations.

Key activities
In addition to standard regulatory reporting, a key theme in our
communications with the financial market in 2006 was the review of
our business. We announced the beginning of the review process in
August and in December we came back to the market with news on
the outcome. We also announced the disposal of two businesses
over the year: the Magazines and Exhibitions division and the hotgroup
traditional recruitment consultancy.

In 2006, the Company made the following announcements:

14 Dec Pre-Close Trading Update and Outcome of the Business
Review

11 Aug Sale of hotgroup recruitment consultancy division
3 Aug Interim Results
1 Aug Appointment of Laura Wade-Gery as non-executive

director
14 Jul Agreement over sale of Magazines and Exhibitions division
29 Jun Pre-Close Trading Update
4 May AGM Statement
28 Apr Appointment of Sir Ian Gibson as Chairman
2 Mar 2005 Preliminary Results
23 Jan Sir Victor Blank retires as Chairman.

In 2006 the focus of our Investor Relations efforts continued to be on
institutional investors and analysts. This year we maintained a
proactive targeting programme, reaching out to new investors in the
UK, Continental Europe and the US. In addition to these marketing
efforts, we continued to respond to ad hoc queries and meeting
requests from analysts and investors.

We held meetings with just over 100 institutional investors during
the year, nearly half of whom where non-holders. The largest
concentration of meetings was among UK investors, followed by the
US and Continental Europe.

Management continued to maintain regular dialogue with the ten
largest shareholders through meetings at least twice a year.

Key dates in 2007
1 Mar 2006 Preliminary Results
2 May Ex-dividend date
4 May Record date
10 May AGM
8 Jun Payment of Final Dividend
28 Jun Pre-Close Trading Update
2 Aug Interim Results
3 Oct Ex-dividend date
5 Oct Record date
30 Oct Payment of Interim Dividend
13 Dec Pre-Close Trading Update.

Dividend policy
Our dividend policy is to increase dividend progressively while
maintaining a dividend cover (underlying earnings per share/dividend
per share) of at least 2x if earnings are increasing.

Online share dealing
Trinity Mirror provides an internet-based service called Shareview
through Lloyds TSB Registrars. The service allows current shareholders
to sign up for e-communication and receive shareholder mailings
electronically, buy and sell shares online using Shareview Dealing and
send their voting instruction electronically if they have already registered
for Shareview or have received a voting form with an electronic reference.

For more information on the service, please see
www.trinitymirror.com/ir/services/dealing/

Key contacts
Sly Bailey, Chief Executive
Vijay Vaghela, Group Finance Director
Paul Vickers, Secretary and Group Legal Director
Nick Fullagar, Director of Corporate Communications
Alexandra Sufit, Investor Relations Manager
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